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Chairman'’s Message
FEARR

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), | hereby present the
annual results of China Best Group Holding Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2024
(the “Financial Year").

Looking back to the Financial Year, the momentum of economic
development in the Group’s major operating regions (mainland China
and Hong Kong) was not in line with expectations. Although continuous
adjustment and optimization was made to real estate related policies
in mainland China, the overall market had not yet emerged an exciting
and dynamic scene. The Group's real estate related services businesses
operating in mainland China mainly depend on the prosperity of the real
estate market and the robustness of the real estate sector. Under such a
sluggish business condition, it was difficult to expand related businesses.
The existing businesses were under downward pressure and the trading
business pending restructuring failed to record revenue, resulting in
a significant drop in the Group's revenue for the Financial Year as
compared with that of last year. A considerable loss was also recorded
in the overall performance of the Group. In addition, the Group had
completed a fund raising activity by way of rights issue during the
year to enhance its capital and lay the foundation for future business
development.

Looking ahead, it is expected that there will be still negative and
uncertain factors in the market. In terms of operation, the Group
will continue to face a number of difficulties and challenges, and
therefore will remain cautious about its management. The Group will
strive to seek a steady development of the real estate related services
businesses, which is the essential part of our principal businesses, and
try to obtain more projects to support it. The Group will also follow the
development direction to further integrate its other businesses. As for
expanding new businesses, with experience and layout of the big data
operations and digital-related businesses accumulated in past few years,
the Group intends to strengthen its participation and explore different
business opportunities with potential competent partners in the
industry, including but not limited to participating in the construction,
transformation, maintenance and operation of the infrastructure and
facilities related to big data and artificial intelligence. The strategy of
strengthening customer base, diversifying product and service portfolio
and intensifying cost control will also be continuously implemented. It is
hoped that all these will bring positive effect to the performance of the
Group.
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Last but not least, on behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my
heartfelt thanks to the management, all our employees and partners
for their contributions to the development of the Group as well as to
shareholders for their continued support to the Company. With the
support and contributions from all parties, the Group will continue to
strive for the best to achieve a better performance and create a greater
value for our shareholders!

Wang Yinggian
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2024
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Management Discussion And Analysis
BiEEstwmk o

Year ended 31 March
BE-HA=1+—HILEE

2024 2023
bt Jol 11 B 5 ===
HKS$'M HK$'M
BEAT BEET
Financial Results Highlight MBEERHE
Revenue EERE 215.0 504.7
Total operating costs 18 A 48 (178.6) (401.1)
Total expenses x i 4EzE (152.6) (159.8)
Net loss before tax and non-controlling kil Bf%ﬁlﬁ&?ﬂ%ﬁﬂ Al 2 B518 358 (128.4) (316.1)
interests
Loss for the year attributable to owners of Z~ATEA AEEEREE (131.1) (333.8)
the Company
As at 31 March
W=B=+—H
2024 2023
—ENE —ET=fF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEAET BEET
Extract of Financial Position B 5K O B 8%
Total assets BEEME 1,722.9 1,894.2
Total liabilities B a4 (964.9) (1,003.8)
Net current assets mL@JE%@@ 116.5 138.2
Bank balances and cash-general accounts $R{T4EERRIRE ——MRERE 34.2 50.1
Net assets BEFE 758.1 890.4
OVERVIEW B

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group's revenue was
approximately HK$215.0 million, representing a decrease of 57.4% as
compared with approximately HK$504.7 million last year. The significant
decrease in the Group's revenue for the year was mainly attributable
to (i) suspension of trading business resulted from client’s issues and
(i) sluggishness in real estate related businesses, in particular building
construction contracting business, under the prevailing real estate
market conditions in the PRC. The net loss for the year ended 31
March 2024 attributable to owners of the Company was approximately
HK$131.1 million as compared with approximately HK$333.8 million
last year, representing a decrease of approximately 60.7%. Such
decrease was mainly attributable to, among other things, (i) decrease
in impairment loss on the Group's assets by approximately HK$260.6
million in aggregate, and (ii) decrease in staff costs by approximately
HK$18.7 million.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
Building Construction Contracting Business

The Group acquired a company, which is principally engaged in building
construction contracting on project basis in the PRC, in May 2020.
For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group provided building
construction contracting services for residential and commercial
construction projects mainly located in Xi‘an, Shaanxi Province,
Zhangjiakou, Hebei Province and Tianjin City with total construction
areas of approximately 600,000 square meters. The following table sets
forth the movement of backlog of the construction projects during the
years:

EXE R

5 R A #5 [0l BR
BFREREER

TEBR _ S _ZERARE—RBRTER
TENEREEEEETETFEEREN
NB -BE_ZT_ME=ZRA=+—HILE
B rAERATEMNNRAERELS A
BRROMERETNETREERRE
BERESBFERAERY  SAEEEEY
600,000 F K FREINEZEFERNBEFE
HIFEMNEFHIER

Year ended 31 March
BE=H=1+T—HLEE

2024 2023

—EZmE TEI=F

HK$'M HK$'M

BEAET BBAT

Opening value of backlog BEEENRTEE 999.7 1,221.9

Value of new projects MIBEBENERE = 22.9

Value decreased due to revising of projects EMENIE R £ 28R/ HEE

amount (78.9) -
Value recognised based on the percentage FRENR T T LLAIERNEE

of completion during the year (110.9) (245.1)

Closing value of backlog BEEENAREE 809.9 999.7

Note: The abovementioned value is inclusive of the PRC value added tax of 9%.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the revenue of the Group’s building
construction contracting business amounted to approximately HK$102.7
million (2023: approximately HK$230.1 million) and the gross profit of
approximately HK$8.9 million (2023: approximately HK$38.3 million)
was made. The Group recorded a loss of approximately HK$15.4 million
(2023: profit of approximately HK$14.8 million) in this segment, which
was mainly resulted from one-off compensation of approximately
HK$13.7 million for repair and rectification costs in relation to a
construction project in Xiangshan, Ningbo.

MisE: EREEESI%TEEER-

BHE_ZT_WNE=ZB=+—HLEEE"
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#102,700,0008 T (ZE =% 4§
230,100,000 7T) K ZE 4 EF498,900,000
BT (CE =4 438,300,000 7T) °
AEE RIS EBEE1FE5184915,400,00078 7T
(ZE =4 % HF4914,800,0008 7T) »
TERREEFR LIREEEEBNELE
K ¥ P0 E F— R4 1E4713,700,0008 7z ©
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Management Discussion And Analysis
BiEEstwmk o

Project Management Business

The Group has commenced to provide project management services
in the PRC since July 2020. According to the project management
contracts, the Group’s project management team is principally engaged
in management of major aspects of a construction project on yearly
basis, such as, project engineering, cost control, administration and
human resources. During the year, two of its customers renewed
their respective project management contracts with the Group with
aggregated contract sums of approximately HK$11.4 million.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the revenue of the Group’s
project management business amounted to approximately HK$10.8
million (2023: approximately HK$31.4 million) and the gross profit
of approximately HK$7.4 million was recorded (2023: approximately
HK$26.5 million). Segment loss of approximately HK$29.3 million was
incurred in this segment (2023: approximately HK$27.0 million).

Customised Technical Support Business

After the Group acquired a group of companies in August 2021 which
are principally engaged in the provision of financial information,
solutions and data analytical services to customers in finance and
property related field in the PRC, the Group combined such newly
acquired business with its building architecture and interior design
business so as to provide customised technical support services
to customers in the PRC. During the year, given challenges and
uncertainties in the PRC real estate market, it is difficult for the Group
to solicit more customers for its building architecture and interior design
business whereas the operating team was mainly performing services
under existing contracts. In respect of the data analytical services, the
Group launched products of system and platform to certain technology
companies and engineering companies.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the revenue of the Group's
customised technical support business amounted to approximately
HK$17.6 million (2023: approximately HK$34.6 million) and the
gross profit of approximately HK$16.1 million was recorded (2023:
approximately HK$29.5 million). Segment profit of approximately
HK$6.5 million was achieved (2023: approximately HK$13.3 million).

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2023/24
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Management Discussion And Analysis

Property Brokerage Business

The Group has been engaged in provision of residential and commercial
property brokerage and consultancy services in the PRC since June
2019. Currently, the major places of business activities are in Xi'an,
Shaanxi Province of the PRC. During the year, real estate transactions
and deals slowed dramatically (i) as buyers and sellers delayed decisions
due to greater uncertainty arising from the lower-than-expected post-
COVID economic recovery and the string of defaults by major property
developers; and (ii) in light of weakening market sentiment, some of
target property developers postponed their implementation plans. For
the year ended 31 March 2024, no revenue of the Group’'s property
brokerage business was generated (2023: approximately HK$0.8
million). Corresponding loss of approximately HK$3.8 million was
incurred in this segment (2023: approximately HK$6.4 million).

Geothermal Energy Business

The Group acquired a group of companies, which are principally
engaged in developing and utilising geothermal energy in provision of
heating and cooling supply to various buildings located in residential
areas in the PRC, in March 2020. Currently, the major places of business
activities are in Xi'an, Shaanxi Province and Henan Province of the
PRC with 19 drilling platforms, 7 heat exchange construction sites and
total pipeline network area of approximately 1.9 million square meters
covering 14 districts. The typical heating supply season in the PRC
is from November of a year to March of the next year. During non-
heating supply period of the year, the Group provides cooling supply by
geothermal energy to cope with special needs from certain districts.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the revenue of the Group's
geothermal energy business amounted to approximately HK$16.4
million (2023: approximately HK$18.7 million) and the gross profit was
approximately HK$3.3 million (2023: approximately HK$5.4 million).
Corresponding segment loss of approximately HK$5.8 million was
incurred in this segment (2023: approximately HK$3.0 million).

Centralised Heating Business

The Group started the centralised heating business after becoming the
reorganisation investor of a company, which is principally engaged in
the business of providing the heat and steam supply services in the
licensed area of Yuncheng, Shanxi through centralised pipe networks,
in September 2020. The Group was further granted an exclusive
license for the provision of centralised heating service in Yuncheng City
for 30 years from 1 January 2021. The licensed area of Yuncheng is
approximately 63.5 million square meters out of which approximately
2.4 million square meters has been laid down the Group’s centralized
pipe networks. The typical heating supply season in the PRC is from
November of a year to March of the next year. Throughout the year,
the Group provides industrial steam service to various manufacturing
factories located at the licensed area.
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Management Discussion And Analysis
BiEEstwmk o

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the revenue of the Group's
centralised heating business amounted to approximately HK$51.9
million (2023: approximately HK$60.4 million) and the gross loss of
approximately HK$12.2 million (2023: approximately HK$13.6 million)
was incurred. The Group recorded a loss of approximately HK$19.7
million (2023: approximately HK$22.3 million) in this segment.

Property Investment Business

The Group acquired a group of companies in January 2019 which mainly
hold the investment properties in the PRC for rental income and capital
appreciation. For the year ended 31 March 2024, the rental income
generated from such investment properties amounted to approximately
HK$6.3 million (2023: approximately HK$6.6 million). Corresponding
profit of approximately HK$0.2 million (2023: approximately HK$7.3
million), after deduction of unrealised fair value loss of approximately
HK$4.9 million on the Group’s investment properties with reference to
the valuation result conducted by an independent professional valuer,
was made in this segment. As at 31 March 2024, the fair value of
the investment properties was approximately HK$110.1 million (2023:
approximately HK$121.4 million).

Trading Business

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 23 March 2023,
the Group's two major trading customers deregistered which caused
severe difficulties in carrying on the Group’s trading business. During
the year, the Group was reviewing the internal control and risk
management in respect of the trading business, formulating possible
business model and discussing with potential business partners but has
not yet reactivated the relevant business. As such, no revenue of the
Group's trading business was generated (2023: approximately HK$111.5
million) for the year ended 31 March 2024. The Group recorded a loss
of approximately HK$15.3 million in this segment (2023: approximately
HK$192.2 million).

Money Lending Business

The Group holds a money lenders licence in Hong Kong pursuant
to the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) and provides loan facilities to prospective customers including
enterprises and individuals. The Group earns interest income from the
provision of such loan facilities. The money lending customers are mainly
referrals from the business partners/existing clients of the Group and
business contacts of the Group’s senior management, who are high net
worth individuals or companies engaged in various industries including
investment fund, trader of hi-tech equipment, investor of tourism-
related activities, etc. This segment has begun to generate returns to the
Group since April 2016. For the year ended 31 March 2024, the revenue
of the Group’s money lending business amounted to approximately
HK$7.5 million (2023: approximately HK$7.9 million). Corresponding
segment loss of approximately HK$2.5 million was incurred (2023:
approximately HK$55.4 million).
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Management Discussion And Analysis

Securities and Futures Brokerage Business

The Group has been providing brokerage services for securities and
futures traded on exchanges in Hong Kong and major overseas
countries since August 2017. For the year ended 31 March 2024,
the revenue of the Group's securities and futures brokerage business
amounted to approximately HK$0.05 million (2023: approximately
HK$0.3 million). Due to the gradual saturation of the market for
SFC licensed corporations in the financial services industry and the
intensifying competition with the other market players, the operating
results of the regulated financial services business of the Group was
lower than those expected at the time when the licensed corporations
were acquired by the Group in August 2017. The Group is negotiating
with an independent third party for the potential disposal of securities
and futures brokerage business so as to reallocate and concentrate
resources to other potential business. With reference to the intended
consideration, an impairment loss on goodwill of approximately
HK$2.4 million was recognised in the year ended 31 March 2024.
Corresponding segment loss of approximately HK$6.7 million was
incurred (2023: approximately HK$16.8 million).

Freight Forwarding Business

The Group entered into a share transfer agreement in January 2024
to dispose of its freight forwarding business in Singapore. Upon
completion of the aforesaid disposal, the Group is no longer engaged
in the freight forwarding business. For the year ended 31 March 2024,
the revenue of the Group’s freight forwarding business amounted to
approximately HK$1.6 million (2023: approximately HK$1.8 million) and
the gross profit was approximately HK$0.6 million (2023: approximately
HK$0.6 million). Segment loss of approximately HK$0.6 million,
including the loss on disposal of approximately HK$0.5 million, was
incurred up to the completion of disposal (2023: approximately HK$0.3
million).

Finance Leasing Business

The Group has no plan to develop new business cooperation in this
segment. During the year, the Group mainly endeavoured to follow up
with existing clients for debts collection. Accordingly, no revenue of the
Group’s finance leasing business was generated for the year ended 31
March 2024 (2023: approximately HK$0.5 million). The segment loss
of approximately HK$1.1 million was incurred (2023: approximately
HK$0.1 million).
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OUTLOOK

Looking forward, uncertainties and challenges continue in the markets
in which the Group operates. Geopolitical concerns persist in the PRC
and Hong Kong, resulting in difficult economic growth. A relatively
high interest rate environment is also expected to maintain in the
background. The property sector of mainland China is widely considered
still subject to various issues even though the government has been
rolling out more proactive and effective policies to stimulate the
economy and the real estate industry. To counter these headwinds, the
Group will consolidate and stabilize existing real estate related services
businesses while it is also seeking new structural adjustments and new
development opportunities.

As for developing its real estate related services businesses, the Group
is seeking opportunities for certain construction projects with a total
estimated construction areas of approximately 750,000 square meters
and situated in various districts of the PRC, including Nanjing, Xi'an and
Tianjin. If the construction contracts of these potential projects could
be materialized, the Group would negotiate with property developers to
extend the service scope to its other real estate related services.

By virtue of its development of big data and digital-related businesses
in past few years, the Group keeps exploring possible cooperation
with business partners in fields of big data and artificial intelligence.
Currently, it intends to strive for new income streams from construction,
transformation, maintenance and operating relevant infrastructure and
facilities.

Meanwhile, the Group will remain committed to reviewing and
considering its existing resources, including the experience, expertise
and social network of the directors and management of the Company,
with the aim of further expanding the current principal businesses and
exploring possible inter-segment development and collaboration. The
Group will endeavour to strengthen its client base and diversify its
products and services mix among different business segments.

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2023/24
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LIQUIDITY AND CASHFLOW RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2024, the equity and net current assets of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$758.1 million (2023: approximately
HK$890.4 million) and HK$116.5 million (2023: approximately
HK$138.2 million) respectively. On the same date, the Group had
bank balances and cash of approximately HK$34.2 million (2023:
approximately HK$50.1 million) and the current ratio was 1.12 (2023:
1.14). As at 31 March 2024, the Group had (i) secured trust loans of
approximately HK$216.4 million (2023: approximately HK$228.5 million)
bearing fixed interest rate at 12% per annum which have not been
repaid upon maturity and are subject to negotiation with the lender
for extension of loan period, (ii) secured bank loans of approximately
HK$99.5 million (2023: approximately HK$93.7 million) bearing fixed
interest rates ranged from 3.65% to 5.00% per annum and to be repaid
from September 2024 to January 2025, (iii) unsecured short-term loan
from an independent lender of approximately HK$3.2 million (2023:
approximately HK$3.4 million) bearing fixed interest rate at 6% per
annum and to be repaid on demand, (iv) interest-free and unsecured
advance payments from an independent third party and subcontractors
of approximately HK$11.4 million (2023: approximately HK$0.3
million) and HK$92.9 million (2023: approximately HK$102.4 million)
respectively to be repaid on demand, and (v) interest-free and secured
short-term loan from an independent third party of approximately
HK$2.6 million (2023: approximately HK$3.1 million) to be repaid on
demand.

As at 31 March 2024, the gearing ratio of the Group was approximately
0.25 (2023: approximately 0.23). The gearing ratio is measured on
the basis of the total amount of interest bearing and interest free
borrowings/advance payments over the amount of total assets. As
at 31 March 2024, the total amount of interest bearing and interest
free borrowings/advance payments and the amount of total asset
of the Group amounted to approximately HK$426.0 million (2023:
approximately HK$431.4 million) and approximately HK$1,722.9 million
(2023: approximately HK$1,894.2 million) respectively.

The Group has readily available financial resources for both general
working capital purposes and existing business operation.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, none of the Group’s securities was
pledged to brokers to secure the margin loan. As at 31 March 2024,
bank deposit of RMB15.0 million (equivalent to approximately HK$16.2
million) and investment properties of RMB101.8 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$110.1 million) held by the Group were pledged to
banks to secure the bank loans borrowed to the Group (2023: certain
flats of the investment properties held by the Group were pledged to
banks to secure the bank loans borrowed by the Group).

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group incurred
approximately HK$7.6 million (2023: approximately HK$45.1 million) as
capital expenditure mainly in respect of plant and equipment situated in
the PRC.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group had no material capital
commitment.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

As at 31 March 2024, the Group held financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income of approximately HK$5.3 million
(2023: approximately HK$8.8 million) which represented unlisted
equity securities in Hong Kong. No financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss in relation to equity securities was held as at 31 March
2024 (2023: nil). During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
recorded a fair value loss of approximately HK$3.5 million on securities
investments that are not held for trading in other comprehensive income
(2023: fair value gain of approximately HK$0.1 million).

The Board acknowledges that the performance of the equities may be
affected by the degree of volatility in the stock market and susceptible
to other external factors that may affect their values. Accordingly, in
order to mitigate possible financial risks related to the equities, the
Board will continue to closely monitor the performance of its investment
portfolio (if any) from time to time.

As at 31 March 2024, the Company did not hold any significant

investments in an investee company with a value of 5% or more of the
Company’s total assets.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

(i)

(ii)

On 4 September 2023, Guohua Jiaye (Beijing) Enterprise
Management Co., Ltd.* (BZEEZE tR) CxEEERAT)
("Guohua lJiaye”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a termination agreement with the other shareholder
of Tiandi Youdamei (Beijing) Cultural Toursim Company Limited*
(KB ARE (bR XERBRAE) (“Tiandi Youdamei”), an
independent third party, to terminate the equity transfer and
capital injection cooperation agreement regarding the equity
investment in Tiandi Youdamei (the “Tiandi Youdamei Cooperation
Agreement”). Pursuant to the termination agreement, Guohua
Jiaye agreed to transfer 25% equity interest held in Tiandi
Youdamei to the other shareholder, and the other shareholder
agreed to (i) refund RMBO.5 million to Guohua lJiaye and (ii)
release Guohua Jiaye from obligations under the Tiandi Youdamei
Cooperation Agreement, including payment of investment sum of
RMB20 million. The termination became effective on 4 September
2023 and Tiandi Youdamei has ceased to be an associate of the
Group since then.

On 21 December 2023, China Best Big Data Service Group Limited,
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a share
transfer agreement with an independent third party to acquire
33% of the issued share capital of Treasure Cart Holdings Limited
(“Treasure Cart”) at a consideration of HK$70 million. The major
subsidiary of Treasure Cart is principally engaged in provision of
data analytical services and solutions to customers in the PRC.
Before the acquisition, Treasure Cart and its subsidiaries (“Treasure
Cart Group”) are non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company
with 67% equity interest held. After the completion of the
acquisition, the Group held 100% equity interest in Treasure Cart
and Treasure Cart Group has become wholly owned subsidiaries
of the Company since then. Further details are set out in the
Company's announcement dated 21 December 2023.

Save as disclosed above, there was no material acquisition or disposal
(including the acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and associated
companies) for the year ended 31 March 2024.
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FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES

During the year, the Company implemented a rights issue (the “Rights
Issue”) on the basis of two (2) rights share (the “Rights Share(s)”) for
every five (5) existing shares held on 24 August 2023 at the subscription
price of HK$0.16 per Rights Share. The closing price per share of the
Company was HK$0.255 on 26 July 2023, i.e. the last trading day. The
net price (after deduction of transaction and issue costs attributable
to the Rights Issue) per Rights Share is approximately HK$0.155. The
Rights Issue was conducted for strengthening the Group's capital base
and financial position. In particular, its proceeds would be utilised in
developing existing businesses, financing mergers and acquisitions, and
enhancing general working capital. The Rights Issue was completed on
21 September 2023 with 566,216,052 Rights Shares allotted and issued
and the net proceeds were approximately HK$88.2 million. Details of
the Rights Issue were set out in the prospectus of the Company dated
25 August 2023 and the announcement of the Company dated 20
September 2023. As at 31 March 2024, the Group has utilised the
net proceeds from the Rights Issue of approximately HK$83.7 million.
Details of the intended and actual use of proceeds were as follows:

Intended use of proceeds

(a) HK$15 million would be used for the settlement of unpaid
balance of the consideration for the acquisition of 42% of the
issued shares of Treasure Cart;

15,000,000 i A B EW B Treasure Cart 42% B 17K %
RABRYRTEREE ;

(b) HK$20 million would be used for the operation of the existing
businesses of the Group, in particular implementing (i) supply-
chain enhancement measures and (ii) renovation and upgrading
plans of facilities and infrastructure for the Group’s centralised
heating business and geothermal energy business;

20,000,000 TR AN KEAERRBE XS KRR AER
B = R 4 20 2E 755 e st 2R B 22 75 8 i) L FE SR 4B 16 1 e (i) 3% T
MER S MBI LA RS E
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31 March 2024
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HK$15 million was utilised as intended;
15,000,000t E3Zst8I8 A ;

HK$20 million was utilised as intended;

20,000,000 s E %5 EIEE ;
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Intended use of proceeds

(0) HK$35 million would be used for the future strategic
investments in relation to data analytical service business to
facilitate the new retailing business, including but not limited
to further investment in subsidiaries of the Company and/or
acquisition of other new targets in such fields;

35,000,000 TR AR BREUBBE D MIRBEB ST TEE
BRAREERE OFEARREEAREINBELABINE—D
RER W EBREENEMTEE ;

(d) HK$10 million would be used for the capital contribution of
certain subsidiaries of the Company, including Beijing Gong
Sheng Data Technology Co., Ltd.* QEREEHBEREFEERA
@), for the purposes of exploring and developing big data and
digital-related businesses, including but not limited to the new
retailing business and metaverse-related businesses; and
10,000,000B TR AR HARBDEFTHBAR (BFEILRHAE
BEERERAR) HNEE LXF‘%?E&%*E?:%&%F&%&%*H%@%
B OEEARRNMEEXEBN oFHEMERS ; &

(e) approximately HK$8 million would be used for general working
capital of the Group.
498,000,000 i AE A EEN—REES S

An amount of approximately HK$11.0 million out of the net proceeds

from a previous rights issue of the Company completed on 14 July

2021 was originally intended to be applied for the settlement of unpaid

investment sum to Tiandi Youdamei, and, given the disposal of equity

interest in Tiandi Youdamei, was used as general working capital of the

Group by the end of the reporting period.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE
RATES

The Group’s monetary assets and transactions are principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and US dollars. During
the year ended 31 March 2024, there was no significant fluctuation
in the exchange rates of Hong Kong dollars and US dollars whereas
Renminbi had a downward adjustment, resulting in an exchange loss
of approximately HK$19.7 million recognised as other comprehensive
expense of the Group. The Group will take a prudent approach against
any impact arising from the fluctuation in exchange rates but currently
is not engaged in any derivative activities and not committed to any
financial instruments to hedge its balance sheet exposure.
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approximately HK$5.5 million was utilised as
intended and the remaining approximately
HK$4.5 million will be utilised as intended on
or before 31 March 2025; and
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EMPLOYEE AND HUMAN RESOURCES POLICY

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 279 staff (2023: 286 staff).
The total staff cost incurred for the year ended 31 March 2024 was
approximately HK$54.0 million (2023: approximately HK$72.7 million).
The remuneration of employees was determined with reference to
the qualification and experience of individual staff member, market
circumstances and the Group's performance. In accordance with the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), the staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function have adequate training
programmes and budget.

Pursuant to a share option scheme adopted on 1 September 2021 (the
“2021 Share Option Scheme”), the Board may grant options to, among
other, directors (including non-executive directors and independent
non-executive directors) and employees of the Company and any of
its subsidiaries or associated companies, to subscribe for shares of the
Company. During the year ended 31 March 2024, no options were
granted under the 2021 Share Option Scheme.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend any final dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 30
August 2024 to Friday, 6 September 2024 (both days inclusive), during
which no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify to be
shareholders of the Company to attend and vote at the annual general
meeting to be held on Friday, 6 September 2024, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company's branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Tricor Tengis Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong, no later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 29 August 2024.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board has established the audit committee of the Company (the
“Audit Committee”) in accordance with the Listing Rules. The Audit
Committee currently comprises Ms. Yin Meiqun, Mr. Liu Tonghui and
Mr. Ye Jianmu, the three independent non-executive directors of the
Company. A summary of duties and works of the Audit Committee is set
out in the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, internal control
and financial reporting matters. The Audit Committee has reviewed the
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 in
conjunction with the Company’s external auditor, ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA
Limited.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE OF THE
LISTING RULES

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company has fully complied
with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code") as set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules, with deviation
from the code provisions C.1.6 and D.2.5. Details of the Company’s
corporate governance are set out in the section headed “Corporate
Governance Report” of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for establishing and
maintaining the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems to safeguard shareholders’ investment and for reviewing the
effectiveness of such systems on an annual basis under code provision
D.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Group has adopted and followed a series of internal control
procedures to regulate the money lending business and the finance
leasing business to ensure a comprehensive risk management, so as to
safeguard the interests of the Company and its shareholders, including
(i) credit risk assessment by the business team, (ii) formulation of the
preliminary business proposal by the business team, (iii) assessment
by the risk control and compliance department, (iv) credit approval,
and (v) ongoing monitoring of loan recoverability and loan collection.
Details of such internal control procedures are set out in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group strives to attain and maintain high standards of corporate
governance to enhance shareholders’ value and safeguard shareholders’
interests. The Group’s corporate governance principles emphasise
a quality Board, effective internal control and accountability to
shareholders.

The Board believes that good corporate governance practices are
increasingly important for maintaining and promoting shareholder value
and investor confidence.

The CG Code contained in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules sets out
(a) the mandatory requirements for disclosure; and (b) the principles
of good corporate governance, the code provisions on a “comply or
explain” basis and certain recommended best practices.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles, code provisions and certain recommended best practices as
set out in the CG Code.

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company has complied
with the code provisions set out in the CG Code, save for the deviations
from the code provisions C.1.6 and D.2.5 which are explained in the
relevant paragraphs in this report.

The Company will continue to enhance its corporate governance
practices appropriate to the conduct and growth of its business and to
review its corporate governance practices from time to time to ensure
they comply with the CG Code and align with the latest developments
of the Group.
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Corporate Governance Report

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Responsibilities

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the
Board, which assumes the responsibility for leadership and control of
the Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. All directors should
take decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company.

The Board sets policy direction and approves strategies/operational plans
to ensure effective functioning and growth of the Company, in the
interests of all shareholders.

Every director shall ensure that he/she carries out his/her duty in
good faith and in compliance with the standards of applicable laws
and regulations, and acts in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders at all times.

DELEGATION OF MANAGEMENT FUNCTIONS

The Board undertakes responsibility for decision making in major
matters of the Company, including: the approval and monitoring of
all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and
risk management systems, material transactions (in particular those
may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
directors and other significant financial and operational matters.

All directors have full and timely access to all relevant information
as well as the advice and services of the company secretary of the
Company (the “Company Secretary”), with a view to ensuring that
Board's procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are followed.

Each director is normally able to seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances at the Company's expense, upon making
request to the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the executive directors and the senior
management. The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically
reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any
significant transactions entered into by the abovementioned officers.

The Board has the full support of the executive directors and the senior
management to discharge its responsibility.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The composition of the Board ensures a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the business
of the Company and to the exercising of independent judgment.

As at the date of this report, the Board currently comprises four
executive directors and three independent non-executive directors. Save
as disclosed in the section of “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this annual report, members of the Board do
not have any relationship with any other director.

The list of all directors and their biographies are set out under the
section of “Corporate Information” and "Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” on page 2 and page 60 respectively
and in all corporate communications issued by the Company pursuant
to the Listing Rules from time to time. The independent non-executive
directors are expressly identified in all corporate communications
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

During the year, the Board at all times met the requirements of the
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive directors with at least one independent non-executive
director possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting
or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive director for his/her independence pursuant
to the guidelines for assessing independence set out in Rule 3.13 and
other requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
independent non-executive directors to be independent in accordance
with the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

All directors, including independent non-executive directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience and skills,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functions. Independent non-executive directors are invited to
serve on the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration Committees of the
Company.
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Corporate Governance Report

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
OF DIRECTORS

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of directors are set out in the Company’s Bye-laws. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board composition,
developing and formulating the relevant procedures for nomination and
appointment of directors, monitoring the appointment and succession
planning of directors and assessing the independence of independent
non-executive directors. Details of the Nomination Committee and its
works performed during the year are set out in the “Board Committees”
section below.

Each of the directors has entered into a service contract or a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years, which can
be terminated by not less than three months’ or one month’s notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

In accordance with the Company's Bye-laws, all directors of the
Company are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years and any new director appointed to fill a causal vacancy or as an
addition to the Board shall submit himself for re-election by shareholders
at the first annual general meeting after appointment.

In accordance with Bye-law 84(1) of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Qin
Jie, Mr. Liu Tonghui and Ms. Yin Meiqun shall retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the annual general meeting.

The Board recommended the re-appointment of the directors standing
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

Pursuant to requirement in the code provision C.1.1, each newly
appointed director should receive a comprehensive, formal and tailored
induction on appointment. Subsequently he or she should receive any
briefing and professional development necessary to ensure that he or
she has a proper understanding of the business and operations of the
Company and that he or she is fully aware of his or her responsibilities
and obligations under statute and common law, the Listing Rules, legal
and other regulatory requirements and the Company’s business and
governance policies.
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The Board recognises the importance of directors’ training and all
directors should participate in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. During the year
ended 31 March 2024, all directors have participated in continuous
professional development by attending training courses and/or reading
reference materials on the topics related to corporate governance and
regulations:

EERRAINEFHIZERZN B2
EENASEREEXEERE UERKE
MRENMBRRE-RBEE_TMF
ZR=+—HLEEE FIEEFHEESL
SMEMEEEAREE ZEIIRER,
HEESEMERSARFEEXELR !

Attending expert

briefings/
seminars/
conferences
relevant to the
Reading regulatory business or
updates director’s duties
HEBRESBH
EEHAEN
BEERE ERERE
ZRMER Mg, g2
Executive Directors BITES
Ms. Wang Yinggian (Chairman) FRETRE (FE) v v
Mr. Qin Jie (Chief Executive Officer) ENEE ((TEAEE) v v
Mr. Fan Jie L3 e v v
Mr. Li Haitao FEERE v v
Ms. Tao Lei (resigned on 11 March 2024) MELL (R —F_mE v v/
=A+—HFT)

Independent Non-Executive Directors BIIERITES
Mr. Liu Tonghui 2R E 4 v
Ms. Yin Meiqun FEBELLT v v
Mr. Ye Jianmu EEARLE 4 v

MEETINGS
Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

During the year ended 31 March 2024, regular Board meetings
were held for reviewing and approving the financial and operating
performance, and considering and approving the overall strategies
and policies of the Company. Most important resolutions agreed in
Board meetings were made by all directors including executive and
independent non-executive directors.
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The attendance records of each director at the meetings of the
shareholders, the Board, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Executive Committee

Corporate Governance Report
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FRBREEFNRRIAE - EF/ BtE
BEE - HFMEET RLEEETAITEE
T LEXELAREMR §RF2BALRE

(for corporate governance functions) during the year are set out below: T
Meetings Attended/Eligible to Attend
BHiE/AEREREZEE
Audit  Remuneration Nomination Executive
Shareholders Board Committee Committee Committee Committee
Name of Directors EENL B®R EZR EiH%EEg HNEEG R4L%Eg Wi1%Eg
(Note)
(g
Executive Directors RITES
Ms. Wang Yingqian (Chairman) TET %+ (2/E) 1N 6/6  Not Applicable  Not Applicable 171 Not Applicable
TEH ~EH ~EH
Mr. Qin Jie BNEE on 5/6  Not Applicable  Not Applicable  Not Applicable 1/1
(Chief Executive Officer) ({TH#EH) B AEA NER
Mr. Fan Jie BRLE 11 6/6  Not Applicable  Not Applicable  Not Applicable 1/1
TEH B Nl
Mr. Li Haitao TEERE 0N 6/6  Not Applicable  Not Applicable  Not Applicable 1/1
T EH B ~ER
Ms. Tao Lei BELT 0N 5/5  Not Applicable  Not Applicable  Not Applicable ~ Not Applicable
(resigned on 11 March 2024) (R ZF_/4E AEA TEH AEH TEA
ZA+-H
)
Independent Non-Executive B EHITES
Directors
Mr. Liu Tonghui AmEns 01 5/6 12 1n 171 Not Applicable
~EH
Ms. Yin Meiqun FEEUL 0/1 5/6 12 01 0/1  Not Applicable
~EH
Mr. Ye Jianmu ERAKL 01 6/6 2 1n 171 Not Applicable
~EH

Note: Among meetings of the Executive Committee, one meeting was held for the ff =%
purpose of performing the corporate governance duties and the attendances of
the members of the Executive Committee at this meeting is disclosed under the

CG Code.
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Under the code provision C.1.6 of the CG Code, the independent non-
executive directors and other non-executive directors should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views of
shareholders. Three independent non-executive directors namely, Mr. Liu
Tonghui, Ms. Yin Meiqun and Mr. Ye Jianmu, were unable to attend the
Company’s annual general meeting held on 5 September 2023 due to
their other business commitments.

Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are
normally made available to directors in advance.

Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all directors at least 14
days before the meetings. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all directors at least 3 days before each Board
meeting or committee meeting to keep the directors appraised of the
latest developments and financial position of the Company and to
enable them to make informed decisions. The Board and each director
also have separate and independent access to the senior management
whenever necessary.

The Chairman and the Company Secretary attend almost all regular
Board meetings and when necessary, other Board and committee
meetings to advise on business developments, financial and accounting
matters, statutory compliance, corporate governance and other major
aspects of the Company.

The Company Secretary is responsible for keeping minutes of all
Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to directors for comment within a reasonable period of
time after each meeting and the final version is open for directors’
inspection.

According to the current Board practice, any material transaction which
involves a material conflict of interests for a substantial shareholder
or a director will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly
convened Board meeting and independent non-executive directors who,
and whose associates, have no material interest in the transaction are
present at the Board meeting.

The Company’s Bye-laws also contain provisions requiring directors to
abstain from voting (nor be counted in the quorum) at meetings for
approving transactions in which such directors or any of their associates
have a material interest.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive should be clearly established and set out in
writing.

The role of the chairman was performed by Ms. Wang Yinggian, who
provided leadership for the Board and was responsible for chairing
meetings, managing the operations of the Board and ensuring that all
major and appropriate issues were discussed by the Board in a timely
and constructive manner. She was also responsible for the strategic
management of the Group and for formulating the Group's overall
corporate direction and focus.

The role of chief executive officer was performed by Mr. Qin Jie, who
was responsible for the overall management and operations of the
Group. He was also responsible for running the businesses of the Group
and implementing the Group’s strategic plans and business goals.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Currently, the Company has four committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Executive Committee, for overseeing particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the
Company are established with defined written terms of reference.
Save for the Executive Committee, the terms of reference of the
other Board committees are made available to shareholders on
the websites of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) (http://www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(http://www.cbgroup.com.hk) respectively.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises all three independent non-executive
directors, namely Ms. Yin Meiqun, Mr. Liu Tonghui and Mr. Ye Jianmu.
The Chairman of the Audit Committee is Ms. Yin Meiqun.

Among the committee members, one of them possesses the
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. None of the members of the Audit Committee is
a former partner of the Company’s existing external auditors.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

e to review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function, internal auditor (if
any) or external auditors before submission to the Board;

e to review the relationship with the external auditors by reference
to the work performed by the auditors, their fees and terms
of engagement, their independence and objectivity, and make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, reappointment
and removal of external auditors; and

e to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, internal control system and risk
management system and associated procedures.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year to review the
half-yearly and annual financial results and reports, financial reporting
and compliance procedures, report on the Company’s internal control
and risk management review and processes and the re-appointment of
the external auditors.

The attendance records of the Audit Committee are set out under the
section “Meetings” in this report.

The Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 March 2024 have
been reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises one executive director, namely
Ms. Wang Yinggian and all three independent non-executive directors,
namely Ms. Yin Meiqun, Mr. Liu Tonghui and Mr. Ye Jianmu. The
Chairman of the Nomination Committee is Ms. Wang Yinggian.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include the following:

e to review the structure, size, composition and diversity (including
the skills, knowledge, experience and gender) of the Board and
make recommendations regarding any proposed changes;

o to develop and formulate relevant procedures for nomination and
appointment of directors and senior management;

o to identify suitable candidates for appointment as directors and
senior management;

o to make recommendations to the Board on appointment or
reappointment of and succession planning for directors and senior
management; and

e to assess the independence of the independent non-executive
directors.

Board Diversity Policy and Director Nomination
Policy

The Company believes that the diversity of Board members will
be immensely beneficial for the enhancement of the Company's
performance. Therefore, the Company has adopted a board diversity
policy which sets out the approach to achieve and maintain an
appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board. The
Nomination Committee carries out the process of selecting and
recommending candidates for directorships and senior management
by making reference to the skills, experience, professional knowledge,
personal integrity and time commitments of such individuals, the
Company's needs and other relevant statutory requirements and
regulations. An external recruitment agency may be engaged to carry
out the recruitment and selection process when necessary.
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The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year to review
the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board and made
recommendations to the Board in accordance with the Nomination
Committee’s written terms of reference. The Nomination Committee
considers that board appointments are based on merit and candidates
are considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board. The Nomination Committee
shall discuss and where necessary, agree on the measurable objectives
for achieving diversity on the Board and make recommendation to
the Board. The Board may adopt and/or amend from time to time (as
applicable) such diversity perspectives and/or measurable objectives
that are appropriate to the Company’s business and Board succession
planning, as applicable.

The Company has also adopted a director nomination policy setting out
the procedures and criteria to be used by the Company in relation to
the selection, appointment and re-appointment of directors to ensure
that the Board maintains an appropriate mix and balance of skills,
knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives to the requirements
of the Company’s business.

The Nomination Committee shall make reference to the director
nomination policy and the board diversity policy to nominate suitably
qualified candidates to the Board for it to consider and make
recommendations to shareholders for election as directors at general
meetings or appoint as directors to fill casual vacancies or as an addition
to the Board.

The Board currently comprises seven directors, of whom two are female
and five are male. The Nomination Committee will continue to review
the board diversity policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness and
discuss any revisions that may be required, and recommend any such
revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

As at 31 March 2024, among the Group's employees (including senior
management), approximately 22% were female and approximately
78% were male. The Group strives to achieve appropriate balance of
gender diversity with reference to the stakeholders’ expectation and
international and local recommended best practices. The Group is not
aware of any mitigating factor or circumstances which make achieving
gender diversity across the workforce (including senior management)
more challenging or less relevant. Details of the Group's gender ratio
and related data are set out in the section of “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” of this annual report.
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The Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring the diversity of
the Board. The Nomination Committee will review the board diversity
policy from time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness and
the Company will disclose the implementation of the board diversity
policy in its corporate governance report on an annual basis. During
the year, the Board and the Nomination Committee has reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the board diversity policy.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises all three independent non-
executive directors, namely Ms. Yin Meiqun, Mr. Liu Tonghui and Mr.
Ye Jianmu. The Chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. Liu
Tonghui.

The Company has adopted the model set out in the code provision
E.1.2 of the CG Code as its Remuneration Committee model. The
primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee include making
recommendations on and approving the remuneration policy and
structure and remuneration packages of the executive directors
and the senior management. The Remuneration Committee is also
responsible for establishing transparent procedures for developing such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no director or any of
his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration,
which remuneration will be determined by reference to the individual
performance and the operating results of the Company as well as the
market conditions and practice. It is also responsible for the review and/
or approval of matters relating to the Company’s share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee normally meets for reviewing the
remuneration policy and structure and determination or making
recommendation of the annual remuneration packages of the executive
directors and the senior management and other related matters
when needs arise. The Human Resources Division is responsible for
collection and administration of the human resources data and making
recommendations to the Remuneration Committee for consideration.
The Remuneration Committee shall consult the Chairman and/or the
Board about these recommendations on remuneration policy and
structure and remuneration packages.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year to
review the remuneration packages of the directors and the senior
management and made recommendation to the Board in accordance
with the Remuneration Committee’s written terms of reference.
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Executive Committee comprises the following executive directors.

HITEES
HITZEERUTRITESEM -
From 1 April 2023

to the date of From 1 April 2023
this report to 11 March 2024

BZEZ=
BEZ-EZ= MBA—REE
mMAE—BEE —E-E
RS B HA =RA+—H

Mr. Qin Jie (Chairman) BRNRE (F/E)
Mr. Fan Jie Lt~

Mr. Li Haitao FEELE

Ms. Tao Lei MELZ L+

The Executive Committee has been conferred upon with the general
powers of the Board (except those matters specifically reserved for
the Board) to manage and oversee the operations of the Group and
has been assigned with the responsibilities to perform the corporate
governance duties including but not limited to:

o to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

e to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the directors and senior management of the
Company;

o to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

o to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the directors and
employees;

o to review the Company’'s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report; and

e to conform to any requirement, direction, regulation that may
from time to time be prescribed by the Board or contained in the

constitution of the Company or imposed by legislation.

During the year, the policies of the corporate governance of the
Company were reviewed by the Executive Committee.
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BOARD ANNUAL EVALUATION

To ensure independent view and input from directors are available to
the Board and to drive continuous improvement in board performance,
the Board established the Board Performance Evaluation Method in
2023 and it will be reviewed by the Board on an annual basis to ensure
its effectiveness. Led by the Chairman, starting from the year under
review, the Board conducted annual board performance evaluation
in the form of questionnaire and, if required, one-on-one meeting
between the Chairman and individual director. The primary goal of the
board performance evaluation is to assess board culture and dynamics,
ensure optimal board composition and improve board practices and
enhance effectiveness. Views of individual director in respect of mastery
of the Company’s goal and tasks, director responsibility, the degree
of participation in the Company’s operations, internal relationship
management and communication, director training and internal control
are collected and consolidated to be presented to the Nomination
Committee annually to discuss the results and the action plan for
improvement, if appropriate. For the year under review, the Nomination
Committee considered all aspects evaluated are overall effectively
performed and adequate.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Particulars of the directors’ remuneration for the years ended 31 March
2024 and 2023 as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix D2
to the Listing Rules are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration of
the members of the senior management (other than directors) by band
for the year ended 31 March 2024 is as follows:
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules. Specific enquiry has been made on all directors and
the directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2024.

The directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial
statements of the Company with a view to ensuring that such financial
statements give a true and fair view and that relevant statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards are complied with.

The management of the Company provides such explanation and
information to the Board so as to enable the Board to make an informed
assessment of the financial information and position of the Company
which were put to the Board for approval.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set
out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on page 77.

An analysis of the remuneration of the Company’s auditors, ZHONGHUI
ANDA CPA Limited, and its affiliate, for the year ended 31 March 2024
is set out as follows:
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it has overall responsibility for evaluating
and determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, maintaining appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems, and reviewing
their effectiveness. The Board oversees management in the design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal
control systems. The systems and internal controls can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss, as they are designed to manage, rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives.

The Group has established an on-going process for identifying,
evaluating and managing the significant risks of the Group. Business
units are responsible for identifying, assessing and monitoring risks
associated with their respective units. The results of evaluation will
be reported to management through regular internal meetings. Each
year, management prepares the risk assessment report listing the risks
identified and management’s assessment on the impact to the Group.
The Board discusses findings in the risk assessment report and evaluates
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control system
in Board meeting, and resolves any material internal control defects.
The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems, and the Company considered
them effective and adequate.

The key elements of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems include the following:

e the organisational structure is clearly defined with distinct lines of
authority and control responsibilities;

o a comprehensive financial accounting system has been established
to provide for performance measurement indicators and to ensure
compliance with relevant rules;

e the senior management shall prepare annual plans on financial
reporting, operations and compliance aspects by reference to
potential significant risks;

o unauthorised expenditures and release of confidential information
are strictly prohibited;

o specific approval by executive director prior to commitment is
required for all material matters; and

e the management shall review and evaluate the control process and
monitor any risk factors on a regular basis and report to the Audit
Committee on any findings and measures to address the variances
and identified risks.
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The Group handles and disseminates inside information with due care.
Staff is required to comply with the confidentiality terms inside the
staff manual. Only personnel at appropriate level can get reach of price
sensitive and inside information. The Company regularly reminds the
directors and employees about compliance with all policies adopted by
the Company regarding inside information including the Model Code
set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules in relation to dealings in
securities of the Company.

Appropriate policies and controls have been designed and established
to ensure that assets are safeguarded against improper use or disposal,
relevant rules and regulations are adhered to and complied with, reliable
financial and accounting records are maintained in accordance with
relevant accounting standards and regulatory reporting requirements.

Under the code provision D.2.5 of the CG Code, the Group should
have an internal audit function. However, due to the size of the Group
and for cost effectiveness consideration, the Group currently does
not have an internal audit function. Instead, the Audit Committee is
responsible for a review on the internal control system annually. The
review covers major financial, operational controls in rotation basis and
also the risk management functions. The Audit Committee agreed that
the Group should review and strengthen (if applicable) the internal
control and risk management in respect of the trading business after
the deregistration of its customers occurred. Save for the aforesaid, no
significant deficiency was identified under current year's review and the
systems were operating effectively and adequately. The Group continues
to review the need for an internal audit function annually.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy of the Company (the “Dividend Policy”) is in place
setting out the principles and guidelines that the Company intends to
apply in relation to the declaration, payment or distribution of its net
profits as dividends to the shareholders of the Company.

The Board shall take into account of, including but not limited to, the
following factors when considering the declaration and payment of
dividends:

o the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

o retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Group;

o the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity and
the relevant financial covenants;

o any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by
the Group’s contracting parties;
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o the Group's expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plans;

o general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
business and other internal or external factors that may have an
impact on the business or financial performance and position of
the Company; and

o any other factors that the Board may deem appropriate.

The Dividend Policy shall be reviewed when necessary, and can be
revised by the Board from time to time.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The position of the Company Secretary is held by Mr. Ho Yu. His
biography is set out in the “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” section on page 60. Mr. Ho reports to the Chairman of
the Board from time to time. All directors have access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary to ensure that board procedures, and
all applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed. During the year,
Mr. Ho undertook not less than 15 hours of professional training to
update his skills and knowledge.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company believes that effective communication with shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investors’ understanding
of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Group also
recognises the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of
corporate information which enables shareholders and investors to make
a properly informed investment decision.

The Company continues to enhance communications and relationships
with its investors. Enquiries from investors are dealt with in an
informative and timely manner. Investors may write directly to the
Company at its principal place of business in Hong Kong for any
inquiries.

The annual general meeting (the “"AGM") provides opportunity for
the shareholders to communicate directly with the directors. The
Chairman of the Company and the chairmen of the Board Committees
of the Company or, in their absence, other members of the respective
committees, will attend the AGM to answer shareholders’ questions.
The auditor of the Company will also attend the AGM to answer
questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and
content of the auditor's report, the accounting policies and auditor
independence.
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To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at www.cbgroup.com.hk, where extensive information and updates
on the Company's business developments and operations, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information are
available for public access.

In view of the above shareholders’ communication policy, the Board
considered that the implementation of the shareholders’ communication
policy is satisfactory and effective during the year under review.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

Under the Company’s Bye-laws, the Board, on the requisition of
shareholders of the Company holding not less than 10% of the paid-
up capital of the Company by sending a written notice to the Board or
the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong, shall convene a special general meeting to address specific
issues of the Company within 21 days from the date of deposit of
written notice. The same requirement and procedure also applies to any
proposal to be tabled at shareholders’ meetings for adoption.

Specific enquiries by shareholders requiring the Board’s attention can be
sent in writing to the Board or the Company Secretary at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong.

In addition, the Company maintains contact with its shareholders
through annual general meetings or other general meetings, and
encourages shareholders to attend those meetings.

Notice of general meeting will be published on the Company’s website
at www.cbgroup.com.hk and the website of the Stock Exchange at
www.hkexnews.hk respectively or will be sent by mail to the registered
shareholders of the Company or the intermediary/nominee of the non-
registered shareholders of the Company if a printed form is requested.
Agenda and resolutions are set out in the notice of general meeting. A
proxy form for use at a general meeting is published or enclosed with
the notice. Shareholders who do not intend or are unable to be present
at the meeting should fill out the form and return the same to the
share registrar and transfer office of the Company, so as to appoint a
representative, another shareholder or the chairman of the meeting as
their proxy.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

At the annual general meeting held on 5 September 2023, a special
resolution was passed to adopt the Company’s new Bye-Laws in order
to bring the Bye-Laws in line with the latest legal and regulatory
requirements, including the amendments made to Appendix A1 to the
Listing Rules which took effect on 1 January 2022. Details of the major
changes of the Company’s new Bye-Laws are set out in the circular of
the Company dated 31 July 2023. The latest version of the Bye-Laws is
available on both the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The Group is pleased to present its Environmental, Social and
Governance Report (the "ESG Report”) for the year ended 31 March
2024 ("Year 2023/24") to demonstrate its commitment to sustainable
development in aspects of environmental, social and governance (the
"ESG").

This ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “"ESG Reporting Guide"”)
as set out in Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules, which covers two
subject areas, Environmental and Social. Please refer to the Corporate
Governance Report in the annual report of the Company for details of
corporate governance of the Group.

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
The Board’s oversight of ESG issues

The Board has a primary role in overseeing the Group's ESG issues. For
the Year 2023/24, the Board and the management evaluated from time
to time the impacts of ESG-related risks towards the operation and
formulated ESG-related policies in dealing with relevant risks. The Board
ensures that the management has all appropriate tools and resources to
oversee the ESG issues. The Group highly values the opinions of each
stakeholder and regards them as the cornerstone for the development
of the Group. For the Year 2023/24, ESG governance and ESG-related
issues were reviewed at regular meetings.

The Board’s ESG management approach and
strategy for material ESG-related issues

In order to better understand the opinions and expectations of different
stakeholders on the ESG issues, materiality assessment is conducted
annually by the Group. The Group ensures various platforms, and
channels of communication are used to reach, listen and respond
to its key stakeholders. Through general communication with the
stakeholders, the Group is able to understand the expectations and
concerns from its stakeholders. The feedbacks obtained allow the Group
to make more informed decisions, and to better assess and manage the
resulting impacts of the business decisions.
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IRIE - HERERRSE

The Group has evaluated the materiality of ESG aspects through the
following steps: (i) identification of ESG issues by the Group; (ii) key ESG
areas prioritization with stakeholder engagement; and (iii) validation and
determining material ESG issues based on the results of communication
with the stakeholders.

Engaging in these steps can enhance the understanding of the degree
of importance of the Group’s stakeholders to each material ESG issue,
and can enable the Board to plan the sustainable development direction
more comprehensively in the future.

The Board’s review progress against ESG-related
objectives and targets

The performance and the implementation progress of the ESG-related
objectives and targets should be carefully reviewed by the Group from
time to time. If the progress falls short of expectation or changes
of business operations, it may be necessary to make changes and
communicate about the objectives and targets with key stakeholders
such as employees, customers and suppliers.

The Board has set future strategic goals to enable the Group to develop
a realistic path and focus on the development direction for achieving its
vision. The Board will carefully examine the attainability of the targets
which should be weighed against the Group’s philosophy and goals.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

This ESG Report follows the four reporting principles in the ESG
Reporting Guide, including:

Materiality: the Group has identified a number of issues which cover
ESG, and invited stakeholders to assess the materiality of such issues
in the Year 2023/24. For details, please refer to the section headed
“Materiality Assessment” in this ESG Report.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Quantitative: data presented in this ESG Report have been collected
prudently. Please refer to the environmental and social performance
data for standards and methodologies used for calculation of key
performance indicators (“KPIs").

Balance: an unbiased and balanced picture of the performance has been
disclosed in a transparent manner.

Consistency: unless otherwise stated, this ESG Report uses the same
methodologies and KPIs as disclosed in previous ESG reports of the
Group to facilitate comparability at any time.

SCOPE OF REPORTING

The Group is principally engaged in: (i) trading of goods; (ii) the finance
leasing business; (iii) the money lending business; (iv) the securities
and futures dealing and related consultancy services; (v) property
investment business; (vi) the property brokerage services; (vii) the
building architecture and interior design business and data analytical
business; (viii) the project management business; (ix) the geothermal
energy business; (x) the building construction contracting business; and
(xi) centralized heating business, in Hong Kong and the PRC. The social
data in this ESG Report covers the entire group, and the environmental
data covers the business operations of the Company in Beijing, Henan,
Shaanxi, Hebei, Shanxi and Hong Kong.

Key performance indicators (“KPIs”) data are gathered only from the
operations under the Group's direct operational control. The Group will
continue to strengthen information of the major ESG aspects in order to
enhance the disclosure of information on sustainable development when
and where applicable.

IRIR HERERRSE

215 | KESGIREFT 25 B BT 2 ' UK
E-FR2RRERTESENEIE UTHER
REt ERREMIERIIRER 5 7%

Tk UBERA AL R R T
BEMRE -

—HM BB AMRE RESGREHEAA
FEBUFRE HEREARS W
MEt D ERBERERIER  WEBRETT
nef 3%

HEEE

AEBFERBFTBERTERE () EEB
m S (NREBEE SRR (INEEXE (v)EFHF
RAER S RAEBBHRE (WHERE
B (VP EELIRE S(VINVBEFERERE
MR EBREEDIES (vii)EE B
EB(HMBAEES S OEBFEEARSE
% R(x)EPHEAZER - RESGHR ST
CHEREEEER REHBRELR
B IER AR R A AR E
BREBEE

\r

T
ko

RREMIER (TRIBEMIER)) BURER
AEEERESEN THEBRE £&
EREERICIBERE - HEKERAE
BB R U5 BRI R B A R Al
BLRHER -

EFEEEZERERAT 2023/24F 3R

41



42

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIE - HERERRSE

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Stakeholder engagement is a key success factor in formulating
environmental and social strategy, defining the Group's objectives,
assessing materiality and developing policies. The Group's key
stakeholders include investors, government and regulatory bodies,
employees, customers, suppliers, society and the public. The Group has
conducted a survey, discussed or communicated with stakeholders to
understand their views and respond to their needs and expectations,

FRESHE

FHENSEAFERER T FRE R
EXEENER - FTEEEMRHEBR
EHEZ-AEENETERFNELERE
HE BNRAGEERB - BT TR #HES-
HERAR - FEEDETAE BENHE
SEmIEE LTS RE MEHE
BRAE  HE KRB AR NEREE

evaluated and prioritised their inputs to improve the Group’s

performance, and finally strived to provide value for the stakeholders.

Stakeholders
BinE

Expectations and appeals

REZRRNEBEERF UREERAORFE
NERNEEE-

Communication and feedback

B3 B o] R

Investors

REE

Governments and
regulatory bodies

BT R e E AR

Employees
BT

Customers
BE

Suppliers
HEER

Society and the public

HERAR

HAZ MR R

e Financial results
S

e Corporate transparency
TEFRE

e Sound risk control
55 & B g 2

e Compliance with laws and regulations
BTIRL
e Tax payment in accordance with laws

RIEMIR

e (Career development platform

BEEREFS

e Salary and benefits
BN ER

e Safe working environment
Z2TIFIRIE

e Customer information security
ERERZ:R

e Customer rights and interests protection
B R E@RE

e Good service guarantee

REFHRFBRE

e Integrity cooperation
MIEETE

e Business ethics and credibility
HEERREE

Environmental protection

BeRMRF

e Employment opportunities

MERE
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e To improve profitability
RE&RAMEED

e Regular information disclosure
AEERKE

e To optimize risk management and
internal control
BIERREERANEEEE

e Compliance operation
aREE
e Tax payment in full and on time

2B B RRAR

e Promotion mechanism
BT

e Competitive salary and employee benefits
BB IS &R

e To provide trainings for employees and
strengthen their safety awareness
RHETRHEEI MRETZ2MEEH

e Customer privacy protection

RIEE R

e Compliance marketing
B

e To provide reliable energy products and
services

TR B IRE f S AR S

e To build a responsible supply chain
TEasEnMHEsE

e To perform the contract according with laws
KEBITERE

e To use environmental protection and energy
saving equipment
BRRETBERB R AER

e To provide employment opportunities

TRHRLERRBAL



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

According to the ESG Reporting Guide, the Group collects and identifies
the issues of concern of major stakeholders through questionnaire
survey and interview, analyzes and sorts the issues to determine the
Company’s important issues in ESG for relevant disclosure. The results
of the materiality assessment will be used to guide the Group in
formulating future environmental, social and governance plans and
objectives, in a bid to creating sustainable value for stakeholders.

Based on the communication with various stakeholders, the Company

IRIR HERERRSE
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Environmental issues Social issues Governance issues
IRIGERE HEEE AR
1. Greenhouse gas emissions 8. Community contribution 16. Anti-corruption
mE R AR HE R k&5
2. Energy consumption and resource 9. Occupational health and safety 17. Supply chain management
management WERRERZE e EE
BERHFERERERE 10. Child labor 18. Supplier evaluation and selection
3. Water management BT e T R R
KEREE 11. Forced and compulsory labor 19. Customer service and satisfaction
4. Waste management 5238 M 58 % 55 & BERERBRREE
REEYE IR 12. Training and development 20. Customer privacy
5. Use of packaging materials Bl EE =R N -
BEEMEEA 13. Remuneration and employee 21. Comments and complaint handling
6. Impact on environment benefits BERIKFEE
HIRRHN N B TEF 22. Product safety and quality
7. Climate change 14. Diversity and equal opportunity management
RIREE Lt TFERE EmZehEEEIE
15. Attracting and retaining talents 23. Protecting intellectual property rights
5| KB ANA eI .
24. Marketing and labeling
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IRIE - HERERRSE

ENVIRONMENT

To adhere to its commitment to sustainable development and to comply
with the requirements under relevant laws and regulations related to
environmental protection, the Group has been dedicated to reducing
the impact of its operating activities on the environment.

Emissions

The development and utilization of geothermal energy of the Group
may have some environmental impacts, including but not limited to:
(i) thermal pollution; (ii) air pollution; (iii) water pollution; and (iv)
soil pollution. The Group has conducted an environmental impact
assessment with reference to the requirements of the Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China.

In the Year 2023/24, the key environmental performance indicators of
the Group's emissions are set out as follows:

IRIR
AEBBREEFAFRERNAEURE
TIRIBRERBERERORE LS
R EER IR & -

2135 &Y]

AEBREEMN B AHIRIEERE —2
FEBIEERBRN (OASE (INERS
2 (i E; R(iv) TSR AEB D2
BR(PEARENERIRBEFRE L) NEKRE
?ﬁ'fﬁiﬁ‘, = u#'faf

1R2023/24% E > ZEB R RIRIRIE
BRIERIIEIT ¢

Environmental indictors Unit Year 2023/24 Year 2022/23
IRIGIER Bl 2023/245[E 2022/23€ &
Air emissions (Note 1)
BERBER (15 —)
Emissions of Nitrogen oxides (NOx) kg 40.44 34.38
AFEYINOXBER T
Emissions of Sulfur oxides (SOx) kg 0.19 0.09
IR 1EYI(SOXHER F=
Emissions of Particulate matter (PM) kg 3.71 3.23
SERL(PM)BE T
Greenhouse gas emissions
BERAREE
Direct emissions (scope 1) kg CO2e 34,967 15,404
BB (EEH—) FTRZSEItHRES
Indirect emissions (scope 2) (Note 2) kg CO2e 10,332,050 8,072,616
BEHm FE =) (iF=) FTRZSEItHRES
Other indirect emissions (scope 3) kg CO2e 258,281 136,369
(Note 2)
HmZEsm #E=) FTRZSItHRES
Ht:F =)
Total greenhouse gas emissions (Note 3) kg CO2e 10,625,298 8,224,389
BERBIBEE (Wit=) FTRZSEItHRES
Intensity of greenhouse gas emissions kg CO2e per employee 38,084 28,757

BEREBHREE

TRZALREE

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2023/24



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Note 1: The emission factors used in the calculation of air pollutants are sourced from
the EPD Vehicle Emission Calculation model and the Vehicle Emission Modeling
Software of the United States Environmental Protection Agency. These factors
are calculated on the assumption that the relative humidity is 80% and the
temperature is 25 degrees Celsius with an average speed of 30 kilometers per
hour and include running exhaust emission only.

Note 2: Emission factors are sourced from the Ministry of Ecology and Environment
of the People’s Republic of China (2021), the 2023 Sustainability Report of
HKEI, and the 2023 Sustainability Report of CLP. The figures are calculated in
accordance with the “Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs”.

Due to changes in the emission factors used to calculate the CO: equivalents
associated with purchase of electricity in Mainland China, the data have been
restated to conform to the current year's calculation.

Note 3: Greenhouse gas emissions (direct and indirect) and the removals can be
categorized into the following three separate scopes:

Scope 1: Greenhouse gas emissions that attribute to business owned or
controlled by the Group (primarily from the fuel consumption of
vehicles).

Scope 2: Greenhouse gas emissions occurred in the production process
resulting from generation of electricity purchased by the Group from
electric power company.

Scope 3: All other indirect greenhouse gas emissions generated outside the
Group, including (i) methane gas generated at landfill by disposal
of paper waste; and (ii) indirect emissions due to electricity used for
processing drinking water/sewage water by external institutions.

The Group's five-year target is to reduce the air emissions and the
greenhouse gas emissions intensity by 5% respectively based on the
Year 2021/22 baseline by the Year 2026/27.
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Hie

KREBWSFHBEZEREI2026/27FE /IR
B2021/22EENEEEEREREAE
REEREEDRIR/15% o

Environmental KPIs Emission reduction targets Benchmark year Status
IRIBRARGENIER BB R HEF R B&
Intensity of NOx emissions Reduce by 5% by the Year 2026/27 Year 2021/22 In progress
NOxBF 2 = 122026/27F EATED5% 2021722 F T
Intensity of SOx emissions Reduce by 5% by the Year 2026/27 Year 2021/22 In progress
SOBFE 122026/27F EATED5% 2021722 F ETH
Intensity of PM emissions Reduce by 5% by the Year 2026/27 Year 2021/22 In progress
PMBEIRE E 182026/27F EATEV5% 2021722 F T
Intensity of greenhouse

gas emissions Reduce by 5% by the Year 2026/27 Year 2021/22 In progress
BERBHREE 182026/27F EATEV5% 2021722 F ETH

The Group adheres to the principle of “Three Simultaneously”, i.e. the
environmental governance design should be designed, constructed and
put into operation simultaneously with the main part of a project. The
Group's construction causes environmental impact during construction
and operation, and the main pollution generated and protection
measures taken include pollution and protection during construction
and after use.
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IRIE - HERERRSE

In order to reduce the dust pollution at the construction sites, the
Group sprinkles water at regular time on the construction sites everyday
to prevent dust generation, and increases the volume and frequency
of sprinkling water on windy days. Solid wastes produced during the
construction period are mainly domestic waste and waste residual soil
generated during construction, which will be collected with dustbins
and then sent to refuse disposal plants by sanitation workers for
disposal. And the waste residual soil will be cleaned up and transported
in time.

The wastewater generated during the construction period is mainly
domestic sewage and waste water generated from construction
activities. The construction waste water mainly contains sediment and
suspended matter, which will be collected first and then treated before
discharged to the sewer pipe. The waste water generated during
operation is mainly the heat pump room cleansing waste water and
system leakage waste water. The wastewater will be discharged from
the new pipe to regional existing storm water system.

ABEOEIISMAIEES R AEBERE
THMEBREREK BLEBEEE  EX
BBEMABKERRHK - THEPMESL
NEREEY T E A EELIRMME T HE
EWEEL  gRIRENERTHIRIE
BETAXINDREESEE TR EE
EREEL-

HE T HARE 8955 /K E B &4 E 75 KM T8
BESELENSK-FEISKEZFZRD
R giRlE RIERBEE T KEE-
BERBNEKAEBZREAREBZEK
MRFLREK-BEKHMEEEHER
BB RR KA

Waste Unit Year 2023/24 Year 2022/23
EE4 =R 2023/245FE 2022/23F E
Total hazardous waste produced kg Not Applicable Not Applicable
FFEEAEEEYES F= ~EA B
Hazardous waste intensity kg per employee Not Applicable Not Applicable
FMELXEEEENEE Fr/ S%EE NEA ~EA
Total non-hazardous waste produced kg Not Applicable Not Applicable
FTELEREEEMES T EA B
Non-hazardous waste intensity kg per employee Not Applicable Not Applicable
FFELEBEEENEE F7/S4EE ~EA B

As the Group only generated an insignificant amount of non-hazardous
waste in its business activities for the Year 2023/24, relevant data
were not quantified. Non-hazardous waste mainly includes domestic
waste and waste residual soil generated during construction, which
will be sent to refuse disposal plants by sanitation workers for disposal
regularly. In addition, there were no relevant data as no hazardous
waste was generated in the Group's operation. If any hazardous waste
is required to be disposed of, the Group will engage professional
institutions to dispose of it.

For the Year 2023/24, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with any relevant laws or regulations relating to air
and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste, including the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China ({/F
EANRHEMBEIRIEREE)) and the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution ({FZE A
REMBE AR SEYBAAE)) . In addition, no major fines or sanctions
relating to the non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
have been received for the Year 2023/24.

The Group aims to maintain zero production of hazardous waste and
minimal production of non-hazardous waste by the Year 2026/27.
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Use of Resources

The Group recognizes the importance of environmental sustainability
and endeavors to minimize the impact of business on the environment
through adopting numerous energy-saving and conservation
initiatives. The Group’s policy is to ensure compliance with applicable
environmental laws and regulations and minimize its environmental
footprint through the efficient use of resources and the adoption of pro-
environmental management. The Group's eco-friendly measures at the
office are as follows:

e  staff is reminded to switch off lights and air-conditioning in the
meeting rooms and computers at workstations when not in use;

e whenever possible, documents are handled electronically other
than by using physical papers;

. staff is reminded to save water;

o staff is encouraged to reuse paper printed only on one side and
duplex printing and copying. Data on printing and copying is
regularly reviewed to assess the efficiency of paper usage;

o recycled office supplies are provided whenever possible; and

e conference calls instead of face-to-face meetings are arranged
where possible.

In addition, a series of energy conservation and emission reduction
measures have been adopted for the Group’s businesses of heating and
cooling supply by geothermal energy and centralized heating in order to
reduce the use of resources effectively.

To save electricity, the Group added transducers to electrical equipment
in the plants, which effectively adjusted the power of motors and
enabled them to operate at variable speeds, so as to achieve the goal of
energy saving.

The Group introduced advanced environmental facilities to construct
dry coal sheds in the plants, which could avoid natural losses caused
by wind and rain and therefore reduce environmental pollution. Such
construction also effectively prevented coal clogging in boilers due to
wet coals caused by wind and rain, and eliminated the fluctuation of
environmental data due to the unstable bottom temperature of boilers.

The Group set up a slag cooling system in the plants to recover waste
heat, improve the thermal efficiency of boilers, and reduce energy
consumption. Slag coolers facilitated the temperature of heated slags to
decrease from 900°C to below 100°C > i.e. approximately 2.5 GJ of heat
being recovered per hour based on the calculation of 12 tonnes of slags
being disposed of per hour. Without considering heat loss, the amount
of heat collected from slags per hour approximate to that of about 150
kg of coals, which indirectly improved the surrounding environment.
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IRIE - HERERRSE

During the Year 2023/24, the Group did not encounter any difficulties in
obtaining suitable water sources.

In order to enhance employees’ awareness of energy saving and
emission reduction and management's sense of responsibility and
mission of fulfilling such goals, the Group organized training every
Saturday to continuously teach them knowledge, good methods and
tips, make modest improvements to unreasonable practices, and keep
driving technological innovation, thereby contributing to advancement
in the work of energy saving and emission reduction to improve
efficiency.

The key environmental performance indicators of the Group's use of
resources for the Year 2023/24 are set out below:

12202324 E > AEBEEREGBER KRS
TE RS BE AT A B o

FEERTIRS B IHEERMPEEHE KR
BARFBEEEASHEFHERFENEER
B R SESABIEI FETRER A
# o BIlF A E N NEPT BASENM A
EIT/NBUNG  AET M TR R RN AE
BB TER MR E R RE W e

12202324 F B> 7 EBEREANIBEREIR
IBAERGERTIEWNT ¢

Environmental indictors Unit Year 2023/24 Year 2022/23

IRIBIEHR =R 2023/245FE 2022/23F E

Total energy consumption by type

BERIDNREREEE

Electricity purchased for consumption kWh 11,319,933 9,117,561
(Note 1)

WBEENEE (Wit—) TRE

Fuel consumption of vehicles (Note 2) kWh 128,262 56,719

BERKEIEE BT FRE

Total energy consumption kWh 11,448,195 9,174,280

BERHFEMRR S FRE

Energy consumption intensity kWh per employee 41,033 32,078

BERHERE TR S8%EE

Water resource

KEIR

Total water consumption (Note 3) m3 284,110 151,534

MEEKE (M52 =) I FHR

Water consumption intensity m3 per employee 1,018 530

FERBE YHE K/ GREE

Packaging materials used (Note 4)

BRMEERE (W)

Packaging materials used for kg Not Applicable Not Applicable
finished products

KUk AT A MR T EH B

Packaging materials intensity kg per employee Not Applicable Not Applicable

FRARaEMERE T/ 8%EE rEH EA

Energy sold to third parties

ME=FHHENGER

Total heating (geothermal energy) kWh 84,995,610 72,301,958

&R (thEhae) B8 FRE

Total steam tonnes 71,164 75,417

HERME i
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Note 1: The increase in electricity purchased for consumption as compared with that of
last year was due to an increase in electrical machinery and equipment.

Note 2: The Group uses the conversion factor of the Energy Data Manual issued by the
International Energy Agency to convert units of data collected (gasoline and
diesel) into kWh.

Note 3: The significant increase in total water consumption as compared with that of
last year was due to an increase in water consumption resulting from the heat
supply for 2 new communities as well as an increase in water replenishment
because of old pipeline networks during the Year 2023/24.

Note 4: No packaging material was consumed for the Year 2023/24 as the Group's
business does not involve the use of packing materials.

The 5-year target of the Group is to reduce the total energy
consumption intensity and water consumption intensity by 5% by the
Year 2026/27, respectively, based on the Year 2021/22 benchmark.

IRIR HERERRSE

WaE— BEBNEEREZFEMLHAKENTBAE
HERRE -

W 5E = ¢ A S R R B IR BE R B 3 W Y e R B T 1R
BB AR F HE P IR SR RO B (SROm R AU) RO B8
RS T RE -

MEE= ABFEKEBREAFRBIEINHENR2023/24F E
Mig2ENEHE SREKERNREEES
MEIREIN T KB e

WHEO BRAEBEBRIIRBERER > &R
202324F BN FOHFE B EM K o

REBWSFHBEZERI2026/27FE /IR
B2021/22EEMNEED R B EEE TR EE
B ERFEKBERL5%

Environmental KPIs Reduction target Benchmark year Status
IRIBRARERISE EiH B 1R HEF AR R&
Energy consumption intensity Reduce by 5% by the Year 2026/27 Year 2021/22 In progress
RERHFER E 11202627 F ERIEIE5% 2021/22FE EITH
Water consumption intensity Reduce by 5% by the Year 2026/27 Year 2021/22 In progress
FEKEE 122026/27F EAIEIE5% 2021/226FE EITH
Environmental and Natural Resources IRIBRRAER

Featured with energy conservation, low carbon, and environmental
protection, developing geothermal heating is in compliance with
national policies. Such features determine that geothermal heating can
be a realistic choice to replace fossil energy such as coal on a large scale
and optimize the energy structure.

As a clean renewable energy, geothermal energy has the following
advantages: (i) geothermal central heating can achieve regional
modularized central heating without laying a large area of centralized
heating network, and its heating cost is lower as compared with that of
fossil energy; (ii) geothermal resources are environmentally friendly and
clean and renewable, and do not produce waste gas or waste residue,
which is of great significance for the reduction of haze and smog and
suspended particles; and (iii) through the technology of geothermal
reinjection into the same reservoir bed, the heat-extracted tail water is
recharged into the same reservoir bed to achieve the renewable use of
geothermal resources.

LRMAHBENSERKEER BAHE B
B IRRE R - AR RORTE T AR
AARRBEEERRERSFEAER B
FERAEBINIREEE

MEED—BBEBERR BUTE
S (B EDHEEBEREEERIEESD
" BERERAEENETHAERE B
HEEENEAERER (MMRERA
BIRGENBRAUABENRTR TELEER
A HBLOBBNBINFABEARE
5 K(ii)BIBF E O &K R EEE Y
EBKEEER—HMH#E  ZFMAERDY
RIBERMA-
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IRIE - HERERRSE

The National Development and Reform Commission, the National Energy
Administration and the Ministry of Land and Resources jointly published
the "Thirteenth Five-year Plan on the Development and Utilization
of Geothermal Energy” ((MIZAREREEEFIAT+=H1#R%E)) on 23
January 2017, which proposed to “innovate the geothermal energy
development and utilization mode, actively develop the geothermal
energy market, and comprehensively promote the effective utilization
of geothermal energy in accordance with the general requirements
of advanced technology, environmental friendliness and economic
feasibility”, and mentioned that advantages such as “promoting
hydrothermal geothermal heating based on the combination of
centralized and decentralized methods, and replacing traditional heating
with clean energy heating under the guiding principle of taking heat
but not water”. Those advantages will be beneficial to the sustainable
development of the Group’s business.

The Group’s projects for supplying heat are mainly applied in Hebei,
Shanxi and Shaanxi, etc. In order to improve the environmental quality
of these regions, the Group has constructed geothermal energy heating
projects to control the use of fossil energy and reduce emissions of
carbon dioxide and suspended particles, so as to improve the regional
environmental quality. These constructions bring both higher economic
benefits and important social benefits.

Climate Change

The continuous emission of greenhouse gas leads to climate change. In
response to climate change, the Group refers to the framework of the
Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) of Financial
Stability Board to assess climate-related risks. There are two main types
of risks, which are: (i) physical risks associated with climate change
impacts; and (ii) transition risks associated with low-carbon economy.

The climate-related risks identified by the Group are mainly structural
damage to buildings caused by the increase in frequency of extreme
weather events and flooding due to changes in rainfall patterns. Such
climate change may affect labor management and planning, and also
increase the risk of work-related injuries for the employees. In addition,
there is a risk that the Group’s infrastructure and machines may be
damaged by climate change, and facilities damage will affect operations
and lead to an increase in operation costs.

In response to the above climate-related risks, the Group has purchased
employee injury insurances for all employees. Such insurances cover
expenses for employees’ injuries due to weather conditions. The Group
has also purchased relevant property insurance for all construction
projects, operating projects and the Group's key fixed assets to cover
property losses due to weather conditions and reduce maintenance costs
that may be required.
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SOCIAL

The Group believes that employees are its greatest asset which is crucial
to its continuous development. The Group establishes and operates
prudent human resources policies and practices strictly in compliance
with laws and regulations in respective jurisdictions where the group
entities are carrying on business. The Group updates and improves these
policies and practices regularly by taking into consideration the health
and well-being of its employees. All employees are kept abreast of any
updated policies and practices through internal memoranda.

Employment

As of 31 March 2024, the Group had 279 employees (Year 2022/23:
286 employees). The following table sets out the Group’s total
workforce by different categories for the Year 2023/24:

Total workforce

EERH

IRIR HERERRSE

e

FEBRD BINREENEE  HEE
BEREHEEZ - AEERREEEEE
EREEBRESRZEENEZRER
HEMRBREZENANDERBERKIED -
FEBEREMNTEEEBRRE
THETHREMBUAZSEERN -FTEE
THAIEBABHESE T BELEERMN
BAHIRERER-

(3

R2024F3831H AEBB279%EE

(2022/23%FE : 2864 1RE) - AEERN
202324 FER A EHERE DN EBEH
T -

Year 2023/24
2023/24FE

Year 2022/23
2022/23%F E

By gender

¥R El o

- Male
B4

— Female

Eg 3

By employment type (Full time or Part time)
REFREREE S (X ERE
— Full time
2
— Part time

R

By age group

HEEAERE 2

— Under 30
305 AT

- 30-50
30E508%

— Above 50
5058 M

By geographical region
Pt 3B & g 3 5
- Hong Kong
BE
— The PRC
FE

217 (78%) 214 (75%)

62 (22%) 72 (25%)

235 (84%) 231 (81%)

44 (16%) 55 (19%)

29 (10%) 36 (13%)

155 (56%) 189 (66 %)

95 (34%) 61 (21%)

28 (10%) 29 (10%)

251 (90%) 257 (90%)
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IRIE - HERERRSE

The following table sets out the Group's employee turnover rate by
different categories for the Year 2023/24:

Employee turnover rate (Note 1)

BERKLLER (HisE—)

KERMR202324FERFTRERE 2B
BERKELLERTEHMT !

Year 2023/24
2023/24FE

Year 2022/23
2022/23%E

By gender

% RE D

- Male
St

— Female

pogis

By age group

HEE AR D

— Under 30
30 A F

- 30-50
30E505%

— Above 50
505 U £

By geographical region
i IR & i & 3
— Hong Kong
Y
— The PRC
e

Note 1: The employee turnover rate by different categories is calculated by dividing the
total number of employees lost in that group by the number of employees in
the corresponding group.

The Group offers competitive remuneration and employee benefits
to attract talents and implements a performance-based remuneration
system to motivate and reward employees to contribute to the
Group’s business growth. Employee remuneration is determined with
reference to performance and market benchmark. Salary levels are not
differentiated by gender. Salaries and benefits are in compliance with
local minimum wages or above. All employees are treated fairly and
equally, and their rights and interests are also protected.

The Group provides and maintains various statutory benefits for its
staff, such as mandatory provident fund, medical and work injury
insurance, sick leave, funeral leave and maternity leave, etc. It
regularly reviews remuneration package and career advancement
opportunities, particularly for key positions, to ensure continuing market
competitiveness.
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The Group establishes the objective basis of key qualities and
requirements for candidates in its hiring processing and assesses the
suitability of the candidate to avoid risks of discrimination or bias. Job
openings are also offered to all qualified employees with good work
records so as to promote career advancement of employees. Consistent
criteria are applied to assess both internal and external candidates
regardless of age, sex, race, nationality or physical disabilities to ensure
fair judgment and avoid any risk of favoritism or discrimination.

All work are reasonably assigned and should be performed voluntarily
by employees, and fair and reasonable working hours are arranged for
respective staff in accordance with various job needs. All employees
may resign upon reasonable notice and should not be dismissed for
unreasonable grounds.

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and other benefits and welfare
for the Year 2023/24. The Group strictly complies with local laws and
regulations relating to employment, such as the Labor Law of the
People’'s Republic of China and the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on Employment Contracts. In addition, there was no circumstance
of significant fines or sanctions as a result of non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations for the Year 2023/24.

Health and Safety

The Group's business includes the exploration and development of
geothermal resources and geothermal energy heating projects, which
mainly involve two types of hazards; one is the hazards or adverse
effects caused by natural factors, generally including earthquakes,
poor geology, high temperature in summer, low temperature in winter,
lightning strikes and other factors; and another one is the hazards
arising from the production process, including harmful dust and poison,
fire and explosion accidents, mechanical injuries and electrical injuries,
burn injuries due to high temperature, falling injuries and other factors.

To protect employees from the impacts of occupational hazards, the
Group requires that the project must be designed in accordance with
the "Hygienic Standards for the Design of Industrial Enterprises (GBZ
1-2010)" (TH PR EHEIFE)(GBZ 1-2010)) and the “Code
for Design of Industrial Heating, Ventilation and Air Conditioning (GB
50019-2015)" (T H#REBRE L= RPER TR ) (GB 50019-2015))
to prevent heatstroke. Measures such as heat insulation, ventilation, and
heating shall be adopted in accordance with the requirements of the
specification in the design to ensure a good working environment for
the operation, maintenance and production personnel.

IRIR HERERRSE
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IRIE - HERERRSE

The Group has also carried out the design of overvoltage protection
and grounding of equipment in accordance with the requirements of
the”Technical Regulations for Design of Overvoltage Protection for
Power Equipment” ((BNREBERRERTEMIRIE)) and the
“Technical Regulations for Grounding Design of Power Equipment” ({(&
TR E B R ST RMTARTE)), which include the design of anti-static
for outdoor equipment. Moreover, outdoor equipment such as pumps
and other equipment should be installed with lightning rods as direct
lightning overvoltage protection facilities.

In addition, the noise generated by the heat pump units and circulating
water pumps operating in the exploration and development of the
project may cause hearing damage to the staff. Therefore, the Group
provides effective personal protection measures for the staff working in
noisy operation positions and also requires them to wear ear plugs, ear
muffs, etc. while patrolling or operating, so as to minimize the exposure
to high intensity noise environment and reduce the damage to human
body as far as possible.

For the Year 2023/24, number and rate of work-related fatalities and
lost days due to work injury are set out as follow:

AEERTRRB(ENRBEEERERS
BRMRIE) KRB IR FHIFM R KM RIE)
NERETBERFREMNZMAORE > H
PEEEIINKENHFERS  BEIRK

BUNMAREEREBEH FRAERERE
B {RE R

tE5h > TE B B R e f 3 R E AT RV EASR 1 AR
MBERKREENRSIEEHBITEN
BAOBRE -HIL AEBRRSFERB
B TEABRMEEAE AL 75
BRI ET OB IRIER M AR E
E-HEF BRIV ESREREIRRE
THEE REHABHNLES-

FR2023/24FEE > AT ABURIET KL
RATIESEEANIERHEIENT :

Work-related fatalities Year 2023/24 Year 2022/23 Year 2021/22
FEIFET 2023/24F E 2022/23FE 2021/22FE
Number of work-related fatalities - - -
R TERIARMIETHIAE - - -
Rate of work-related fatalities (%) - - -
R TEREFRMETHLEE (%) S - -
Lost days due to work injury Year 2023/24 Year 2022/23
AITEELXTEEE 2023/245%FE 2022/23%E

Lost days due to work injury

EIGEEANIIFEH

For the Year 2023/24, there were no work-related accidents, therefore,
there were no lost days due to work injury and no work-related
fatalities.

For the Year 2023/24, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that has a significant
impact on providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards. The Group strictly complies with
the local laws and regulations relating to health and safety, such as
the “Safety Production Law of the People’'s Republic of China” ({F12E
ARHEMEAZZEEE)) and the “Regulation on Work-Related Injury
Insurances of the People’s Republic of China” ((FZEARELME T
REZMEHID) . In addition, there was no circumstance of significant fines
or sanctions as a result of non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations for the Year 2023/24.
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Development and Training

The Group encourages employees to attend appropriate training courses
to enhance their competence for performance improvement and career
development. They are also encouraged to attend appropriate external
job-related courses or to acquire higher professional qualification to
enhance their competence and performance. All new employees are
briefed by the department heads to ensure the employees are aware and
familiarize themselves with the Group's values and goals and to ensure
the employees understand their role in the Group. In the Year 2023/24,
the Group will also provide its employees with brief training on various
machine operation and safety management regulations during weekly
meetings, including but not limited to fire safety, emergency handling,
safe operation of electrical equipment, water (ground) source heat
pump system operating procedures, etc.

IRIR HERERRSE

2 R B

AEEFBET2NEGBENENZRRE 8
ARBRUNERBEZEZED - AEBETR
BRETSLHESENIIN T/EARBRE
RESESMNEEER  BAHENIRE
Me-FMTEHMESHEDMEE ABRURE
REEMEBRAMNMAEENEBEREE
ZHORREETHRANAEENES P
202324F B> AERRSHEETH R
TEHEEERHBEEINISIEHKEIRE
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EEEMHEIE BRRETDIRIE K )
BRARAFIRIEREZSE

Year 2023/24
2023/24FE

Year 2022/23
2022/23%E

Average training hours per employee (hours)

SREE TR (B

Average training hours employees completed by gender
BRI DB EE T MR
- Male (hours)
St UNE)
— Female (hours)

Lt ONE)

Average training hours employees completed by employee category
REEEFB D HES FI9THZIIFH
— Senior Staff (hours)
SE3UNS)
— Middle Staff (hours)
FRAR UNEF)
— Junior Staff (hours)

AR CNBF)

Percentage of employees trained (Note 7)

RillEEB AL (W57 —)

Percentage of employees trained by gender (Note 2)
BENBSHNZIEET AL W)
- Male
B
— Female

pq i3

Percentage of employees trained by employee category (Note 2)
BESHENAPNZIRET O W)
— Senior Staff
= AR
— Middle Staff
4R
— Junior Staff
4R

136 11

142 11

115 11

135 13

140 9

84% 59%

81% 78%

19% 22%

8% 1%
25% 28%

67% 61%
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IRIE - HERERRSE

Note 1: Percentage of employees trained is calculated by dividing the number of
trained employees by the number of employees.

Note 2: Percentage of employees trained by employee category is calculated by
dividing the number of employees trained in that category by the number of
trained employees.

Labor Standards

The Group reviews its employment practice and the Group’s guidelines
on staff recruitment from time to time to ensure that it is in full
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations on the prevention of
child labor and forced labor in the PRC and Hong Kong.

The Group adopted stringent requirements in selecting employees. We
require job applicants to provide information such as identity cards,
proof of highest academic qualifications, professional certificates and
proof of separation from previous employment for identity verification
during recruitment. In the event that child labor or forced labor is
employed within the Group in violation of regulations, the Group will
immediately terminate the labor contract and, after identifying the
reasons, impose appropriate penalties on the non-compliant employees.

For the Year 2023/24, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance of the laws and regulations relating to the prevention of
child labor or forced labor. The Group strictly complies with the local
laws and regulations related to labor standards, such as the Labor Law
of the People’s Republic of China and the Provisions on Prohibition of
Child Labor. In addition, there was no circumstance of significant fines
or sanctions as a result of non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations for the Year 2023/24.

Supply Chain Management

The Group has established internal control procedures for the selection
of suppliers. The Group requires that: (i) environmental certificates
shall be verified before the shortlisting of suppliers and environmental
ratings shall be approved by professionals; (i) only those suppliers who
have been shortlisted in the resource pool are allowed to participate
in the bidding process; (iii) during the bidding process, assuming that
all suppliers meet the technical requirements, the expert panel shall
rate their environmental ratings and environmental solutions, with
the supplier with the highest rating being the preferred supplier and
the supplier with the second highest rating being its reserve supplier
(selected only if the preferred supplier waives to continue to perform the
bid).
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“Energy saving and environmental protection” is our highlight in
rendering services and selling products, which also echoes with the
environmental protection concept of our customers. Therefore, the
Group will give priority to those suppliers with eco-friendly products
to differentiate our products from those of other competitors, so as to
achieve differentiated marketing.

While the Group has established good relationships with its suppliers,
the Group also offers equal opportunity to all potential business
partners. Selection criteria such as quality and price of products,
supplier's reputation, background and experience are key factors to
the Group's procurement decisions. Furthermore, the Group expects its
suppliers to strictly comply with relevant laws and regulations.

For the Year 2023/24, the number of suppliers by geographical region is
as follows:

Geographical region
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Product Responsibility EmEE

The Group is responsible for its products and services and does not
engage in unfair business activities of any kind. Fraud, misleading
information, or any acts that destroy customer confidence or infringe
customer rights are strictly prohibited. The Group has also strictly
complied with relevant products and services related regulations.

For the commodity trading business, the Group has established
procedures for the recycling of products. After recycling, the Group tests
the products for environmental attributes and assesses whether the
products meet the future technical conditions for recycling purposes as
far as possible. For the Year 2023/24, the Group has not received any
products subject to recycling for safety and health reasons from our
customers.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIE - HERERRSE

For customers’ complaints, the Group will conduct corresponding
follow-up procedures in accordance with internal procedures and
guidelines. Upon receiving a customer’s complaint, we will promptly
contact the customer to understand the cause and discuss the solution
with the customer, conduct on-site and telephone communication
for preliminary resolution of the customer’s request and take relevant
investigation accordingly. In addition, we will carry out technical updates
or renovations based on environmental conditions for problems that
arise. The Group believes that the complaint is a valuable opportunity
for it to obtain feedback from the community and customers, so as to
identify the need for service and policy improvement. The Group has
not received any complaint about its products and services for the Year
2023/24.

The Company's data protection and privacy policy is that while
collecting, processing and using personal data of the Group's customers
in its financial service sector, appropriate measures are taken to protect
such data from unauthorized access and abuse. Personal data is
collected only for lawful and relevant purposes. Employment contracts
stipulate employees’ duty in safeguarding confidential or sensitive
information that they have had access to during their employment.

The Group is committed to protecting intellectual property rights which
are of great importance to its business. The Group has developed
a method for the management of computer software copyrights to
strictly regulate its copyright application procedures. The Group has also
established a copyright list to record information such as application
numbers, application dates and deadlines of its software copyrights.

For the Year 2023/24, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the laws and regulations relating to the health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to the products
and methods of redemption. The Group strictly abides by the local laws
and regulations related to product liability, such as the Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance, the Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China and the
Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China. In addition, no significant
fines or sanctions have been reported for the Year 2023/24.

Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to uphold high standards on anti-corruption.
Adequate guidelines are implemented to ensure that all employees
(including directors) adhere to high standards of business and
professional and ethical conduct. All employees are encouraged to raise
any related concerns to the senior management in a strictly confidential
manner. Any matters of genuine concern are to be thoroughly
investigated and actions will be taken accordingly.

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2023/24
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

For the Year 2023/24, the Group provides its directors, senior
management members and relevant employees with training packages
for directors and professionals prepared by the Independent Commission
Against Corruption (ICAC). The training packages cover the corruption
risks faced by directors, senior management and professionals of a
company during the preparation for listing, ordinary business operation
and takeovers and mergers, and dissect issues such as corruption, fraud,
conflicts of interest, cross-border bribery, backdoor listing and insider
trading.

To the best knowledge of the Company, the Group has been compliant
with all relevant anti-money laundering laws. The risk of establishing
relationships with individuals or organizations engaged in money
laundering or terrorism activities is minimized by implementing “know
your customer” and assessment processes. The Group has robust
internal control procedures in place to provide reasonable assurance
against fraud. For the Year 2023/24, the Group has not been involved in
any corruption lawsuits.

The Group holds the license or approval required to provide money
lending services, finance leasing services and regulated activities under
the Securities and Futures Ordinance. The management supports a
culture of integrity, zero tolerance for bribery and ensures that business
is conducted in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.

For the Year 2023/24, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the laws and regulations relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering. The Group strictly abides by the local laws
and regulations related to anti-corruption, such as the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance, the Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China
and the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China.
In addition, no significant fines or sanctions have been reported for the
Year 2023/24.

Community Investment

The Group is fully aware of the importance of interacting with the
wider community in fulfilling corporate social responsibility and has
been eager to take initiatives in making cash donations to charitable
organizations and supporting the events organized by local communities
and neighbors.

For the Year 2023/24, the Group participated in the “Lai See Reuse and
Recycle Program 2024" organized by Greeners Action to promote the
awareness of recycling and reducing the consumption of resources.

The Group would explore the possibility of finding suitable partners
and make contributions to community and environmental protection
programs that facilitate positive changes. The Group would also, from
time to time, encourage its staff to support community service activities.

IRIR HERERRSE

2202324 FE - AEBAEEE R

EE%E&*E%EEITEMEE)%W@%%T’E
Eﬁ%%&ﬁ%)\itﬁéﬂl%&ﬁ EBIIHME
FREATDEE SHEBAEBREEA
THREXEFEETHB - ABDEXEFHEE
ﬂE)S’leﬁzﬁ%,\:.{#fff%éﬁﬁﬁ@%m%iﬁﬂ
“”’Iﬁ|J$ﬁEE§,%/§ |:|,‘|E %U é]j’t Lu|:7k
IREARE ~ %:ﬁtaﬂiv\n% e

BARABRN AEBEBERA R
BRIER AR B THREL ) KT ERE
FFrRARERBRARETEIDMESE
EEME A AEBEIIRBFREN R ARE
EHREERENAIZEHNER RESEDN
REVEEIREE o 1R2023/24F E » AEE L E
= e CI=Dar /N

rEERARERERS REBERS
RBHFERAEHRPIIE TR EEEFIAN
SFRIEE S E - BEE (5 ~ BERRRTT
REBIBHNE LRFRRBEEN LR
ERARER

F22023/24F E » RE B R F B LE
B SR UFER AR AN AR E
HEEXANERERBR AEBBRE
TFERESHERNM A EERER WEHLE
FERSIEA ) ~ (hE AR HEFMBERE D K (F
= N RHME &L o tbSh > 522023/24
FENPARERERBIRNHHNIE R

HERE

AEBEDERNBTEECGEERHA
FPAMAEBEFHNEZE  TARKRENE
HBEMEBEMUR T E ML & R E Y

= n il

EE) e

7R202324FE > REBEZE T HARBITH
B TR 2 EIWERKTH12024 1 0 U
REREEREBA G RLEAERNER -

AERBRANESBENGEBHIAEE
Mo At & R e R IR E LAV IRIR (R &
STEIFHBER - A EB TR ARREEE
IXFHERBEES -

EFEEEZERERAT 2023/24F 3R

59



60

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EFREREEEREFS

Executive Directors

Ms. Wang Yingqian (Chairman), aged 60, has been appointed as non-
executive director of the Company since June 2018 and redesignated
as executive director since October 2019. She holds a bachelor degree
of Economics from Renmin University of China (FEIAR KE)and a
qualification of intermediate economist issued by Ministry of Personnel
of the PRC (FZEARFEFEAZESR). Ms. Wang worked in Industrial
and Commercial Bank of China Beijing Municipal Branch (/B & iR1T
1R ™ 247) from 1985 to 2006 and was the deputy general manager
of its corporate banking department from 2005 to 2006. She worked
in Bank of Communications Beijing Municipal Branch (3Z@R17l6 =™
317) from 2006 to 2016 and served as its vice president from 2010 to
2013 and was a director of Bank of Communications Financial Leasing
Co., Ltd. (RIREMEEBRE(EAF) from 2010 to 2012. For the
period from April 2017 to March 2019, Ms. Wang was an executive
director of Noble Century Investment Holdings Limited (currently known
as Hong Kong Chaoshang Group Limited), a company listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2322). For the period
from March 2016 to January 2020, she was the supervisor of Fortunes
United International Leasing Co., Ltd. (BH#cBEEMEHEEERA
&), a company established in the PRC. She has also been appointed
as (i) an independent director of ABC Life Insurance Co., Ltd, a
subsidiary of Agricultural Bank of China Limited (stock code: 1288) since
March 2018, (i) an independent director of Bloomage Biotechnology
Corporation Limited since March 2019, the shares of which has been
listed on the Science and Technology Innovation Board of the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 688363) since November 2019, and (iii) an
independent director of Huatai Securities (Shanghai) Asset Management
Co., Ltd.* GEZRES (BB EESHEARAT) since December 2022.
Ms. Wang has over 30 years of experience in the commercial banking
industry and have extensive experience in project management and
financing.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Qin lJie (Chief Executive Officer), aged 57, has been appointed
as executive director since January 2020. He graduated from Beijing
University of Civil Engineering and Architecture* (JEREHE KX
2) (formerly known as Beijing Institute of Architecture and Civil
Engineering* (b REE TR L)) with a bachelor’s degree in
engineering in 1990 and obtained the qualification of senior engineer
in December 2000. Mr. Qin has nearly 30 years of experience in the
real estate construction management industry. He served as the chief
engineer of COSCO Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.* (FRizE#
EREARAT) (stock code: 3377) (currently known as Sino-Ocean
Group Holding Limited (Z¥EBZERABERAT)), which has been
listed on the Stock Exchange since 2007, from 2002 to 2004. He was
the project general manager, general manager of the intercity company
and regional deputy general manager of the eastern China in Neo-
China Group (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 563) (currently known as
Shanghai Industrial Urban Development Group Limited (755 2£ 15 /5 B
BEEBEABMR/AT)), which has been listed on the Stock Exchange since
1993, from 2004 to 2009. He was also the general manager of the
Beijing company and the Shijiazhuang company in Dalian Wanda Group
Co., Ltd.* (KEBEEBERMHBRAE)from 2009 to 2011, and the
president of Newbeacon Group Limited* (i E gl EEARAQE) from
2014 to 2017. Mr. Qin is also the general manager and/or director of
several subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Fan lJie, aged 49, has been appointed as executive director of
the Company since January 2017. He holds a Master's Degree in
Business Administration in Tsinghua University School of Economics
and Management and a Bachelor’'s Degree in International Economic
in Renmin University of China. Mr. Fan has over 20 years of experience
in strategic marketing and project management. He had been with
Zhongrong International Trust Co., Ltd* (FREREIPRE5E A RAE)) as the
Managing Director of the Trust and Investment Department from 2014
to 2022. Mr. Fan was a corporate partner and the vice president of the
Strategic Marketing Division of Adfaith Management Consulting Inc*
(CRERHREEEREHBRAE) from 2009 to 2014 and an
assistant to the general manager for medical business in an enterprise
located in Jiangxi Province, the PRC, from 2003 to 2005. In 2000 to
2002, he was appointed as the sales and distribution officer of the
Department of Medical System of an international conglomerate. Prior
to 2000, he worked as a marketing leader in the Nanchang Office of a
renowned food and beverage company for about three years. Currently,
Mr. Fan is the Managing Director of the Strategic Development
Department of the Group and the director of several subsidiaries of the
Company.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EFREREEEREFS

Mr. Li Haitao, aged 51, has been appointed as executive director of the
Company since December 2021. He graduated from Renmin University
of China in 1997 and majored in international finance. Mr. Li has over
20 years of experience in real estate development industry, specializing
in real estate policies analysis, land development, project management
and team building. He has successively held various management
positions since he formally entered the industry in 1997, including the
deputy general manager of Beijing Kehua Hongye Real Estate Co., Ltd.*
(ERFIFEBEEME AT from 2000 to 2003; the general manager
of the project development department of Beijing New Shine Investment
Group Company Limited* (JEEFMIRNIEEEBBRAE) from 2003
to 2007; the deputy general manager of project development of Yihai
Group from 2007 to 2009; the deputy general manager of Beijing
company of Beijing Changdao Xingye Real Estate Co., Ltd.* Gt RS
EEEMERZARAE)from 2010 to 2012; and the deputy general
manager of Beijing Taihe Jiayuan Real Estate Co., Ltd.* QR K& =E
EEREAREEAE)from 2012 to 2019. Mr. Li joined the Group
in 2019 and is responsible for the operation of several subsidiaries
of the Company. Currently, Mr. Li is also the general manager and/or
director of several subsidiaries of the Company.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Tonghui, aged 61, has been appointed as independent non-
executive director of the Company since April 2016. He obtained a
bachelor’s degree in international politics and a master degree in
international relations from Tokyo International University in 1995
and 1997 respectively. He has over 20 years of extensive experience
in investment activities and business management. During the period
between 1997 to 1998, he served as the representative of Nippon
Howaito Cooperation* (HZ8 H &% &%) in China. He had been
working as the deputy general manager in each of Shouchuang Longji
Company Limited* (ERIBEERMKHBRAE) from 1998 to 2004 and
Huajian Dongfang Software Company Limited* (EREHHEERSE
{E/AF]) from 2005 to 2008, respectively. He was the general manager
of Tangshan Haigang Xingerui Company Limited* (B /8B #HRIHAE
FEEE/AF) from 2009 to January 2019 and the assistant president of
Unisplendour Corporation Limited * (828R {H B RAF) from 2012 to
June 2019, which is listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code:
000938). Since June 2019, he has been appointed as the executive
director of Qingkong Technology Services (Shenzhen) Company Limited*

(BEREMRE (RYI) BRAT).
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Ms. Yin Meiqun, aged 53, has been appointed as independent non-
executive director of the Company since December 2021. She graduated
from Shenyang University of Technology with a bachelor’s degree in
accounting in 1993 and obtained a master's degree in management
science and engineering from Harbin University of Science and
Technology in 2001 and a doctor’s degree in accounting from Renmin
University of China in 2005. She is a PRC certified public accountant,
a council member of the Accounting Society of China, a member
of the Accounting Education Committee of the Accounting Society
of China and a member of the Expert Committee on Management
Accounting of China* (FEBIEEHEREZET). She had served
as a representative of the Beijing Municipal People’s Congress since
November 2017 and this appointment ceased upon the end of tenure
in January 2022. Ms. Yin has nearly 30 years’ experience of teaching in
colleges. From July 1993 to June 2007, she taught at Harbin University
of Science and Technology. From July 2007 to August 2021, she taught
at Beijing International Studies University and successively served as
the finance director, auditing director of the university and the dean
of School of Business. She was re-designated to China University of
Political Science and Law in September 2021 and currently is the deputy
dean, a professor and a doctoral supervisor of its School of Business.
She was serving as an independent director of (i) Beijing Life Insurance
Co., Ltd. from March 2018 to March 2024 and (ii) Shanggiu Ding Feng
Wood Co., Ltd.* (BEHREARERNDERAT) (@ company listed on
National Equities Exchange and Quotations (also known as the New
Third Board), stock code: 873459) from May 2021 to May 2024. In
addition, Ms. Yin has been appointed as an independent director of
(i) Shandong Chenming Paper Holdings Limited (a company listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange and Shenzhen Stock Exchange
respectively, stock code: 1812 and 488) since June 2019 and (ii) China
Testing & Certification International Group Co., Ltd. (a company listed
on the main board of the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code:
603060) since March 2024.
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EFREREEEREFS

Mr. Ye Jianmu, aged 56, has been appointed as independent non-
executive director of the Company since October 2022. He graduated
from China University of Geosciences, Wuhan with a bachelor’s
degree in Industrial Management and Engineering in 1992 and
obtained a master’s degree in Engineering in 1996 and a doctor’s
degree in Management Science and Engineering in 2003 from Wuhan
University of Technology. Mr. Ye has been teaching in the School of
Management of Wuhan University of Technology since July 2003 and
currently is a professor of the Finance and Accounting Faculty and a
doctoral supervisor. He is an expert reviewer in various science projects
conducted by government bodies, including the National Natural
Science Foundation of China* (B BEARIE2E %), the National
Social Science Fund of China* (IRt &R E2EE)and The Ministry
of Education of Humanities and Social Science Project* (A& ZF A X1t
FIEHE). Mr. Ye is also a council member of the Accounting Society of
Wuhan City* (F2m 252 E). From April 2012 to March 2014, Mr.
Ye was an independent director of Hubei Hongcheng General Machinery
Co., Ltd.* GHIb i@ B i B& 15 B FR2A 8)) (currently known as Hubei
Jumpcan Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* GHILEIZE£ RSB BRAE), a
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 600566).
Since December 2021, Mr. Ye has appointed as independent director
of Wuhan Changli New Material Technology Co., Ltd.* (B2 EF)#
MR IR B BRAE), which is in process of application for initial
public offering on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. He has also appointed
as independent director of Shanghai Baolong Automotive Technology
Co., Ltd.* (LBRESERERMHBRALAE), a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 603197), since December 2022.

Senior Management

Mr. Ho Yu, aged 49, has been appointed as the company secretary and
chief financial officer of the Company since May 2013. Mr. Ho received
a master’s degree of Accounting from Curtin University of Technology,
Australia. Mr. Ho is an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Ho
was the company secretary and/or financial controller for two companies
listed on the Stock Exchange.
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The directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 45 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 83 of the annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Particulars of a discussion and analysis on the activities specified in
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of Hong
Kong), including a fair review of the Group's business, a discussion on
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, particulars of
important events affecting the Company that have occurred since the
end of the financial period and future development in the Company’s
business and analysis using financial key performance indicators, are
set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Message”, “Management
Discussion and Analysis”, “Corporate Governance Report” and
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” in this annual report.
The above sections form an integral part of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The environmental policies and performance of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2024 are set out in the section headed “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” of this annual report.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognizes that employees, customers and suppliers are keys
to its sustainable growth and development. The Group is committed to
establishing a close and caring relationship with its employees, providing
quality services to its customers and enhancing cooperation with its
suppliers.
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Employees

Employees are crucial assets of the Group. The Group strives to
enhance employees’ sense of belonging and loyalty to the Group. The
Group provides a fair, healthy and safe workplace, promotes diversity,
provides competitive remuneration and benefits and career development
opportunities based on their merits and performance. The Group
also aims to commit resources to providing employment training and
development opportunities so that they can keep abreast of the latest
development of the market and the industry and, at the same time,
improve their skills and performance in their respective positions and
build up confidence and self-esteem. The Group also values and is open
to receiving feedback from employees with an aim to foster a good and
long-lasting relationship.

Customers

The Group understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with customers and provide products and services in a
way that satisfy needs and requirements of the customers. The Group
strives to enhance the relationship with customers by continuous
interaction and communication with customers so that the Group can
respond proactively to cater for customers’ needs. The Group has also
established procedures in place for handling customers’ complaints to
ensure customers’ complaints are dealt with in a prompt and timely
manner. During the year under review, the Group has maintained good
relationship with its customers.

Suppliers

The Group is also dedicated to developing a good relationship with
suppliers and contractors as long-term business partners to ensure
stability of the Group's business. The Group reinforces business
partnerships with suppliers and contractors by ongoing communication
in a proactive and effective manner so as to ensure quality and timely
delivery. During the year under review, the Group has worked closely
with its suppliers and maintained good relationships with them.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda and therefore the Company
is subject to relevant laws and regulations in Bermuda. In addition, the
Company is registered as a non-Hong Kong Company under Part 16
of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of Hong Kong) and
therefore is subject to the relevant provisions under the Companies
Ordinance.

The Company is listed on the Stock Exchange and therefore the

Company is subject to the governance of the Listing Rules including the
disclosure requirements and corporate governance provisions therein.
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Under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO"), the Company is
required to maintain a register of interests in shares and short positions
and a register of directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short
positions and is obliged to disclose price sensitive or inside information.

The Group is principally engaged in (i) trading of goods, (ii) the finance
leasing business, (iii) the money lending business, (iv) the securities and
futures dealing and related consultancy services, (v) property investment,
(vi) the property brokerage business, (vii) the building architecture and
interior design business and data analytical business, (viii) the project
management business, (ix) the geothermal energy business, (x) the
building construction contracting business, and (xi) centralised heating
business, in Hong Kong and the PRC, and therefore is subject to the
relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong and the PRC where the
Group entities are carrying on businesses.

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has
complied in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group.
During the year, there was no material breach of or non-compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’'s securities during the year ended 31
March 2024 (2023: Nil).

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2024, in the opinion of the directors, the Company had
no reserves available for distribution to shareholders (2023: Nil).
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Ms. Wang Yingqian (Chairman)
Mr. Qin Jie (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Fan Jie
Mr. Li Haitao
Ms. Tao Lei
(resigned on 11 March 2024)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Tonghui
Ms. Yin Meiqun
Mr. Ye Jianmu

In accordance with Bye-law 84(1) of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Qin
Jie, Mr. Liu Tonghui and Ms. Yin Meiqun shall retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the annual general meeting.

None of the directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has any service contract which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Each of the directors has entered into a service contract or a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years, which can
be terminated by not less than three months’ or one month’s notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
directors, an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the
independent non-executive directors are still independent.

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2023/24

£
ENREEAREZAZAADNES
mF

HITES

FTRTYLL FEHE
BNTE ((TEAEE)
BypSLE
FEERE
MER LT

(R = puE=H+—HEFET)

BIIERITES

B ESRE
FEBEUL
RRASLE

BBARB Z A EMBIE84(N)IF > TN
E PR ERFERLTARBEER
RBEFARE LRE - ENGERLNKRER
BEARELIREEEET-

BENEBERRBEARE LEEZSSEH
B UEAR—FERATEBRFLHEE

CEERBERIN 2B R THEAEEKLL
ZRBEH

REFERARAGFIURP=FZRFHE
MABER TAIHEF—FE5— 7%
ERDR=ZEAN—EAEEBEN T MU
ko

AATEWAZLBUFATESTREL
MRAEIBEREBULMEMBHZFE
B - AABDRSERBUIFATES
BB AL



DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the directors
and chief executives and their associates in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company and its associated corporations as recorded in
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

Long position in shares of the Company
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Percentage of

the issued
share capital

Capacity Interest in shares of the Company

ERAT BT

515 B 15 #E = e

(Note)

Name of director EEN4A (P %)

Mr. Liu Tonghui B rE it Beneficial owner 12,200,000 0.58%
BHEAA

Mr. Qin Jie BRKE Beneficial owner 8,400,000 0.40%
BB A

Mr. Li Haitao EEERE Beneficial owner 3,000,000 0.14%
BB A

Note: The percentage is calculated on basis of 2,091,500,991 shares of the Company in
issue as at 31 March 2024.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the directors
and chief executives, nor their associates, had any interests or short
positions in any shares and underlying shares of the Company or any of
its associated corporations.
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SHARE OPTIONS

The 2021 Share Option Scheme was adopted pursuant to a resolution
on 1 September 2021 (the “Adoption Date”) and took effect from 2
September 2021 (the “Effective Date”). The purposes of the 2021 Share
Option Scheme are to attract and retain the best available personnel
and to provide additional incentives or rewards to employees, directors,
consultants, business associates and advisers of the Group for their
contribution to the Group and to promote its success. The 2021 Share
Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years
commencing on the Effective Date.

Eligible participants of the 2021 Share Option Scheme include the
following persons:

(@) any employee or proposed employee (whether full time or part
time) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any entity in which
any member of the Group holds any equity interest;

(b) any directors, non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any
entity in which any member of the Group holds any equity interest;

(c) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or
any entity in which any member of the Group holds any equity
interest;

(d) any person or entity that provides research, development or other
technological support to the Group or any entity in which any
member of the Group holds any equity interest;

(e) any shareholder of or holder of any securities issued by any
member of the Group or any entity in which any member of the
Group holds any equity interest; and

(f)  any other group or classes of persons or entities from time to time
determined by the Board as having contributed or may contribute
to by way of joint venture, business alliances or other business
arrangements to the development and growth of the Group.
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The total number of shares of the Company available for issue under the
2021 Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the issued share capital of
the Company as at the Adoption Date, representing 152,528,493 shares
of the Company (the “Scheme Mandate Limit") or the date of refreshing
the Scheme Mandate Limit approved by shareholders of the Company in
general meeting. The maximum number of shares issuable upon exercise
of the options which may be granted under the 2021 Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group (including
both exercised and outstanding options) to each participant (other than
a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director as
explained below) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
shares of the Company in issue from time to time. Any further grant of
share options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval
in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company or any of their associates, are subject to
approval by the independent non-executive directors of the Company
(excluding any independent non-executive director who is the grantee
of the options). Where any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the Company,
or to any of their respective associates (as defined under the Listing
Rules) would result in the Company's shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options already granted and to be granted
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such
person(s) in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such
grant (a) representing in aggregate over 0.10 per cent of the Company’s
shares in issue; and (b) having an aggregate value, based on the closing
price of the Company’s shares at the date of each grant, in excess of
HK$5 million, such further grant of options is subject to approval by the
shareholders of the Company in compliance with the Listing Rules.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted in writing by a
participant within 21 days from the date of offer upon payment of a
nominal consideration of HK$1 by the grantee. The exercise period for
the share options granted is determined by the Board, which period
shall not be more than 10 years from the date of grant.
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The amount payable of each share to be subscribed for under an option
in the event of the option being exercised shall be determined by the
Board in its absolute discretion and must be at least the higher of:

(i)  the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant (which must be a
business day);

(i) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(iii) the nominal value of the shares.

The following table discloses movements of the share options under the
2021 Share Option Scheme during the year:

REREETENERT  REBRER
BHEREROHNENSEREFRHZED
FEE BARTIIRSE

(i) ROFXBLBAH WERKEXH) T8
P HRERFMIIBKHE ;

(i) ROREBEZEB/EOHMAEEEERE
WX ERRERMIINFHWS
E4

iy RIVEE-

TERRE_T - -—FRERESEETER
BRERZEE) !

Adjustment
for the effect
of the Rights
Adjusted  Outstanding Issue in Granted Exercised  Forfeited/ Outstanding
exercise price asat  September during during Lapsed during as at
Date of grant Exercisable period (HKS per share) 1.4.2023 2023 the year the year the year 31.3.2024
RIBZZE RIFZZ el 153
LARAER mE—-B ABRHR FA® =ZB=+-H
BiAH 718 (BRRHET) WA HEZEE  ERABHEY  EREBAE  BR/AH HRTE
Employees (Note (ii)) 28.4.2022 28.4.2022 to 27.4.2028 (Note (i) 0.7194* 30,000,000 3,361,134 - - - 33,361,134
&8 (i) IEICE ZZ__EMAZHNAE
mAZ+NE ZECN\EMAZHA (EK)
Consultants
e
Wang Chunyang 28.4.2022 28.4.2022 t0 27.4.2028 (Note(i)) 0.7194* 5,000,000 560,189 > - - 5,560,189
155 kSt -3 “B_"EMAZ+N\BE
mAZ+N\H ZED\EMAZHA ()
Liu Xiaobin 28.4.2022 28.4.2022 t0 27.4.2028 (Note(i)) 0.7194* 10,000,000 1,120,379 - - - 11,120,379
Eil27 ECCE “B_CEMAZHN\BE
mEZ+\H D N\ERBZCE ()
Lv Zhuo 28.4.2022 28.4.2022 t0 27.4.2028 (Note(i)) 0.7194* 15,000,000 1,680,567 = - (16,680,567) -
BE ZEICE B FMACHNBE
mAZ+NE ZET\EMAZHA (M)
Chen Jiang 28.4.2022 28.4.2022 to 27.4.2028 (Note(i)) 0.7194* 15,000,000 1,680,567 - - (16,680,567) -
B IEICE “E_FMAZHN\HE
mAZ+NR “2ZN\EMAZHEA (M)
Anli Financial 28.4.2022 28.4.2022 t0 27.4.2028 (Note(i)) 0.7194* 15,000,000 1,680,567 - - (16,680,567) -
Communications
Limited
ZEMABABRAT —B-CF “Z_"FMAZHN\BE
ME=+/\A R N\ERBZCH ()
Total 90,000,000 10,083,403 - - (50,041,701) 50,041,702
st
* The exercise price has been adjusted to reflect the effect of the Rights Issue in & THEEBELKAE  UKMRN _SE-_=F LB 2

September 2023.
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Notes:

(i) Subject to the Board's absolute discretion to change the vesting period of the
share options granted to the relevant employees in the event of termination of
employment of the relevant employees, every 20% of the share options granted
to and accepted by the relevant employees and consultants shall be vested on
each anniversary of the date of grant until such share options are fully vested.

(i) No individual employee was granted share options in excess of the 1% individual
limit under the 2021 Share Option Scheme.

(iii) ~ During the year, no options were granted under the 2021 Share Option Scheme.
The number of share options available for grant under the Scheme Mandate Limit
remained 62,528,493 as at 1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the usual
course of business are set out in note 44 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group in this annual report. None of the related
party transactions constituted discloseable non-exempted connected
transaction or non-exempted continuing connected transaction under
the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance, to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, was a party and in which a director
of the Company or an entity connected with a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, none of the directors of the
Company had any interest in any business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2024.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the following
persons other than the directors or chief executive of the Company,
in the Company’s shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company
pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and which have
been recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO, were as follow:

FTERRZRMGER RN KRG
7%

ATE_OME=ZB=+—H ' UTFEHEA
T (ERBEFHEETHABRRIN R
NERD T HEEREZSERPEEAEXY
EE2/ B3N BB AN T IREL E L
MREARNBIREBEZEHRBPEEGFE3361EEF
BEERMzEREREWT

Percentage of
the Company'’s issued

Name Capacity Interest in shares share capital
ERATEET
L2 1% R 5t i RABSLE
(Note 4)
(Miza)
Li Meng Zhe (Note 1) Interest in a controlled corporation 537,980,154 25.72%
Li Meng Zhe (Fi#3E1) REGINE R
Max Kensho Capital Group Limited Interest in a controlled corporation 537,980,154 25.72%
("Max Kensho Capital”) (Note 1)
Max Kensho Capital Group Limited TEGIAB R
(TMax Kensho Capital J) (M#3£1)
South Leader Limited (“South Leader”) Beneficial owner 537,980,154 25.72%
(Note 1)
South Leader Limited (I South Leader J) BHEEBA
(fiiEE1)
Wang Baoning (Note 2) Interest in a controlled corporation 244,296,000 11.68%
THRE (Mst2) REGABELE
Sunbow Int'l Enterprise Limited (“Sunbow”)  Beneficial owner 244,296,000 11.68%
(Note 2)
Sunbow Int'l Enterprise Limited (TSunbow ) B@m#EA A
(fiyzE2)
Yeung Yat Ping (Note 3) Interest in a controlled corporation 124,305,000 5.94%
tB—5 (fEE3) REGIABER
Ping Pacific Limited (“Ping Pacific”) Beneficial owner 124,305,000 5.94%
(Note 3)
Ping Pacific Limited (M Ping Pacific J) BHEEBA
(PiF=E3)
Notes: FHE -

(1) 537,980,154 shares are held by South Leader, which is wholly-owned by Max
Kensho Capital. As Mr. Li Meng Zhe has the 100% shareholding in Max Kensho
Capital, by virtue of the SFO, he and Max Kensho Capital are deemed to be
interested in all the shares beneficially held by South Leader.
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(2) 244,296,000 shares are held by Sunbow. As Mr. Wang Baoning has the 100%
shareholding in Sunbow, by virtue of the SFO, he is deemed to be interested in all
the shares beneficially held by Sunbow.

(3) 124,305,000 shares are held by Ping Pacific. As Mr. Yeung Yat Ping has the 100%
shareholding in Ping Pacific, by virtue of the SFO, he is deemed to be interested in
all the shares beneficially held by Ping Pacific.

(4)  The percentage is calculated on the basis of 2,091,500,991 shares of the
Company in issue as at 31 March 2024.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of any
other relevant interests or short position in the issued share capital of
the Company as at 31 March 2024.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during the
year is as follows:

Directors’ Report
EERRE

(2) 244,296,000 8% 15 HSunbowiFH - HN ERE
SeEBEASUNbow 2 100% IR IR BB H RIS
&) > AR EFSunbow B T 5 A MR A R 15
AR o

(3)  124,305,0008% &1 FAPing PacifickiA - AR 15—
B HEAPIng Pacificz100% A1 » IRIEEH K
HE GG BWRIERPing PacificB & IFARIFT
BRGOPERER

(4) B\BLALEIEBRAADR-_Z_MNE=B=+—HZ
BE1782152,091,500,991 )8 A E#E+H o

BEXFREEN RS _mE=H
=+—B A ABURNERAAFDH
TRAZEMEMAMmRERNE
FERRRMER

FRNARIETF BB ERH
ERMFBRZENIRIEIAT

Percentage of the Group'’s total

LAEEMBENTGALL
Purchases Sales
RS HELE
The largest customer BRAKR = 22%
Five largest customers in aggregate AAKPEGE - 58%
The largest supplier BRAMER 12% =
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AARMEFES 44% =

At no time during the year, have the directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which, to the knowledge of the directors,
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in
these major customers and suppliers.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's Bye-
laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

REREAER ZAATDES HBEAL
ERARR GLEEFMANBEAE AT RAEB
B5%E) MEEALETEZRRERERD
Z AR o

BiEER
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AABBELAARERESEHR B
SR E AR E o
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Directors’ Report
EFRKSE

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient
public float throughout the year ended 31 March 2024 and as at the
latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for director’s
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its directors and
senior management arising out of corporate activities. The permitted
indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the directors as required
by section 470 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of
Hong Kong) when the report of the directors is approved in accordance
with section 391(1)(a) of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws
of Hong Kong).

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2024 have been audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, the auditors
of the Company, who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Qin Jie

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Hong Kong, 27 June 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report

b ;L

ZHONGHUI

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA BEST GROUP HOLDING LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Best Group Holding Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 83 to 226,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 March
2024, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year ended 31 March 2024 in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS OF OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B EMER S

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 3 to the consolidated financial statements
which mentions that the Group incurred a loss attributable to owners
of the Company of approximately HK$131,062,000 for the year ended
31 March 2024. Further, the Group had not repaid trust loans of
approximately HK$216,389,000 and accrued interests of approximately
HK$28,644,000 thereon upon maturity on or before 31 March 2024
while it is still negotiating with lender for extension of loan period as
described in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements. These
circumstances along with situation as set forth in note 3, indicate the
existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matters described
in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we have
determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to
be communicated in our report.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Goodwill

Refer to Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group tested the amount of goodwill for impairment. This
impairment test is significant to our audit because the balance
of goodwill of approximately HK$249,374,000 as at 31 March
2024 and the impairment loss on goodwill for the year ended
31 March 2024 of approximately HK$2,403,000 are material to
the consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s
impairment test involves application of judgements and is based on
assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

—  Assessing the identification of the related cash generating
units;

—  Assessing the arithmetical accuracy of the fair value and
value-in-use calculations;

—  Comparing the actual cash flows with the cash flow
projections;

— Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions
(including revenue growth, profit margins, terminal growth

rates and discount rates);

—  Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of the
external valuers engaged by the Company; and

—  Checking input data to supporting evidence.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for goodwill is
supported by the available evidence.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B EMER S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

ii. Loans and interest receivables, finance lease
receivables, trade and other receivables, other
loans and interest receivables and contract
assets

Refer to Notes 31, 25, 27, 32 and 28 to the consolidated financial
statements

The Group tested the amount of loans and interest receivables,
finance lease receivables, trade and other receivables, other
loans and interest receivables and contract assets for impairment.
These impairment tests are significant to our audit because
the balances of loans and interests receivables, finance lease
receivables, trade and other receivables, other loans and interest
receivable and contract assets of approximately HK$311,896,000,
HK$Nil, HK$387,508,000, HK$10,226,000, and HK$307,394,000
respectively as at 31 March 2024 and the impairment losses on
loan and interest receivables, finance lease receivables and trade
and other receivables for the year ended 31 March 2024 of
approximately HK$7,492,000, HK$4,337,000 and HK$5,230,000,
respectively are material to the consolidated financial statements.
In addition, the Group’s impairment test involves application of
judgement and is based on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

—  Assessing the Group's procedures on granting loans limits and
loans periods to borrowers;

—  Assessing the transaction history with the borrowers;
—  Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;
—  Assessing aging of the debts;

—  Assessing creditworthiness of the borrowers, guarantors and
the value of collateral pledged,;

—  Checking subsequent settlements from the borrowers;

—  Checking the computation of expected credit loss allowance;
and

—  Assessing the disclosure of the Group’s exposure to credit risk
in the consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

ii. Loans and interest receivables, finance lease
receivables, trade and other receivables, other
loans and interest receivables and contract
assets (Continued)

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for loans and
interest receivables, finance lease receivables, trade and other
receivables, other loans and interest receivables and contract assets
are supported by the available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company's annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.
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B EMER S

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's website at:

http://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/standards-and-setting/standards/our-views/
auditre/

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Li Chi Hoi

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P07268

Hong Kong
27 June 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
malEmkEM2ETER

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

2024 2023
—EWmE —EI=F
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
Mk FET FHET
Revenue & 10 214,970 504,665
Operating cost WER AR 13 (178,625) (401,092)
Other income Hug A 12 12,274 10,133
Administrative and other expenses THEREMEEH (67,992) (50,717)
Staff costs BB 13 (53,959) (72,652)
Finance costs A A 13 (30,631) (36,452)
Fair value loss on step acquisition of PDTWERB AR Z
subsidiaries NEEEE - (1,059)
Unrealised (loss) gain on fair value change R &YX A FEEE
on investment properties FEIR (B518) Wam 20 (4,903) 2,051
Realised gain on fair value AT EFAEEN
change on financial assets at fair value THMEBEEQAFEES
through profit or loss BEEIR KGR - 6,837
Net loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMWB AR ZE1E/F5E 42 (313) =
Gain on disposal of associates HEBE ARz WA 239 =
Gain on deregistration of a subsidiary HiE—EN B AR Z W E - 2,769
Impairment loss on finance lease receivable FEUWREETE &G R EEE 25 (4,337) =
Impairment loss on trade and other [ LT BR R R ELfth FE W =R IE
receivables BER1E 27 (5,230) (198,933)
Impairment loss on loans and interest EWERRA SR ERE
receivables 31 (7,492) (59,616)
Impairment loss on goodwill mERERE 21 (2,403) (12,197)
Impairment loss on contract assets BRNEERERE = (9,331)
Share of loss of associates DEBE R BEEIE (9) (482)
Loss before tax PRIZATES 1R (128,411) (316,076)
Income tax expense Frigtipa sz 15 (3.372) (16,054)
Loss for the year FREE 13 (131,783) (332,130)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
malmkEM2ETER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

2024 2023
—E_mF BT =F
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
b= FHET FHT
Other comprehensive income (expenses) E fth 2 E U2 (& H)
Items that may be reclassified to profit or B E# D IBEZEEm 2 EH ©
loss:
Exchange differences arising on BMERIIEBREE
translation of foreign operations bE 2 = & (19,745) (44,779)
Translation reserve released upon deemed RIEHE—FIEE A%
disposal of a joint venture fRIREE R - 51
Translation reserve released upon HIE— M B A B B bR
deregistration of a subsidiary bE R = 38
Translation reserve released upon disposal  H & B& A 51 R4
of associates bE R 877 -
Translation reserve released upon disposal & [fi B /A 5118 fR i
of subsidiaries bE R 434 -
Items that will not be subsequently HBETFrEEN 7 EEE D
reclassified to profit or loss: B
Fair value (loss)/gain on financial assets at X AFEFTAEMEE
fair value through Wz B E
other comprehensive income ZAFE (B8 iE 24 (3.520) 140
(21,954) (44,550)
Total comprehensive expenses FAETEZHLEE
for the year (153,737) (376,680)
(Loss) Profit for the year attributable to: XA FREMLER (B548) & F :
— owners of the Company S VNEIEZT= DN (131,062) (333,793)
— non-controlling interests —FEER RS (721) 1,663
(131,783) (332,130)
Total comprehensive expenses FEGEERNEES H4EEE -
for the year attributable to:
— owners of the Company S VNEIEZT= DN (150,733) (374,665)
- non-controlling interests —FEER RS (3,004) (2,015)
(153,737) (376,680)
Restated
KE7|
Loss per share sREE
— Basic and diluted (HK cents) —EARREE GBI 17 (6.90) (19.80)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
EAMBEIRRR

As at 31 March 20242 —E _IFE=/F=+—H

2024 2023
—ENE —E=F
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
M =E FET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME-BEMEE 18 271,102 295,437
Right-of-use assets FREEE 19 10,901 3,716
Investment properties SEME 20 110,142 121,433
Goodwill mmE 21 249,374 255,626
Intangible asset EmEEE 22 811 811
Interests in associates REENE 2w 23 - 22,251
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFAEMEE
other comprehensive income Rz EMEE 24 5,260 8,780
Loans receivables B E= 31 - 44,300
Regulatory deposits EERE 205 205
647,795 752,559
Current assets RENEE

Inventory 75 26 3,682 6,416
Finance lease receivables W E R E RIS 25 - 4,546
Loans and interest receivables W ER T B 31 311,896 297,773
Other loan and interest receivables HEWERKRFE 32 10,226 24,564
Trade and other receivables JFE Wi BR =k e ELAth FE U =R 18 27 387,508 450,696
Contract assets BHEE 28 307,394 303,604
Amounts due from an associate FEW—MEEE AT 2B 23 186 =
Pledged bank deposit BIEFIRITER 29 16,229 =

Bank balances and cash IRTTAERKRIRSE
— trust and segregated accounts — (B REIIRE 30 3,786 3,867

Bank balances and cash IRTTAERKRIRSE
— general accounts ——NRER P 30 34,235 50,134
1,075,142 1,141,600
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

FEMBRRR

As at 31 March 20248 —ZE —FE=H=+—H

2024 2023
—E-_mEF B =
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
IS FET FET
Current liabilities REIAR

Trade and other payables FETRR A R E eI =R IB 33 572,696 620,765
Contract liabilities aHEaE 28 16,029 15,419
Lease liabilities HEAaE 34 5,095 3,682
Trust loans SELE™ 36 216,389 228,472
Short term loans fEHRE® 37 17,250 6,529
Bank loans BITEMR 38 99,539 93,674
Tax liabilities mEaE 31,691 34,880
958,689 1,003,421
Net current assets REBEERE 116,453 138,179
Total assets less current liabilities MEERREBAR 764,248 890,738

Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Long-term loan RHIEX 37 - 343
Lease liabilities HEaE 34 6,176 =
6,176 343
NET ASSETS BEFE 758,072 890,395
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at 31 March 20242 —E _IFE=/F=+—H

FEMBRRR

2024 2023
—E-mE 2T =F
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
M =E FET FET
Capital and Reserves B2 B 5 1

Share capital [N 39 209,150 152,529
Share premium and reserves R im B R E 509,914 688,798

Equity attributable to owners of the KABEB AEGHER
Company 719,064 841,327
Non-controlling interests JEER R 39,008 49,068
TOTAL EQUITY s 758,072 890,395

The consolidated financial statements on pages 83 to 226 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 June
2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

Qin Jie
Director

EF

EEIEEF 6B ZEGRAUBREREN
Z_MEARBI+tHKEERHMERE
BT TR TIIARRE

Li Haitao
iR
Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

FEEDmEFHR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

Share  Investment Non-
Share Share  Contributed ~ Translation Statutory options  revaluation  Accumulated controlling
capital premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Sub-total interests Total
%8
Rx  KREE  BARE  ARBE  hRHE EREEE  BREE B N FERRER @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn TEn TEn Thn Thn Thn Thn TEn TEn TEn
(Note i) (Note ii)
(HzH) (i)
At 1 April 2022 RIEZZEMA-H 152,529 1,051,208 408,738 2,445 3,908 - (33,110) (376,293) 1,209,425 51,083 1,260,508
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - - BB B319) 1663 (332,130)
Other comprehensive income (expenses) FREMPENE (G
for the year:
Exchange differences arising on translation of EENERBELZERER
foreign operations - - - (41,101) - - - - (@1,101) (3,678) (44,779)
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value AT EH AEM2EREZ
through other comprehensive income SHEEZATANE - - - - - - 140 - 140 - 140
Translation reseve released upon deemed  EfEHE—HAEARERR
disposal of a joint venture ERGE - - - 51 - - - - 51 = 51
Translation reseve released upon HE-BNELIRERERRE
deregistration of a subsidiary - - - 38 - - - - 3 - 38
Total comprehensive income/(expenses) ERRENG/ (G) 48
for the year - - - (41,012) - - 140 (333,793 (374,665) (2,015 (376,680)
Recognition of equity-settled share-based DUNBREELRAAERDAR
payments - - - - - 6,567 - - 6,567 - 6,567
At 31 March 2023 RIEI=E=F=+-H 152,529 1,051,208 408,738 (38,567) 3,908 6,567 (32,970) (710,086) 841,327 49,068 890,395
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

e

For the year ended 31 March 2024 F — & —

HEHE

“AF=ZA=+—HIFE

Share  Investment Non-
Share Share  Contributed ~ Translation  Statutory options  revaluation Accumulated controlling
capital  premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve losses  Sub-total  interests Total
K&
ke RGEE  BARE  BERE  ARHE BRERE  EREE  ZHER it FEREE it
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
FER TR TR TR TR TERr TER TER FER FER TR
(Note i) (Note ii)
(W) (W)
At 1 April 2023 RZEZ=5MmA-H 152,529 1,051,208 408,738 (38,567) 3,908 6,567 (32970)  (710,086) 841,327 49,068 890,395
Loss for the year ERBE - - - - = = - (131062 (131,062) (7121)  (131,783)
Other comprehensive income (expenses) ~ FREM2ENE (i) :
for the year:
Exchange differences arising on tranlation of EEENEHBELZERER
foreign operations - - - (17,462) - - - - (17.462) (2,283) (19,745)
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value  BATEF AEMZENEZ
through other comprehensive income SREEVATEER - - - - = = (3,520 - (3,520 - (3.520)
Translation reserve released upon disposal of  HENBATERRES its
subsidiaries - - - 434 - - - - 434 - 434
Translation reserve released upon disposal of  HEBERTERRER B
associates - - - 877 - - - - 871 - 871
Total comprehensive expenses for the year — FAZ AR HAE - - - (16,151) - - (35200 (131,062) (150,733 (3,004)  (153737)
Issue of rights share (note 39) BTERRA (:39) 56,621 3973 - - - - - - 90,59 - 90,504
Transaction costs attributable to issue of new  EfTHERREHEREAE
ordinary shares - (2,378) - - - - - - (2,378) - (2,378)
Recognition of equity-settled share-based ~ BRRLEREENRBAERNAR
payments - - - - - 3,036 - - 3,036 = 3,036
Forfeiture of equity-settled share-based RENEGEENRNARRNAT
payments - - - - - (1,587) - 1,587 - - -
Change in ownership interests in a subsidiary K —FHBAT 2 ERRZEHT
without change of control (note 43¢) PHBLELE (3430 - - - - - - - (62,78)  (62,782) (1218 (70,000)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 42) HE-TIHEAT (H:42) - - = = - = - - - 162 162
At 31 March 2024 RIB-ME=F=+-8 209,150 1,082,803 408,738 (54,718) 3,908 8,016 (36490)  (902,383) 719,064 39,008 758,072
Note i: The contributed surplus of the Group represents (i) the difference between — izt ANREBEZHARBRIE(N)AABRMDIK—AIN
the nominal value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the FEEEMERZMERAE (TR Fik
reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares on the Main Board LR RIEEMEFMBERNB AT Z RO EE
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) in 1996 BUEARMMBTZARRMNEBEZELE
and the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange and (ii) RN _E_EFNE_HBEBFHEEAQNE
the credit arising from the capital reduction by cancelling the par value of the R R AR E B AR A HI R PT E £ RV ERR
paid-up capital of the Company on 2 September 2020.
Note ii: In accordance with the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") Company Law  [izkii: RIEHEFEARELME (THEL) A B)E R EH
and the PRC subsidiaries’ Articles of Association, a subsidiary registered in BABIZAABERMA RPEZMZWE R

the PRC, prior to any dividend distribution, is required to appropriate 10%
of its annual statutory net profit as determined in accordance with relevant
statutory rules and regulations applicable to enterprises established in the PRC
(after offsetting any prior years' losses) to the statutory reserve. When the
balance of such reserve fund reaches 50% of the entity’s capital, any further
appropriation is optional. The statutory reserve can be utilised to offset prior
years' losses or to increase capital. However, such balance of the statutory
reserve must be maintained at a minimum of 25% of the capital after such
usages. The balance is reclassified to retained earnings at the date of disposal
of the subsidiary.

BIZAR 2K R B A IR INE 0% E A F B9
10%FINEERE - SEEZEMAATREBERN
PEMRLZEEBERZAREERRIER
HE (BRHERLAFEERR  WZEERH
HREEBREARNS0% B EEZSEY
ERE—F B EERBDANIRHEERE
EZBEFIEINRA AT EREEHER
ZHRERMAMREERZ25% AN HE
WEAREHEMDEERERT -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FeREHER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

2024 2023
—E_mE —E”=
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
b3 FAET THET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RS
Loss before tax PRI AIES 1B (128,411) (316,076)
Adjustments for: MTFIIBEEEHARE
Bad debts written off it 85 IR AR 5,907 -
Dividend income 2SN N (1,972) =
Depreciation of property, plant and ME-BERZBITE
equipment 11,663 13,511
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 6,393 14,020
Gain on lease modification MEEI W= = (49)
Finance costs B A 30,631 36,452
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HENE -BEKRKEZ
equipment 518 910 230
Net loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR ZEEFEE 313 =
Gain on disposal of an associate HE—RBBERE 2 W (239) -
Reversal of impairment loss on finance FEW R ERERIBRER
lease receivable 18# [0 (4,398) (696)
Share of loss of associates DEHE AT EE 9 482
Unrealised loss/(gain) on fair value SEMERNTEEH 2K
change on investment properties BIRER S (WE) 4,903 (2,051)
Realised gain on fair value change on BAFEFABRZ /M
financial assets at fair BEATEEFHZE
value through profit or loss BIBW - (6,837)
Fair value loss on step acquisition DEWERB AR Z AT
of subsidiaries BE1E - 1,059
Interest income from bank, other loans KERIT EthEWRER
receivables and promissory note R FE R B4R 2 FI S,
receivable WA (1,475) (4,527)
Government grant BT 488D (3.512) (4,610)
Recognition of equity-settled share-based — FEEBIAME LA HLIIRID A&
payments BT 3,036 6,567
Impairment loss on finance lease FEWRERERIBRE
receivable 518 4,337 -
Impairment loss on trade and other & LST AR TR R EL th & W R IE
receivables B R 5,230 198,933
Impairment loss on loans and interest FEWE R B F) B R BB
receivables 7,492 59,616
Impairment loss on goodwill 8 RERE 2,403 12,197
Impairment loss on contract assets BNEERERE = 9,331
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

SEBHEHER

2024 2023
—E_mE —E”=
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
M3 5E FAET THET
Operating cash (outflow)/inflow before EESEFAIZ
movements in working capital KERE CRL) WA (56,780) 17,552
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other JFE Wi BR =k R ELAth FE U =0 18
receivables (g0 41,822 (51,754)
Decrease/(increase) in cash and bank RE MIRTTAARR
balances — trust and segregated B (g —(E5E K
account BIRF 81 (12)
Decrease/(increase) in loans and interest  FERE R T BiRL
receivables (1% 1m) 22,685 (2,459)
Decrease/(increase) in other loans and HMEKRERRF B
interest receivables B, () 14,228 (14,558)
Decrease in trade and other payables FEAT BR R0 B EL A FE T =R I8
AL (15,548) (21,301)
(Increase)/decrease in contract assets EHEE (8Mm R (3,790) 57,825
Increase in contract liabilities BHRBEBEEMN 610 4,614
Decrease/(increase) in inventory EERLD, (Em) 2,560 (2,319)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations — 48#& #35FF18, (FT )
pizke 5,868 (12,412)
Income tax paid [SERPZIECE) (5,928) (3,873)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING REEE AR B
ACTIVITIES (60) (16,285)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES KREEE
Interest received from bank, other loans R ER1T « EthEKR S
receivables and promissory note REWEREEZ
receivable BUlF B 377 8,617
Dividend received from financial assets at R B2 /A F{Ezt A EM
fair value through other comprehensive THNREZEMEES
income B E 1,972 -
Increase in pledged bank deposit BIRIRIRITERIE M (16,229) =
Net cash inflow from acquisition of WENB AR Z2IRE
subsidiaries TMAEEE - 35
Repayment of consideration payables BERMRE (15,000) (11,424)
Net cash outflow from disposal of HEWBARZIRE
subsidiaries TR 42 (348) =
Net cash inflow from disposal of HEBMEARZIRE
associates TMAFRE 571 -
Advance to an associate m—E S QB BR (186) .
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant  HEWE - B E K& H
and equipment Frig I8 3,782 1,457
Purchase of property, plant and BEWE BENEB
equipment (7,571) (6,411)
Purchase of ownership interests in a EEFIRLEEEFHN
subsidiary without change of control BRTEE NS
RENEBEER (52,000) =
Receipts of promissory note AR ERIA - 90,000
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

2024 2023
—E-ME S
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
IS FHAT FET
NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED FROM {8 E& ;&%) (FrA) /FriEHR&
INVESTING ACTIVITIES B (84,632) 82,274
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BB EE
Receipts of government grant EGSEEEUIL@N 3,512 4,610
Net proceeds from right issue HEEPTISRIEFEE 88,216 =
Payment of trust loans interest FRETERFE (26,117) (5,735)
Payment of short-term loans TR ER (327) (18,669)
Payment of short-term loans interest T TEERERF B — (260)
Payment of long term loan TR REEMR (343) =
Payment of bank loans FRAIRITER (89,340) (56,975)
Payment of bank loans interest FRIRITERFE (4,062) (5,265)
New borrowing from short term loans REBRHAEMZ MER 11,470 =
New borrowing from long term loan REEHRAEMZMER = 343
New borrowing from bank loans KEIRITERZHER 100,235 68,370
Repayment of lease liabilities and interest {EiEHEA BRI E (6,409) (16,588)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) RiEZ EBIFRS,  (FRA) 2
FINANCING ACTIVITIES INE B3 76,835 (30,169)
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH HeRREEEEHZ
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS GR2>) /1gni% g (7,857) 35,820
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RENZREKRIREEE
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR IEH 50,134 46,049
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate [RS8~ 5,2 (8,042) (31,735)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERZREERREEE
AT THE END OF YEAR EH
represented by bank balances and cash MIRTT R R IR EFER 34,235 50,134
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

GENERAL

China Best Group Holding Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited
liability and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange.

The addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the "“Corporate
Information” of the annual report.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries (together with the Company
referred to as the “Group”) are set out in note 45.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of the
Company.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs")

(a) New and amended standards adopted by
the Group

In the current year, the Group has adopted the following new
and revised HKFRSs (which include all HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKAS"), and Interpretations) issued
by Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA") for the first time for the consolidated financial
statements.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

HKAS 1 (Amendments)  Amendments in relation to disclosure of accounting
policies

HKAS 8 (Amendments)  Amendments in relation to definition of accounting
estimates

HKAS 12 (Amendments) Amendments in relation to deferred tax related to assets
and liabilities arising from a single transaction

HKAS 12 (Amendments) Amendments in relation to international tax reform -
pillar two model rules

The Group concluded that the application of the amendments
to HKAS in the current year has had no material impact
on the amounts reported and/or disclosures set out in the
consolidated financial statements.

—RRE R

EEEEZERARAT (FAF) A
REREEMATZEREERA
5] ELAR 1A TE ST L7 o

EABEMPERERETEEE M
AN EFERZIADERDAMEE -

ERBZEEEBRREER-HE
EMBRRE EREABDMRER EAE
M) 2 EBHIMIEEA5-

mEMBRENET (TET)) 25
SBARNBZNEEERHER -

FERME] RAEIES T B AR
gl%%;ﬁﬂu (TEREMBREE
Al

(a) AEEEER#MN Z F5T R AE(E
sTZER
WAREER AEERERGS
BB RER D ML T B E
BEHBAG ((BBGHMA
B ) 146 2 15T RABIE T B B8
BREEA (QEMEE AL
REER EBEHER (5B
B A BRI o

ERMBHRE RREY

Z8%17

EAGHED HEeHBENEEREzE]

#1 (1857 %)

ARG AR HEsEANERERzE]

#8 (1557 %)

EAGHEL HELBE-RZNEER

F12 (B5T4) aEEENELRBERRZ
1]

EAG AN HEBRRENE-IHIEIR

F12 (B5T4) RAEMEREZE]

REFE ZAEEIRERES
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WMRFMEMzETBRSFTET
ZRBELESEATE-

EFEEEZERERAT 2023/24F 3R

93



94

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)

(b) New standards and amendments to
standards issued but not yet effective for
the accounting period beginning on 1 April
2023 and not early adopted by the Group

2. R REIETE SN
MERA (maumRe
A1) &

(b) 2S£ [ R IR AT ER AR S —

T_—&mA—HEE
TR AEGE R E
22 ¥ 3T R A AE £ % A

Effective for
accounting
periods beginning
on or after
RIUATHEHA
BBk
BEHEARE R

HKFRS 16 (Amendments)

BEMBIRSERF 1658
(CREN)

HKFRS 7 and HKAS 7 (Amendments)

BEVBIREERFETIR R
SEGERAFETR (B4

HKAS 1 (Amendments)

SR EAE IR (BT
HKAS 1 (Amendments)

FAEHERF 15 (BT A)

HK-Int 5

BB —2EEE

HKAS 21 (Amendments)

FA L ERFE2158 (BT K)

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
(Amendments)

SR BREEDNF105F K
S8 gHEERE285R (BT X)

Amendments in relation to lease liability in a sale and
leaseback
HERMBERLRNEEaER[ZE]

1 January 2024
—ZTmE—F—H

Amendments in relation to supplier finance arrangements 1 January 2024
B RN B 2 HHAERRE 2 85T “ZETNFE—RB—H

Amendments in relation to classification of liabilities as
current or non-current

1 January 2024

HeERNREIEREN D AR BT “E2MWE—B—H
Amendments in relation to non-current liabilities with 1 January 2024
covenants
YR B eI =R EEl S A —ZNFE—A—H
Amendments in relation to Amendments to HKAS 1 1 January 2024
BRBEHERE19 (B5TA) B2 BT _E_WE—A—H
Amendments in relation to lack of exchangeability 1 January 2025
iR Z Al A MEARRA 2 1B 5T “Z2HFE—HB—H

Amendments in relation to sale or contribution of assets To be determined
between an investor and its associate or joint venture
R EEAEBEARNGErEBMZHER FTAE FEBE

EMRBZER]

The Group is in the process of making an assessment on
the impact of these new standards and amendments to
standards but is not yet in a position to state whether these
new standards and amendments to standards would have
a material impact on its result of operations and financial
position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

GOING CONCERN

The Group incurred a loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$131,062,000 for the year ended
31 March 2024. Further, the Group had not repaid trust loans
of approximately HK$216,389,000 and accrued interests of
approximately HK$28,644,000 thereon upon maturity on or before
31 March 2024 while it is still negotiating with the lender for
extension of loan period. Therefore, it might be difficult for the
Group to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in a short time
under the normal course of business. These consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis as the
directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have performed an
assessment of the Group’s future liquidity and cash flows, taking
into account the following relevant matters:

(i)  The Group is negotiating with the lender to repay the trust
loans based on a mutually agreed repayment schedule.

(i) The Directors considered that even in any event that the
Group could not reach a mutually agreed repayment schedule
with the lender in future, it would not significantly affect the
continuity of most of the Group's businesses. It is expected
that value of securities pledged to the lender for the trust
loans is sufficient to cover substantial portion of the trust
loans, and the remaining portion of the trust loans could be
settled by cash inflow generated from the Group's future
operation.

(iii) The Company has received a supporting letter from one of its
substantial shareholders in relation to prospective financing of
no less than HK$50,000,000 to support the Group's business
development in 12 months from the letter date.

Accordingly, the Directors are of the opinion that it is appropriate
to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis. Should the Group be unable to continue as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to the consolidated
financial statements to adjust the value of the Group’s assets to
their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities
as current assets and liabilities respectively. These conditions
indicate a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

3.

BE_Z_@WME=Z/=+—HB1L
EE AEBEEAABDEEAE
1553 49131,062,0004 75 © tE4b »
rEEBHKAEEN _ ST _MOE=A
—+—HAZHIENETERTY
216,389,000 Tt R EFEH E&
28,644,000 75 > M A £ B £ &%
BEABBELEEERB AL RES
ERBERT REBOEHMUTEER
BMANSEREENSEBBR ARBE
= (TE£%F) EHAEBRKRPADE
SRIBEREBET T FME Wt &L
TEREBE AIEAGEHBE®RET
BIFECESEERR .

() T=EELEBRBEAGBREES
BENNREBRERETE

Eo
N

(il EFRR AESREEEREZ
B2 RS A B AT 7R B ) R A
#HoN A EHEERRBIES
NREEEELTERTE A
ST ERIRR FREABVIER
MEBERUENKIEDELE
Mo MiEsEEMB R R oA BE
BAEBRREEMELENRS
MATFLUEE

iy XABCIBEET—NUTERE
HEZFR RABREEERBEH
RI2EBANAS I AERERSE
Bmiz /550,000,000 7T
HERESSFo

Hit EFR% UFBKERERR
REMBREABEE - HAEEEZ
EETBRCE AR HRE
ELBE  URABEAEEEENEE
EHPWRIEHER B EEENEM
HthaBstiREfE IR FERBEE
REBEDHEMDERRBEERE
B-ZEBNEBEEATESTHEE
ERECENENELEERRENE
RAFEE N
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R IEERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for certain financial instruments and
investment properties that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the
measurement date under current market conditions (i.e. an exit
price) regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. Details of fair value
measurement are explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the Directors to
exercise its judgements in the process of applying the accounting
policies. The areas involving critical judgements and areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to these consolidated
financial statements, are disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The material accounting policies are set out below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (i.e. its subsidiaries). If a subsidiary prepares its financial
statements using accounting policies other than those adopted
in the consolidated financial statements for like transaction and
events in similar circumstances, appropriate adjustments are
made to that subsidiary’s financial statement in preparing the
consolidated financial statements to ensure conformity with the
Group’s accounting policies.

Control is achieved when the Group has: (i) the power over
the investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability to use its power
over the investee to affect the amount of the Group’s return.

The Company reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Income and expenses of a subsidiary are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R IEERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from
equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the result of the Group are presented
on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit or
loss and total comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the equity shareholders of the Company.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of
the Group's interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid
or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners
of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it (i) derecognises
the assets (including any goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary
at their carrying amounts at the date when control is lost, (ii)
derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost (including
any components of other comprehensive income attributable to
them), and (iii) recognises the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest,
with any resulting difference being recognised as a gain or loss in
profit or loss attributable to the Group. When assets and liabilities
of the subsidiary are carried at revalued amounts or fair values
and the related cumulative gain or loss has been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, the
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets and liabilities (i.e. reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings as
specified by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment
retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost
is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs
incurred to effect a business combination are recognised in profit
or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities arising from the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed in the business combination
are recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12
Income Taxes;

o assets or liabilities related to the acquiree’'s employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance
with HKAS 19 Employee Benefits;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment transactions of the acquiree or the replacement of
the acquiree’s share-based payment transactions with the
share-based payment transactions of the Group are measured
in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the
acquisition date (see the accounting policy below); and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale
in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance
with that standard.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R IEERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net
of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed exceeds the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest
in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

Non-controlling interests, unless as required by another standards,
are measured at acquisition-date fair value except for non-
controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation are measured either at fair value
or at the present ownership instruments’ proportionate share in
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets on
a transaction-by-transaction basis.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
included as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments
made against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during
the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from
the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at
the acquisition date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Business combinations (Continued)

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration
is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Other contingent
consideration that is within the scope of HKFRS 9 is measured at
fair value at each reporting date, and changes in fair value are
recognised in profit or loss in accordance with HKFRS 9. Other
contingent consideration that is not within the scope of HKFRS 9 is
measured at fair value at each reporting date and changes in fair
value are recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to
the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where such
treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. During the measurement period (see
above), the provisional amounts recognised at the acquisition date
are adjusted retrospectively or additional assets or liabilities are
recognised as of that date, to reflect new information obtained
about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date
that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised at
that date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R IEERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of an entity but is not
control or joint control over those policies. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or
convertible, including potential voting rights held by other entities,
are considered when assessing whether the Group has significant
influence. In assessing whether a potential voting right contributes
to significant influence, the holder’s intention and financial ability
to exercise or convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially
recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate
in an acquisition are measured at their fair values at the acquisition
date. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and
liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is included in the
carrying amount of the investment and is tested for impairment
together with the investment at the end of each reporting period
when there is objective evidence that the investment is impaired.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits or
losses is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and its share of
the post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in the
consolidated reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements
are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. When
the Group's share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables,
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. If
the associate subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes
recognising its share of those profits only after its share of the
profits equals the share of losses not recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Associates (Continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in a
loss of significant influence represents the difference between (i)
the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of
any investment retained in that associate and (ii) the Group’s share
of the net assets of that associate plus any remaining goodwill
relating to that associate and any related accumulated foreign
currency translation reserve. If an investment in an associate
becomes an investment in a joint venture, the Group continues
to apply the equity method and does not remeasure the retained
interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests
in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising from a business combination is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there
is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising
on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of
the unit on a pro rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised
directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Goodwill (Continued)

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount
of profit or loss on disposal.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer with reference to the customary business
practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third
parties. For a contract where the period between the payment by
the customer and the transfer of the promised product or service
exceeds one year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a
significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring control over a product or service to a
customer. Depending on the terms of a contract and the laws that
apply to that contract, a performance obligation can be satisfied
over time or at a point in time. A performance obligation is
satisfied over time if:

—  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group's performance;

-  the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

—  the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of
the product or service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Other revenue

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to
receive payment are established.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for
the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying
a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that asset. The
capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs
applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding
during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Related Parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related
to the Group if that person:
i.  has control or joint control over the Group;
ii.  has significant influence over the Group; or

iii. is a member of the key management personnel of the
Company or of a parent of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Related Parties (Continued)

(B) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

Vi

vii.

viii.

The entity and the Company are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan,
the sponsoring employers are also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (A).

A person identified in (A)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the
Company or to a parent of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Fiduciary activities

The Group maintains segregated accounts with authorised
institutions to hold clients” monies arising from its normal course of
the regulated business activities. The Group has classified the bank
balances—trust and segregated accounts within the current assets
in the consolidated statement of financial position and recognised
the corresponding account payables to respective clients and
other institutions on the grounds that it is liable for any loss or
misappropriation of clients’” monies. The Group is not allowed to
use the clients’ monies to settle its own obligations. The cash held
on behalf of customers is restricted and governed by the Securities
and Futures (Client Money) Rules under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of
exchanges prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences arising on a monetary item that forms part of the
Company’s net investment in a foreign operation, in which case,
such exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity and will be reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on disposal of the foreign operation.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R IEERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint
arrangement that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable
to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are
reattributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in
profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of
associates or joint arrangements that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to
profit or loss.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Retirement benefits scheme

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans, the
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) Scheme, Central Provident
Fund (“CPF”) Scheme and state-managed retirement benefit
schemes are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries, annual leaves and sick leave in the
period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount
of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are
measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to
be paid in exchange for the related service.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the period.
Taxable profit differs from (loss) profit before tax as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from
the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R IEERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment (classified as finance leases) held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purpose are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost of items of
plant and equipment less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal
or retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Lease
The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and corresponding
lease liabilities when the leased assets are available for use by the
Group. Right-of-use assets are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use
assets is calculated at rates to write off their cost over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.
The principal useful lives are as follows:

Land and buildings 2-3 years

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount
of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease payments
prepaid, initial direct costs and the restoration costs. Lease
liabilities include the net present value of the lease payments
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that
rate can be determined, or otherwise the Group’'s incremental
borrowing rate. Each lease payment is allocated between the
liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate
of interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the lease terms. Short-term leases are leases with an
initial lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets are assets
of value below US$5,000.

The Group as lessor

(i) Operating leases
Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees all
the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted
for as operating leases. Rental income from operating leases
is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R IEERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Lease (Continued)
The Group as lessor (Continued)

(i) Finance leases

Leases that substantially transfer to the lessees all the risks
and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted for as
finance leases. Amounts due from lessees under finance
leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the
Group’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease income
is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant
periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment in the
leases.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation. An investment property is measured
initially at its cost including all direct costs attributable to the
property.

After initial recognition, the investment property is stated at its
fair value based on valuation by an external independent valuer.
Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the investment
property are recognised in profit or loss for the period in which
they arise.

The gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the property, and is recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible asset
Intangible asset acquired separately

Intangible asset with indefinite useful life that is acquired
separately is carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains
or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are
measured at the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or
loss in the period when the asset is derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Regulatory deposits

Regulatory deposits are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement of financial
position of the Company at cost less accumulated impairment loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets;
or the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the assets but has not retained
control on the assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a contract
whose terms require delivery of the asset within the timeframe
established by the market concerned, and are initially recognised at
fair value, plus directly attributable transaction costs except in the
case of investments at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of investments at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the following
categories:

- Financial assets at amortised cost;

—  Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income; and

—  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

(i) Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including trade and other receivables) are
classified under this category if they satisfy both of the
following conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows; and

—  the contractual terms of the assets give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less loss allowance for expected
credit losses.

(ii) Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

On initial recognition, the Group can make an irrevocable
election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate
investments in equity instruments that are not held for
trading as at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income are subsequently measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair values recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve. On derecognition of an
investment, the cumulative gains or losses previously
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve are not
reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial assets (Continued)

(ii) Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (Continued)

Dividends on these investments are recognised in profit or
loss, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part
of the cost of the investment.

(iii) Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss

Financial assets are classified under this category if they do
not meet the conditions to be measured at amortised cost
and the conditions of debt investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income unless the Group designates an
equity investment that is not held for trading as at fair value
through other comprehensive income on initial recognition.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or losses
arising from changes in fair values recognised in profit or
loss. The fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss
are net of any interest income and dividend income. Interest
income and dividend income are recognised in profit or loss.

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses on
financial assets at amortised cost, contract assets and finance lease
receivables. Expected credit losses are the weighted average of
credit losses with the respective risks of a default occurring as the
weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the loss
allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to the
expected credit losses that result from all possible default events
over the expected life of that financial instrument (“lifetime
expected credit losses”) for trade receivables and contract assets,
or if the credit risk on that financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses
(Continued)

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a financial
instrument (other than trade receivables and contract assets) has
not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an
amount equal to the portion of lifetime expected credit losses that
represents the expected credit losses that result from default events
on that financial instrument that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust the
loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to the required
amount is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or
loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and short-term deposits in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-
term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposits as
defined above.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument
under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial
liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least 12 months after the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the
fair value of share options granted at the grant date is recognised
as an expense in full at the grant date when the share options
granted vest immediately, with a corresponding increase in equity
(share options reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to ultimately vest.
The impact of the revision of the original estimates during the
vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to share options reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
accumulated losses.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Share-based payment transactions (Continued)

Share options granted to consultants

Share options issued in exchange for goods or services are
measured at the fair values of the goods or services received,
unless that fair value cannot be reliably measured, in which case
the goods or services received are measured by reference to the fair
value of the share options granted. The fair values of the goods or
services received are recognised as expenses, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share options reserve), when the Group obtains
the goods or when the counterparties render services, unless the
goods or services qualify for recognition as assets.

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets (other than impairment of goodwill set
out in accounting policy of goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating unit, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible asset with indefinite useful life is tested for impairment
at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that it may
be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2024 F — & —

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets (other than impairment of goodwill set
out in accounting policy of goodwill above)
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or the cash-generating unit) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income
immediately.

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value, except for the Group's share-based
payment transactions, leasing transactions, value in use of
property, plant and equipment and intangible asset for the purpose
of impairment assessment, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Fair value measurement (Continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. Specifically,
the Group categorised the fair value measurements into three
levels, based on the characteristics of inputs, as follow:

Level T — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - Valuation technique for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is
directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines whether
transfer occur between levels of the fair value hierarchy for assets
and liabilities which are measured at fair value on recurring basis
by reviewing their respective fair value measurement.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting
period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is
not appropriate are adjusting events and are reflected in the
consolidated financial statements. Events after the reporting period
that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements when material.

CRITICAL JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the Directors are required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenue and expenses reported and disclosures made in the
consolidated financial statements. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The following judgment that have the most significant effect on
the amount recognized in the consolidated financial statements
compare from those involving estimations, which are deal with
below.

Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis. This involves critical judgments. Details are
explained in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting in a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.
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CRITICAL JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Fair value of investment properties

The Group appointed an independent professional valuer to assess
the fair values of the investment properties. In determining the fair
values, the valuer has utilised a method of valuation which involves
certain estimates. The Directors have exercised their judgements
and are satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective of the
current market conditions.

Impairment of trade receivables, finance lease
receivables, loans and interest receivables,
other loans and interest receivables and
contract assets

The policy for impairment of trade receivables, finance lease
receivables, loans and interest receivables, other loans and interest
receivables and contract assets of the Group are based on the
evaluation of collectability and aging analysis of accounts and on
management’s judgment. A considerable amount of judgment is
required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables,
including the current creditworthiness and the past collection
history of each customer. If the financial conditions of customers
of the Group were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment
of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may
be required. At 31 March 2024, the carrying amounts of
trade receivables, finance lease receivables, loans and interest
receivables, other loans and interest receivables and contract assets
were approximately HK$84,703,000 (2023: HK$119,855,000),
HK$Nil (2023: HK$4,546,000), HK$311,896,000 (2023:
HK$342,073,000), HK$10,226,000 (2023: HK$24,564,000) and
HK$307,394,000 (2023: HK$303,604,000) respectively, and net
of allowance for impairment of approximately HK$175,516,000
(2023: HK$199,947,000), HK$41,849,000 (2023: HK$43,351,000),
HK$133,561,000 (2023: HK$126,069,000), HK$Nil (2023: HK$Nil)
and HK$8,860,000 (2023: HK$9,354,000) respectively.
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CRITICAL JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the value in use or the fair value less cost of disposal of the
cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated. The
value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a
material impairment loss may arise. The calculation of fair value
less cost of disposal under market approach mainly replies on
a sufficient number of comparable transactions. The sufficiency
of comparable transactions is limited by market information
and observability of transactions with similar natures. Actual
transactions involving the subject business might be concluded
at a higher or lower value depending on circumstances of the
transactions. As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of
goodwill is HK$249,374,000 (2023: HK$255,626,000), net
of accumulated impairment loss of HK$81,204,000 (2023:
HK$78,801,000). Details of the recoverable amount calculation are
disclosed in note 21.

Provision for current and deferred taxation

The Group is subject to taxation in various jurisdictions. Significant
judgment is required in determining the provision for taxation
and the timing of payment of the related taxation. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax in the period in which such
determination is made.

At 31 March 2024, the Group has estimated unutilised tax losses
of approximately HK$702,023,000 (2023: HK$662,353,000)
available for offset against future profits. The Directors make
estimates on the future profit streams of the Group entities of
which tax losses are not utilised. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised of the remaining tax losses due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams for the years ended 31 March 2024 and
2023 (note 35).
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CRITICAL JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Depreciation and useful lives of property, plant
and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives, after taking into account the
estimated residual value. The Group assesses annually the residual
value and the useful life of the property, plant and equipment
with reference to the estimated periods that the Group intends
to derive future economic benefits from the use of these assets
and if the expectation differs from the carrying amount, such
differences from the carrying amount will impact the depreciation
charges in the year in which the estimates change. At 31 March
2024, the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment was
approximately HK$271,102,000 (2023: HK$295,437,000), net of
accumulated depreciation and impairment loss of approximately
HK$52,705,000 (2023: HK$44,071,000).

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure on a regular basis.
As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital
and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the Directors, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through new share issues as well as the
issue of new debt.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

LR M ERRMEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 7. EMTAH
Categories of financial instruments EmITRZER
2024 2023
—E-ME TET=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFAEMEE
other comprehensive income Wiz EREE 5,260 8,780
Financial assets at amortised cost BEBEN A E ERMEE
(including cash and cash equivalents) (BREREEARIRSEEER) 671,802 767,816
677,062 776,596
Financial liabilities TREaRE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BEBHERAGECE/mEaR 905,874 949,783
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 8. MEEMGEEEHEREER

AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include regulatory
deposits, trade and other receivables, finance lease receivables,
loans and interest receivables, other loans and interest receivables,
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income,
amounts due from an associate, pledged bank deposit, bank
balances and cash, trade and other payables, trust loans, short
term loans, long-term loan and bank loans. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risk (currency risk,
interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

FAEEZITEEMIAGEELIER
e U BR R s L fHh P WACRR T ~ B WA R
BERA  BRERRFE - HE
WERMRFB - BAFESFAHME
HEWRmZzEMEE BR-—EBEQ
BIIE S B IRITER  IRITHE AR R
REEBARREEMBLRIE S5
B -EHER EHPERKRTE
MoBHMEMITAZEBRENRSA
FfE ZEEMIAEAZZARE
ETmBER (ERRERR MERRBRRHE
EREAR) - EERRARARBETR
BoRMBEZFRBRZBREN T B
BEEgEEBErERZTAR  BRK
R KB MM BIT S B IE b
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Market risk
(i) Currency risk

Other than the subsidiaries established in the PRC of which
functional currency is Renminbi (“RMB"”), the functional
currency of the Company and other subsidiaries is HK$.
Certain bank balances and cash are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies of the group
entities to which they relate. Foreign currencies are also used
to settle expenses for overseas operations, which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency

MEEREEBERBE

()
h 35 LR
(i) B¥mE

PRICRBIR I Z B AR Z I8
EBAARB AR SN &
AEREMNBAR ZINEER
HrBT - ETRITHEGRES
DEREEBERINEG R LU Z
EWstE - BIINEETERINE
ENRAX WEAEEAZING
R o

FEBLUMNESHBEZEREER

denominated monetary assets at the reporting date are as REHZREENT !
follows:

2024 2023
—T@mE —ET=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
RMB AR 702 786
United States dollars (“USD") =t (M%&) 6,206 6,132

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy but the management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

No sensitivity analysis was prepared for USD as HK$ is pegged
to USD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A B ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 8. HAFEMGEIEBEREE

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) (@)
Market risk (Continued) 7 B bR (@)
(i) Currency risk (Continued) (i) EEEE ®
Sensitivity analysis R EDHT
The Group is currently exposed to RMB foreign currency risk. AEERRAZARBE ZIHIER
Bz o

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10%
(2023: 10%) increase and decrease in functional currencies
of the relevant group entities, HK$ or RMB, against the
relevant foreign currencies. 10% (2023: 10%) is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes
only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary
items and adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting
period for a 10% (2023: 10%) change in foreign currency
rates.

A negative number below indicates an increase in loss (2023:
increase in loss) for the period where the respective functional
currency (HK$ or RMB) strengthens 10% (2023: 10%) against
the relevant foreign currency (RMB or HK$). For a 10% (2023:
10%) weakening of respective functional currency (HK$ or
RMB) against the relevant foreign currency (RMB or HK$),
there would be an equal and opposite impact on the loss
(2023: loss) for the year and the balances below would be
positive.

TREMAEEETHEFERESE
INAEEHE BB THARK) 248
RASMNEER AR TE10% (Z
TTZF10%) 2 BRTFTZHR
Eo10% (CEZ=F :10%) 5
NEfE T EEIE A SRERIMNEE
SRFTACHRELX 5818
BHIIMNSEXAELIR 128
B Ao BEESNEEEIU
SNEETHEZ RAEEEKIEE > I
BHMINEEERZ10% (ZB =
F110%) BEHAERIRSHERZ
HEo

UTZEBHEREZSNEER
(B AR RMEREINE (A
EMeET) AEI0% (ZE2 =
F10%) RFHAE B RIL L5
TET-F BREENEH)
WETEEK (BT ARE &
N (AR BT ZE
10% (CEZ=4:10%) > AI¥
ERNGE(CE=F . F8) 1%
REEEBHERZEZE MTXH
(EERB B IES o

Effect on profit or loss

HigmzwE
2024 2023
bt a1 B 5 —ET=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Strengthen against RMB by 10% DTAREAEI10% (Hista)
(note a) (70) (79)
Notes: 5T -

(@) This is mainly attributable to the exposure outstanding on RMB bank

balances and cash at year end.

(@) WHEZANRFERARERTELR
RBEREBZRMR -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Market risk (Continued)
(ii) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to variable-rate bank balances. It is the Group’s policy to keep
its bank balances at floating rate of interest so as to minimise
the fair value interest rate risk.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to loans and interest receivable (see note 31 for
details), other loans and interest receivables (see note 32 for
details), finance lease receivables (see note 25 for details),
trust loans (see note 36 for details), short term loans (see
note 37 for details) and bank loans (see note 38 for details).

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, the management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider other necessary actions when
significant interest rate exposure is anticipated.

The Directors consider that the interest rate risk in relation
to variable rate bank balances is insignificant due to these
balances are either within short maturity period or the
outstanding balances are not significant.

(iii) Other price risk

As at 31 March 2024, the Group is exposed to other price risk
through its investment in unlisted equity securities. The Group
has appointed a special team to monitor the price risk and
will consider hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on
the exposure to other price risk at the end of the reporting
period.
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For the year ended 31 March 20248 % — & _UF = H =+—HIFFZ

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 8.

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Market risk (Continued)
(iii) Other price risk (Continued)

If the value of the financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income had been 20% (2023: 20%) higher/
lower, the investment revaluation reserve for the year ended
31 March 2024 would increase/decrease by approximately
HK$1,052,000 (2023: HK$1,756,000) as a result of the
changes in fair value of these investments.

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to
a failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising
from the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each customer. The default risk of the
industry in which customers operate also has an influence on credit
risk but to a lesser extent. The Directors consider the credit risk
under control since the management exercise due care in granting
credit and check the financial background of these customers on a
regular basis.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies.

The Directors acknowledged that operational and financial status
of the Group's customers, especially those customers in the
property sector who are vulnerable to the related governmental
policies, are subject to a certain degree of volatility under the
prevailing political, fiscal and economic conditions from time to
time.

FA 35 2 B
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HmIZER @)
(iii) B EK R (&
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

8.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)

For loan and interest receivables, the Group has a high
concentration of credit risk on loans and interest receivables as
10% (2023: 11%) and 50% (2023: 51%) of the total loans and
interest receivables was due from the single largest customer
and the five largest customers in the money lending segment
respectively.

For finance lease receivables, the Group has a high concentration
of credit risk on finance lease receivables as 47% (2023: 42%) and
100% (2023: 100%) of the total finance lease receivables was due
from the single largest customer and the five largest customers in
the finance leasing segment respectively.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical locations
are mainly in the PRC, which accounted for 99% (2023: 99%) of
the total trade receivables as at 31 March 2024. The Group has
concentration of credit risk as 55% (2023: 48%) and 84% (2023:
80%) of the total trade receivables were due from the Group’s
largest customer and the five largest customers respectively.

In order to minimise the credit risk, especially on the money
lending business and finance leasing business, the Group has
adopted and followed a series of internal control procedures to
ensure a comprehensive risk management, so as to safeguard the
interests of the Company and its shareholders. The key internal
controls adopted by the Group in terms of credit risk assessment,
credit approval and ongoing monitoring of loan recoverability and
loan collection are outlined below:

(1) Credit risk assessment by the business team

After receiving the potential customer’s application, the
business team will, in compliance with the requirements
under applicable laws and regulations in Hong Kong and the
PRC, perform know-your-client (the “KYC") process, conduct
background and credit checks on the applicant and guarantor
(if any) and their respective assets and financial conditions,
conduct interviews with the applicant and perform due
diligence on the intended lease assets (in the case of finance
lease).
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For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)

(2) Formulation of the preliminary business
proposal by the business team

Based on the results of the credit risk assessment, the
business team will formulate the key terms of the loan or the
finance lease, including the principal amount, the interest rate
and the tenure, and issue a preliminary business proposal,
taking into consideration factors including:

(a)

(b)

(h)

whether there are any personal or corporate guarantees;

whether there is any security;

whether there is any connected person relationship as
ascribed under the Listing Rules;

the background, income stream, and personal financial
position of individual clients;

the financial status, business performance, reputation in
industry, business plan and shareholder’s background of

the corporate customers;

the cost of providing such financial assistance services (if
any);

the risk factors; and

the proposed use of proceeds by borrowers.

The interest rate determined should reflect the risk level
for the transaction and should be in compliance with the
requirements under applicable laws.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)

(3) Assessing by the risk control and compliance

(4)

(5)

department

After receiving the relevant application materials and the
preliminary business proposal from the business team, the
risk control and compliance department of the Group will
independently review the entire application including the
KYC, due diligence and credit risk assessment materials and
further evaluate the terms of the transaction, and formulate
its independent opinions and/or suggestions.

Credit approval

For the business cases which have passed the credit
assessment procedures as outlined above, they will then
be passed to the executive committee or the Board or the
shareholders of the Company (as the case may be) for
approval in accordance with the transaction size indicated
by applicable percentage ratios under the Listing Rules.
The company secretary of the Company will calculate the
size tests for each transaction for Directors’ review and
consideration in order to comply with the Listing Rules
including the notification and shareholder’s approval
requirements, and where necessary, consult with the
Company's legal adviser or financial adviser.

On going monitoring of loan recoverability and
loan collection

(@ In respect of money lending clients, the Group will
issue a monthly statement setting out the outstanding
payables and the due dates, which will be sent to the
relevant customer as well as for the business team to
follow up in due course. In respect of finance lease
clients, the Group will visit the business premises of the
customers quarterly, communicate with the person-in-
charge regarding the business operations and financial
conditions of the customers and issue payment notices
to the customers.
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8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 8.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Credit risk (Continued)

(5) On going monitoring of loan recoverability and
loan collection (Continued)

(b)

The business team will communicate with the customers
on a regular basis to understand the customers’ latest
situation. For finance lease customers, the business team
will perform checks on the use of proceeds within one
month of drawdown, and subsequently will perform
checks on the business operations of the customers on a
quarterly basis.

Customers will be required to submit supporting
documents (such as financial statements, bank or
securities account statements and title certificates) on a
regular basis. For finance lease customers, the business
team will perform checks on the usage of the finance
lease assets and take photos of the conditions of the
finance lease assets during on-site inspection for cross-
checking by the risk control team. The Group will closely
monitor the situation of the customers by various means
and watch out for any adverse condition or red flag
which may give rise to a default in payment.

For customers who are in default, an overdue repayment
notice will be issued, and the customer’s office or
residential unit may be visited. The Group will analyse
the financial status of the overdue customers, and
discuss with the customers and make updates to the
repayment plan as appropriate with a view to gradually
recover the overdue payments. The status of the overdue
transactions will be reported to the management
and Directors of the Company on a regular basis. If
necessary, the Group may commence legal actions
against the customer after seeking legal advice.

(b)
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8.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk of financial assets on an ongoing basis throughout
each reporting period by comparing the risk of a default occurring
as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date
of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and
supportive forwarding-looking information. Especially the following
information is used:

— actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause
a significant change to the borrower’s ability to meet its
obligations;

— actual or expected significant changes in the operating results
of the borrower;

— significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same borrower;

—  significant changes in the value of the collateral or in the
quality of guarantees or credit enhancements; and

—  significant changes in the expected performance and behavior
of the borrower, including changes in the payment status of
borrowers.

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor is more
than 30 days past due in making a contractual payment, unless
the Group has supportable information which can demonstrate
otherwise. A default on a financial asset occurs when a debtor fails
to make contractual payments within 90 days when they fall due
and this debtor is unlikely to repay the amount due.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 8.

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Credit risk (Continued)

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing to engage in a
repayment plan with the Group. The Group normally categorises a
receivable for write off when the Group determine that the debtor
does not have assets or source of income that could generate
sufficient cash flow to repay the amounts subject to write-off.
Where receivables have been written off, the Group, if practicable
and economical, continues to engage in enforcement activity to
attempt to recover the receivable due.

Save for specified in respective notes, the Group uses four
categories for loans and interest receivables, finance lease
receivables, other loans and interest receivables, deposits and other
receivables, amounts due from an associate which reflect their
credit risk and how the loss provision is determined for each of the
categories. In calculating the expected credit loss rates, the Group
considers historical loss rates based on the market benchmark or
internal records for each category and adjusts for forward looking
data.
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Category Definition Loss provision
kWl B SRR S
Performing The counterparty has a low risk of default 12-month expected credit losses
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credit risk since initial recognition
TR EERE B % sl LR K IR IE AN SHTREEERE-—BEERE
In default There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired
credit-impaired
EN BRBRTEECBHREGRE S HTREREERE—EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor Amount is written off
is in severe financial difficulty and the
Group has no realistic prospect of recovery.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 8.

MEEREEBERBE

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) (&)
Credit risk (Continued) E8RM @
Loans and Finance Other loans Deposits Amounts
interest lease and interest and other due from an
receivables receivables receivables receivables associate Total
Hith BER e —Fa
W EM K EWRRE ERERR Hith HERT
i)Y HERE FE R A st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER T#ERT FTER TER TER
2024 ZEImE
Carrying amount REE 445,457 41,849 10,226 210,336 186 708,054
Loss allowance BEEE (133,561) (41,849) - - - (175,410)
Carrying amount (net)  BREE (3%0) 311,896 - 10,226 210,336 186 532,644
Loans and Finance Other loans Deposits
interest lease and interest and other
receivables receivables receivables receivables Total
Hith Bek
W E R K& FEM R E W ET K Hth
FIE MERIE FE FEW I “st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET TEx FEx FET
2023 —BCCHF
Carrying amount IREE 468,142 47,897 24,564 222,572 763,175
Loss allowance E5IEBHE (126,069) (43,351) = 5 (169,420)
Carrying amount (net)  BRTEE (228 342,073 4,546 24,564 222,572 593,755
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LR M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 8.

MEEREEBERBE

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) (#)
Credit risk (Continued) EERR @
Loans and Finance Other loans Deposits Amounts
interest lease and interest and other due from
receivables receivables receivables receivables an associate Total
Hth BER e —Fa
e EM K EWRRE ERERR Hith HERT
i)} HEREA FE FEW I b Q] Mgt
2024 —ETmE 30% 100% - - - 25%
2023 TECZHE 27% 91% = - NAZREH 22%

All of these receivables after loss allowance are considered to
have low risk and under the ‘Performing’ category because they
have a low risk of default and have strong ability to meet their
obligations.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management to finance the Group's operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management
monitors the utilisation of its bank balances and cash so as to
minimise the liquidity risk.

Except for a long term loan of HK$343,000 of which the maturity
is beyond one year in 2023, the maturity dates of all financial
liabilities are repayable on demand or within one year as at the end
of each of the reporting periods.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values due
to short-term or immediate maturities.

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments
that are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period
for recurring measurement, grouped into Levels 1, Levels 2 or
Levels 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable
or unobservable in accordance with the Group's accounting policy.

PRA = E RUWRIE (EHFRE IR )
HRmERERAREB R8RS
MR EENEREREZEER

MENE £ AR

REERPETAR AEEKEEL
MREERRERREESERE  BX
HERERAEEEERTEES KA
BRETRERIZFE - EEBEE
HIRTTREB AR ZEAMN R LUE
BrRBETER -

RN 2 =—FRIHAEMR343,000%
TR R BE —F RERER
FOFBETHAEEHNERERTN —
FRNEE-

ATEE
EERA ARERREBEEHIE
FEIH SRMEERS M AR HH
A ER ARG M B RER ZREER
HAFEHES-

TREHRBEEMEEENRZREHR
UrrEstEzEMIAED T BE
AEEGSHHRREQAFETRREN
TAHRREENERE B -F B
HE=fE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R IEERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

9. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 9. RFEFAE®
Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 March 2024: A_E_ME=ZB=+—HZRr¥E
Bz BaRIEEE

Fair value measurements using
ERAUTHARBZATENE
Level 1: Level 2: Level 3: Total
FE: FIE: E=E: 4t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FAT FHET FAET

Recurring fair value measurements: & E M QA F(EE ¢
Financial assets at fair value through IZQFEF A E M2 M@ W m

other comprehensive income Z2EMEE
— Unlisted equity security —JELEMRAEES - 5,260 - 5,260
Investment properties KEME - - 110,142 110,142
Total recurring fair value KEM AT EtEARER
measurements - 5,260 110,142 115,402
Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 March 2023: N _E_—EF=B=+—HZA¥E
=k €A
Fair value measurements using
FEANTHABEZ ATENE
Level 1: Level 2: Level 3: Total
£ £ = Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET THET FHET
Recurring fair value REUERTESE
measurements:
Financial assets at fair value BATEF AEMEERE
through other comprehensive ZERMEE
income
— Unlisted equity security —JELHRAES = 8,780 = 8,780
Investment properties KEYE - = 121,433 121,433
Total recurring fair value KEMNTESEREE
measurements - 8,780 121,433 130,213
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A B ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 9. AFEFE®W
Disclosure of valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value NEESAEZHERTREBAZBEZ
measurements: WEE
Level 2 fair value measurements E_EATEFE
Description Valuation technique Inputs 2024 2023
18 fR{ER M A 8% T UE g =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Financial assets at Comparable Share price and 5,260 8,780
fair value through other Transaction Method marketability
comprehensive income discount
— Unlisted equity security
BATESFARME2ERE LRIXZE B R mS R
ZEMEE #r:e
—IF LR AT 5
Level 3 fair value measurements BZERATEFE
Effect on fair
value for
increase of
Description Valuation technique Unobservable inputs Range input 2024 2023
BAYEEM
B R TIRRBAYE §E HATEZHE ZEZMmE it 2
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FEL
Investment properties  Income capitalisation (i) Monthly rental RMB165/m? (i) Increase 110,142 121,433
(ii) Rental yield 6% (ii) Decrease
RENmE BEERE HAEE ARM165T/FHK ()M
(iR g E=R 6% (iymb

There were no transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy in

the current and prior years.

2B EEITER

REFERBEFE &ATE

i
=
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R IEERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

9. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 9. RFEFAE®
The movements during the year in the balance of these level 3 fair EE=—BAFEFNEZHEGRNERN
value measurements are as follow: =EIN T -
2024 2023
—EZWmE —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Investment properties KREME
At beginning of year R 121,433 129,026
Fair value (loss)/gain NEE (BBE) W (4,903) 2,051
Exchange differences BE R =48 (6,388) (9,644)
At end of year RER 110,142 121,433
Change in fair value (loss)/gain RREPARMFEESABRED
included in profit or loss for assets held NEE (B518) @&
at the end of the reporting period (4,903) 2,051
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A B ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

10. REVENUE 10. E%%8
An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as follows: FRAEBRZSZEB 2 2TOT -
2024 2023
—EmE -2 =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Trading of goods BEMM - 111,478
Provision of international air and sea freight 32BN % & iE F EERT
forwarding services 1,621 1,816
Consultancy income from finance leases RMEREREBRRA - 537
Interest income from money lending BEF BWA 7,455 7,902
Brokerage commission and consultancy BEMIAERLEBRE A A
income from securities and future brokerage 1M K B8 RS WA
related services 45 293
Brokerage commission and consultancy MERLCRB R LA RER
income from property brokerage service N - 814
Heating and cooling supply by geothermal — HiZEABEMHBERL S
energy 16,425 18,718
Construction contracting services fee income IR K G IRFEE A 102,734 230,100
Interior design service income EANFRBUA 254 6,482
Project management service income EHEEERBUWA 10,792 31,371
Heating supply and industrial steam income  fHBE & T2 ZE SR A 51,928 60,406
Rental income & WA 6,333 6,624
Data analytical service income R D ITARFEURA 17,383 28,124
214,970 504,665
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R IEERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

10. REVENUE (CONTINUED) 10. E¥% @)
2024 2023
—E-E TEBT=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Revenue from contracts with BEEaHRE (M)
customers (Note) 201,182 490,139
Revenue from other sources: FBEMKIFE 2 W -
Interest income from money lending BEF2UWA 7,455 7,902
Rental income from investment properties KREMEZHSWRA 6,333 6,624
214,970 504,665
Timing of recognition of revenue from BEREHNIRAEEERE -
contracts with customers:
At a point in time RHE— KRR 1,621 113,295
Over time W 5 R 7S 199,561 376,844
201,182 490,139
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FEMEERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

10. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Note:

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers:

Year ended 31 March 2024

10. B ¥ w

M5

ERAENREZAD

BE-ZT-MFE=B=+—HLEE

Heating
International and cooling
Securities  air and sea supply of Building  Customised
Trading of Finance  and futures freight Property  geothermal  construction technical Project  Centralised
goods leasing  brokerage  forwarding brokerage energy  contracting support management heating Total
a5k EARAZR HEE % HH
EEER  BEME  MESE BLEE MREEE  #BRS  REAR KRB BEEE EMMB @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiEn FEn FEn FEn FEn FEn T TEn FiEn FiEn FEn
Geographic Markets HEHR
Hong Kong &E - - [ - - - - - - - [
PRC HE - - - - - 16,425 102,734 17,637 10,792 51,928 199,516
Singapore g - - - 1,62 - - - - - - 1,62
- - 45 1,621 - 16,425 102,734 17,637 10,792 51,928 201,182
Major Products/Services IEER/BE
Trading of electronic products - - - - - - - - - - -
Financial services - - 45 - - - - - - - 45
International air and sea freight
forwarding services - - - 1,621 - - - - - - 1,621
Property brokerage and consultancy
services - - - - - - - - - - -
Heating and cooling supply by
geothermal energy - - - - - 16,425 - - - - 16,425
Building construction contracting
services = = = = = = 102,734 = = = 102,734
Interior design services - - - - - - - 254 - - 254
Data analytical services - - - - - - - 17,383 - - 17,383
Project management services - - - - - - - - 10,792 - 10,792
Heating supply and industrial steam - - - - - - - - - 51,928 51,928
- - 45 1,61 - 16,425 102,734 17,637 10,792 51,928 201,182
Timing of recognition of revenue  F R AKKEHEDRE
from contracts with customers
At a point in time RE-BEY E - = 1,621 - = = = = = 1,621
Over time REmES - - [ - - 16,425 102,734 17,637 10,792 51,928 199,561
- - 45 1,621 - 16,425 102,734 17,637 10,792 51,928 201,182
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R IEERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

10. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Note: (Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2023

10. EHEEE ¢
F5E -

(&

&)

HEZZ=F=-RB=1+—HIFE

Heating
International and cooling
Securities air and sea supply of Building  Customised
Trading of Finance  and futures freight Property  geothermal  construction technical Project  Centralised
goods leasing brokerage  forwarding brokerage energy  contracting support  management heating Total
#5k  ABAZR ik i £ 2
EEER HERE Beag BLE e HERS BEAE Rl R EHEE St i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TEn TEr TERr TERr TEr TERr Thn TEn TEn TEn
Geographic Markets i)
Hong Kong &4 - - 293 - - - - - - - 293
PRC T 11478 537 = S 814 18,718 230,100 34,606 313N 60,406 488,030
Singapore g - - - 1816 - - - - - 5 1816
111478 537 293 1,816 814 18,718 230,100 34,606 3137 60,406 490,139
Major Products/Services IDER/IRH
Trading of electronic products BEZTER 111,478 - - - - - - - - S 111,478
Financil services SREH - 537 293 - - - - - - - 830
International air and sea freight ERRERS LEERE

forwarding services - - - 1816 - - - - - - 1816
Property brokerage and consultany  MERLRERRH

services S S = = 814 = = = = - 814
Heating and cooling supply by HAEHERS

geothermal energy - - - - - 18718 - - - - 18718
Building construction contracting | E2:2:0:50)

Services - - - - - - 230,100 - - - 230,100
Interior design senvices ERRRE - - - - - - - 6,482 - - 6482
Data analytical services HEAMRE - - - - - - - 28,124 - - 28,124
Project management services BEEERE - - - - - - - - 31371 S 31371
Heating supply and industrial steam HRRIZES - - - - - - - - - 60,406 60,406

111478 537 293 1,816 814 18,718 230,100 34,606 3137 60,406 490,139
Timing of recognition of revenue EBReHNERINE
from contracts with customers
Ata point in time RE-BEY 111478 - 1 1816 - - - - = S 113295
Over time [ilg4 = 537 292 - 814 18,718 230,100 34,606 313N 60,406 376,844
11478 537 293 1,816 814 18,718 230,100 34,606 3137 60,406 490,139
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LR M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

10. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Trading of goods

Revenue from the trading of goods is recognised when the goods
are delivered and titles have passed, at which time all the following
conditions are satisfied:

the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of the goods;

—  the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement
to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective
control over the goods sold;

- the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

— it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to the Group; and

—  the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

Sales to customers are normally made with credit terms of 90 days.

Finance leasing

Consultancy income from finance leasing is recognised in the
accounting period in which the services are rendered. The
customers pay the consultancy service fee to the Group according
to the payment schedules as stipulated in the contracts.

Securities and futures brokerage

Commission income on dealing in securities and futures contract is
recognised on a trade date basis when the services are rendered,
the amount for which can be reliably estimated and it is probable
that the income will be received. The commission income is due on
the settlement date of their respective trade dates, normally two or
three business days after the respective trade date.

Consultancy income from securities and future brokerage related
services is recognised in the accounting period in which the
services are rendered. The customers pay the consultancy service
fee to the Group according to the payment schedules as stipulated
in the contracts.

International air and sea freight forwarding

Income from provision of freight forwarding services is recognised
when the services are provided. The Group normally allow credit
period of 90 days.

10. B ¥ w

BEERm
BEERRERERRG RIS S
BEER ERTUREEREEN:

- FEEREREARRZIEZRR
RERERTFET ;

- FERUTRFRBHMEBRZE
BEESHE (—REREESR
BEMZREE)  TEREBERE
k2

- WEESTEEEMEE

- HEXSHEEZEEN DA ER
AFER ; &

- WMREXRZEKAREELEZM
REEF]EEMIGHE o

mEFHE —RIZIOREEHREH -
MEMES
MEHERBABARERERSZE
SR A - R R RIBEBG TR/

7R R R A A 5 B S Y R R AR 75
o

25 RHIE A

BERBEGHNTRZZAEWAR
ERERBRREZZ AEEET  H
28 P] E P] SR (L 5 B R A TR B BEUR
B-AEWARSEXZHZEER
HEE —RASEXRZARMA=
(El=ES=K

855 R A S A AC TR R AR 75 B R AR
ERHRBZESAHERER -EF
RIFEGNTANTREERAESER
SATEBRTEE ©

BEREMEREBLEE

RHUEEERS 2 WARREBRRE
Fipe sl o R EE —fRIBMHOOKREEH -
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10. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Property brokerage

Commission income on dealing in property agency contract is
recognised when the services are rendered, the amount for which
can be reliably estimated and it is probable that the income will be
received. The customers pay the commission income to the Group
upon the sales of property is completed.

Consultancy income from property brokerage related services is
recognised in the accounting period in which the services are
rendered. The customers pay the consultancy service fee to the
Group according to the payment schedules as stipulated in the
contracts.

Heating and cooling supply by geothermal
energy

Income from heating and cooling supply by geothermal energy
is recognised when the services are rendered. The customers
pay the fee according to the heating and cooling supply actually
consumed.

Building construction contracting

The Group provides construction contracting services to the
customers. When the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the performance obligations of a construction contract can be
measured reasonably, revenue from the contract and the contract
costs are recognised using the percentage of completion method,
measured by reference to the percentage of contract costs incurred
to date to the estimated total contract costs for the contract. This
method provides the most reliable estimate of the percentage of
completion.

When the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligations of a construction contract cannot be
measured reasonably, revenue is recognised only to the extent of
contract costs incurred that is expected to be recoverable.

The customers pay the contract prices to the Group according to
the payment schedules as stipulated in the contracts. If the service
rendered by the Group exceeds the payments, a contract asset is
recognised. If the payments exceed the service rendered, a contract
liability is recognised.
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R IEERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

10. 8 X% w
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

10. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

11.

Customised technical support

The Group provides customised technical support services which
include building architecture and interior design services and
data analytical services to the customer. Building architecture and
interior design services income and data analytical services income
are recognised when the services are rendered, the amount for
which can be reliably estimated and they are probable that the
income will be received. The customers pay the services income to
the Group according to the payment schedules as stipulated in the
contracts.

Project management

Revenue from the Group's project management business derived
from entrusted construction agreements and management
services. Project management service income is recognised when
the services are rendered, the amount for which can be reliably
estimated and it is probable that the income will be received. The
customers pay the service income to the Group according to the
payment schedules as stipulated in the contracts.

Centralised heating

Heating supply and industrial steam income is recognised when the
services are rendered. The customers pay the fee according to the
heating and industrial steam actually consumed.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Directors, being the chief operating
decision maker, for the purpose of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on the type of goods
sold or services delivered or provided. The Directors have chosen
to organise the Group around difference in products and services.
No operating segments identified by the chief operating decision
maker have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments
of the Group.

Specifically, the Group's reportable segments are as follows:

(a) Trading of goods segment engages in trading of products
including but not limited to electronic appliance in the PRC;

(b) Finance leasing segment engages in finance leasing of plant
and machinery as well as providing consultancy services with
respect of finance leasing in the PRC;

10. B ¥ w

11.

R &
AEBAEF RS RS ER
¥ BERFRRRENRHRBEN
RBEATRE EFREARERR
st AR5 A LR R 3 AT AR S IR ARG
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IHEEHE
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RERHKRGRFEEMEEIENRE
flr 51 2 WA 7R & ] BE UR [O] B BE B0 ©
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B SZ TR A
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fHBR B T 3228 SRR A IS 12 11 AR 75 5
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

11.SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(o]

(d)

(e)

)

(9)

(h)

0]

@

(k)

U]

Money lending segment engages in money lending in Hong
Kong;

Securities and futures brokerage segment engages in
securities and futures dealing services as well as providing
consultancy services with respect of securities and futures
brokerage in Hong Kong;

International air and sea freight forwarding segment engages
in the provision of international air and sea freight forwarding
and logistic services to customers in Singapore;

Property investment segment engages in investments of
properties for rental income and capital appreciation in the
PRC;

Customised technical support segment engages in provision
of building architecture and interior design services and data
analytical services in the PRC;

Property brokerage segment engages in provision of property
agency and consultancy service in the PRC;

Project management segment engages in entrusted
construction and projects management services in the PRC;

Geothermal energy segment engages in provision of heating
and cooling supply by geothermal energy to buildings in the
PRC;

Building construction contracting segment engages in
provision of building construction contracting service on
project basis in the PRC; and

Centralised heating segment engages in the business of using
coal-fired boilers to provide centralised heating, including
industrial steam, through centralised pipe networks in the
PRC.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR MBERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

11.SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results by

reportable and operating segments.

Year ended 31 March 2024

1. PEPER @
DEWE R ELE
TXAAERZARE RLEEH
D7 W B o

BE_T_NME=A=+—HLEFE

International
Securities air and Customised Building
Trading of Finance Money and futures seafreight  Property  technical  Property Project Geothermal construction ~ Centralised
goods leasing lending ~ brokerage forwarding investment  support  brokerage management energy  contracting heating Total
25k ARRZR i i+
BEBR  HEHE 8 HEER BLEE  WERE  RUNE  WEEE gEER WAE  RERE  £0ER @t
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TEn T#n TR TR TEn TR TR Tin T#n TR TEn T#n
Revenue from external customers — SMPERWE - - 7,455 45 1621 6333 17,637 - 10,792 16425 102,734 51928 214,970
Reportable segment profit/loss) AREHBEH/ (B (15,389) (1,148) (2,456) (6,665) (551) 211 6,521 (3.789) (29337 (5829) (15362 (19725  (93,489)
Share of loss of associates HMEBEATES ©)]
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE-EHBATZ NG
(note 42) (Hzta2) 205
Gain on disposal of associates HEREL T NG 239
Unallocated corporate income FARBEMA 4,364
Unallocated corporate expenses FARLERT (39.721)
Loss before tax RiaisE (128411)
—
Year ended 31 March 2023 BE_ZE_-—F=-FB=+t—HILEE
International
Securities airand Customised Building
Trading of Finance Money and futures  sea freight Property technical Property Project  Geothermal ~ construction ~ Centralised
goods leasing lending  brokerage  forwarding  investment support  brokerage  management energy  contracting heating Total
#5k  EARRZER it &2
BEBR REHE #E  BESE  BLEE  MERE  RWRE  MEEL EEER HAE  BEAE EPEA 5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn Thn Thr TEr TEn Thn Thn TEn T Thn TEr Thn Thr
Revenue from external customers PR RlE 111478 537 7,902 293 1816 6,624 34,606 814 3131 18718 230,100 60406 504,665
Reportable segment profit/loss) UREAWER/ (FE) (192,228) (100)  (55380)  (16761) (310) 738 13,307 (6399) (2697 2,985) 1487 (2,285 (287,959

Share of loss of associates HERERTER

Gain on deregistration of a subsidiary  FE—EHEAE 2 iE

Fair value loss on step acquisition of ~ 25 WEHEBAZZ
subsiciaries AFEES

Unallocated corporate income FARBERA

Unallocated corporate expenses FARLERT

Loss before tax BialsE

(482)
2,769

(1,059)
11,664
(41,009)

(316,076)
—
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LR M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

11.SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Segment revenues and results (Continued)

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same
as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 4. Segment
results represent the (loss from) profit earned by each segment
without allocation of central administration costs, Directors’
emoluments, depreciation of certain property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets, share of loss of associates, gain on disposal
of a subsidiary, gain on disposal of associates, net foreign exchange
loss, loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, interest
expense on certain lease liabilities and trust loans, interest income
from other loan receivables, bank interest income, dividend income
and sundry income. This is the measure reported to the chief
operating decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation
and performance assessment.

Segment assets and liabilities

M. 3EEF @

DE U B R AR (@)

REDBZ G5t BUREM FFART A A
EBRZEHBRER - DB EERER
KD (BEEZ BB BILZEA
HURDEPARITHEE - EFH
B ETYWE BERREBURERE
BEZINE DEBEQRERE HE
—ENB AR Z W HE —FEHE
AR ZWHE EREGRFE -HEY
X BEAREBZBE -ETHE&RRE
RIEFERF ERZ  HiEUWER
ZF B A RITHERA S REWA
REBEWA IR EEZEERRE
ERFERDEKRRRFEE-

SHEERER

The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by T AREERRRGDHAD2EE
reportable segments. VSa=R=bakiine
At 31 March 2024 RIZ_MFE=A=+—H
Securities and Customised Building
Trading of Finance Money futures Property technical Property Project Geothermal construction ~ Centralised
goods leasing lending  brokerage  investment support  brokerage management energy  contracting heating Total
25K B ¥
BEER  MERE B8 HESE  MERE KRR WREE  HAEE wHE  BEAR  EhER it
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TR TR TiEn TiEn TEn TiEn TiEn TER TR TR TiEn TEn
ASSETS EE
Segment assets (Note) HBEE (K 5,549 4,374 312,737 2,026 111,718 177,092 9,931 40,148 209,249 544,860 150470 1,568,154
Unallocated corporate assets ~ KARGEEE 154,783
Consolidated assets RREE 1,722,937
—
LIABILITIES afi
Segment liabilities par:5=1-1 130,447 3,387 - 4,538 591 14,592 608 17,832 78,779 438,926 78,342 768,042

Unallocated corporate liabilities kAR L2 &

Consolidated liabilties GRaf

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2023/24
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2024&F — &

11.SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)
At 31 March 2023

International

AR MBERRMEE

M. 3EER @
PHEERER®
RIZEZ=%F=HF=+—H

THFE=ZB=+—HIFE

Securities airand Customised Building
Trading of finance Money  and futures  sea freight Property technical Property Project  Geothermal  construction  Centralised
qoods leasing lending ~ brokerage  forwarding  investment support  brokerage  management energy  contracting heating Total
5k ERATR jEEd g7
EEBR  REER BE  HEEE  BLRE  MERE  RRE MEES FHER Bk REEE EMER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000
T TEn Tin FiEn FEn Tin TEn T Tén TEn T TEn Tin
ASSETS BE
Seqment assets (Note) HHEE (M) 4537 9,204 342,912 4533 93 121,571 185,575 17,65 58,089 29431 578,206 154106 1,705,912
Unallocated corporate assets ANELERE 188,247
Consolidated assets LREE 1,894,159
—
LIABILITIES B
Seqment lizbilties HPak 136,731 5,763 = 4702 166 603 16,137 804 29,909 52,43 453,958 65,41 766,466
Unallocated corporate liablties ANELERE 23798
Consoldated liabilties £AEE 1,003,764
—
For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and EREDHRBERNEDBEIEE
allocating resources between segments: IR -

— all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income, amounts due from an associate, other loan and
interest receivables, pledged bank deposit, bank balances and
cash, the equipment of head office and certain right-of-use
assets and other receivables; and

— all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other
than tax liabilities, consideration payables and certain lease
liabilities, trust loans and other payables.

BRIERAFEESt A EtMEEREZ

TMEE - BUR—BEE QBN
E-HtIEWRERRME B
HIEfTER ﬁﬁﬁ%&ﬁﬁx
HMERCRERETHERESE
EREMEWRIEIN FRIEEE
HRERERE DI ; &

%ﬁﬁ%%\ﬁﬁﬁ%&%?ﬁ

B ERERUREMEN
AIEJ’I\ PREERHESEERS
DER e
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11.SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

Note: In respect of business segments which incurred recurring losses and were

considered to have indication of suffering impairment loss, the assessment
of possible impairment loss was conducted on relevant segment assets.
Details of the impairment loss assessment and the impairment losses
(if applicable) made for the year ended 31 March 2024 are disclosed in
the respective notes, except for that of the Group’s centralised heating
business.

For segment assets of the Group’s centralised heating business, the
recoverable amount of this business segment's cash generating unit has
been determined based on the value-in-use calculation with reference to
a valuation performed by an independent professional qualified valuer
not connected to the Group. That calculation adopted a pre-tax discount
rate of 17.9% and used cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering 5-year period approved by management of the Group. Cash
flows beyond 5 years were projected by using 2% growth rate. Other key
assumptions for the value-in-use calculations related to the estimation of
cash inflows/outflows, including budgeted revenue, based on such cash
generating unit's past performance and management’s expectations for
the market development. Given that the recoverable amount of this cash
generating unit is higher than its carrying amount, no impairment loss was
recognized in this regard for the year ended 31 March 2024.

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2023/24
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R IEERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

1M1.9HBEH @
DHEEREGRE ®

MIEE -

FEEKB BRI R DA R EBERY
SNEBDEMES  EHERDBEER
AR EBRETHG - BEZE_MF
—R=+—HLEEFENREBETERE
BEEE (WER) 15 B R AaR M & R
B EAEENERHEAEBRSS -

MAEBNETHAETMS > ILEHD
BREELEUNAIBREIESHEESERL
ERTEMENBLEXSERGEME
THEEERNEREESEEE Zt8
HE17.9%NRAIERERERENREKE
EEEEMMLERELFHBAVBERSRE
NRERBAA LERNRERBEA
2%BIIE RETAR - EAEES ENEM
FTERKRDAMRERATHRHBMGE
HhaiERE R ARG DERRES
EXEMNBERRAEERHTHER
WESH - HE_T-_NFE=A=+—HL
FE-ERLEREELEUNAKLEEE
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FEMEERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

11.SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Other segment information

M. 9BEF @
Hith o EpE R

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE _Z_NE=—BA=+—HILFE

International
Securities airand Customised Building
Trading of Finance Money  and futures sea freight Property technical Property Project  Geothermal  construction  Centralised
goods leasing lending ~ brokerage  forwarding  investment support  brokerage  management energy  contracting heating  Unallocated Total
a5k EBRZR i
AR HAER 1] BaaR BLEE FES Bk EE REEE it BEAE fnits A Bt
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
T T T T Fin T T FEn T FEn T TR Fin TEn
Amounts included in the measure of seqment profit ~ HEHDBEAANTEESHAZLE:
or loss or segment assets
Addiions to non-current assets (Note) FEERBEE (D) - - - 1 1 - - - - 865 3911 2780 3 1501
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment LE it ] - - - 2 3 - - 8 n 3,655 8 7,700 186 11,663
Unrealised loss on fair value change on investment BNEATEEN RERER
properties - - - - - 4903 - - - - - - - 4903
Loss on disposalof a subsidiary Note 42) HE-BHEAT ) - - - - 518 - - - - - - - - 518
Impairment loss on finance lease receivable ERBERETE - 4331 - - - - - - - - - - - 4331
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables - - - - - - - - 5230 - - - - 5230
Impairment loss on loans and interest receivables - - 7492 - - - - - - - - - - 7492
Impairment loss on goodill - - - 2403 - - - - - - - - - 2403
Amounts regularly provided to the chief operating  EERTEEEARE]
decision maker but notincuded in the measure of  ABHRHATEE
seqment profitorlos or segment assets:
Loss on disposalof propery, plant and equipment &4 BERREZHE - - - - - - - - - L[] - - - 910
Inerst income ELON - [U [C) (34) = = (5 U (1105) (1 [ (1) (319) (1475)
Year ended 31 March 2023 BE_Z_-—F=-A=+—HLFE
International
Securities and airand Customised Buiding
Trading of Finance Money futures sea freight Property technical Property Project  Geothermal  construction  Centralsed
qoods leasing lending brokerage  forwarding  investment support brokerage  management energy  contracting heating  Unallocated Total
il b =
BRER BERE &8 NERE Bk REER Bk EHEE e AR Bt
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$000 HK$'000
TEn Fin Tin Tin TiEn Tin FiEn Tin Fin Tin TR Fin FiEn
Amounts included in the measure of seqmentpofit ~ ENDEHANTEEBHAZLE:
or loss or segment assets
‘Additions to non-current assets (Note) ; o S o S 5 - - - 30 - nu Bl 45,09
Degreciation of property, plant and equipment N2 BRRRELAE - - - 4 2 - ) 8 8 4105 n 8991 19 13511
Unrealsed gain on far value change on imvestment ~ RENELTEEH *ERUE
properties = = = = = 2051 = > > - - - 2051
Impairment loss on contract assets BHEERERE - - - - - - - - - - 9331 - - 9331
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables EUFEARAME 178,869 - - - - - 400 4618 15,046 - - - - 193933
Impairment logs on loans and interest receivables U - - 595616 - - - - - - - - - 59616
Impairment loss on goodwill [:1-7: - - - 12,197 - - - - - - - - 12,197
Amounts reqularly provided to the chief operating
decsion maker but not included i the measure of
segment profitor Lo or segment asses:
(GainjLoss on disposal of property, plant and b BERRE (WE) /68
equipment - - - - - - - - o 300 o o (70) 230
Interest income FELON (1) (1) 1) (1) - - (17) - (1.416) 1) (18) 1) 3,060) 4527)
Note: Additions to non-current assets included property, plant and equipment, ek . REFRDEECRENE -BERRHE

HE -BVEERREWE-

goodwill, intangible assets and investment properties.
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LR M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

11.SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Geographical information

International air and sea freight forwarding services are carried
out in Singapore. Trading of goods, finance leasing, building
architecture and interior design services, data analytical services,
property brokerage services, project management services,
geothermal energy services, building construction contracting
services and centralised heating services are carried out in the PRC.
Money lending and securities and futures brokerage services are
carried out in Hong Kong.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers
is presented based on the location of the operations of the
customers. Information about the Group’s non-current assets is
presented based on the geographical location of assets.

11.

SERE @
& HF

BIERAZE Fe i L B8 E B TH I # K
BT -EEEm MEEAE - BFER
RENR RS  BIBEDTRS W=
LIRS BB BERS  HBAAERR
B BFREERORBRERHRR
BIHRRBEET - BERBFRAE
RAERBIINEBET

AEBNERRZELRDRERK
EtE2N AEBIIFRBEEEY
TREEREHERS -

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets
SMBE R W ERBEE

2024 2023 2024 2023
—mE Z2Z=fF ZENE ZZ°=H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT FTET FTAET FTET
Hong Kong e 7,500 8,195 1,816 4,325
PRC HE 205,849 494,654 629,613 668,974
Singapore Eiise 1,621 1,816 - 8
214,970 504,665 631,429 673,307

Note: Non-current assets included property, plant and equipment, goodwill,
intangible assets and investment properties.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing
over 10% of the overall revenue of the Group is as follows:

We: FRBEECEVE - BEARE B
B BLEERKREYE-

FTEEXREH

REEEEMAERBAKRDEBBEI0%
ZHREBERLZWAWMT !

2024 2023

ZEZNE BT =F

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#ET FET

— Customer A2 — KR - 111,478
— Customer B3 —BRZ3 48,314 =
— Customer C34 - 9=I"SEL - 118,323
— Customer D3 =N 43,077 107,252

i Revenue from trading of goods segment

g No revenue from Customer A for the year ended 31 March 2024
3 Revenue mainly from building construction contracting segment
4 No revenue from Customer C for the year ended 31 March 2024
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LR M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

12. OTHER INCOME 12. Ht g A
2024 2023
—EmE TECCF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET THET
Interest income from REBUTERZFEWA
- bank —iR1T 377 66
— other loans receivables —HthEWRER 1,098 1,406
— promissory note receivable — PR R - 3,055
Government grant (Note) Bt Bh (i EE) 3,512 4,610
Reversal of impairment loss on FEWmERERIEREBERRE
finance lease receivable 4,398 696
Gain on lease modification HEBI zWa - 49
Dividend income g B 1,972 =
Sundry income HIFWA 917 251
12,274 10,133
Note: During the year, the government grants received by the Group included: Mk © AEE > AEFRESHBFHEEE

(i) a government grant from Singapore of approximately HK$2,000
(2023: HK$4,000) in relation to the job credit scheme in Singapore
on the condition that the Group has made CPF contributions in
Singapore. The government grant has been recognised in the same
years in which the expenses were recognised; and

(i) a government grant from the PRC of approximately HK$3,510,000
(2023: HK$3,982,000) mainly in relation to the subsidies on heating
supply services provided by geothermal energy segment and
centralised heating segment without condition.

]

(i)

PAETINK — B EE BB ER
N BT Bh#92,0008 T (ZF
Z =% 14,0008  RHERETER
BRI IR AE R RATEE MR
ZHNHEEERAFEZZEESE
ERER ; &

F Bk BAE D R EE R B B
FriR it 2 L BVBR TS Bh R 1S
FREN B AT #Bh 493,510,000 7T (=
T =4 3,982,000 7T) °

EFEEEZERERAT 2023/24F 3R
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13.LOSS FOR THE YEAR

The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging the following:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R IEERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

13. FREEHE

rEEZEFRBRNGENRTIIRE
BER

2024 2023
—EIME EC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Operating costs RE A
Cost of trading goods sold B mmidE WA - 109,829
Cost of providing international air and REERMZERE EEERE
sea freight forwarding services BN 1,031 1,184
Cost of providing securities and futures MBS RS KA ERFRT
brokerage related services BN 1 1
Cost of providing property brokerage and R E LD BRI AR AL A
consultancy services 1,595 1,012
Cost of heating and cooling supply by A SE (A BE B2 AR AR
geothermal energy 13,134 13,338
Cost of providing construction REBERKERBHA
contracting services 93,808 191,813
Cost of providing heating supply and IR EBE B T2 A A
industrial steam 64,120 73,961
Cost of providing project management service 1218 B & IR AR 75 A 24 3,376 4,843
Cost of providing data analytical services REEIE D TR A A 1,560 5,111
178,625 401,092
Staff costs BSR4
Directors’ emoluments (note 14(a)) EEHN FTsE14()) 6,845 6,860
Other staff costs Hihg & A 36,198 51,239
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RRER FHBIMHR (REER
(excluding those for Directors) BEEM) 7,997 10,103
Share-based payment — employees MRGOABERNCR—EE 2,919 4,450
53,959 72,652
Finance costs U)o %:N
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEaGNERX 421 1,452
Interest expense on bank loans RITERNEMZ 4,062 5,265
Interest expenses on short-term loans E'L,H BRFERE - 311
Interest expense on trust loans SEEERF BB 26,148 28,594
Interest expense on consideration payable FEAENERX - 830
30,631 36,452

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2023/24




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A B ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

13.LOSS FOR THE YEAR (CONTINUED) 13. FWNEE @
The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging the following: REBZFABELENBRTIEIE
(Continued) BER . ®
2024 2023
—E-mE —ET=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Other items HahIigg
Auditor's remuneration Z BB & 1,300 1,300
Bad debts written off i EE IR AR 5,907 =
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment#J 2 « i = K % 6 2 I &8 11,663 13,511
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FTREEERE 6,393 14,020
Net foreign exchange loss fE R ESIEIFER 127 47
Loss on disposal of property,plant and HEME BERKREZEIE
equipment 9210 230
Repair and rectification costs (Note) BEKRENER (M) 13,692 =
Share-based payment — consultants MRRMm 2B — B’ 117 2,117
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses ~ HEFRAR Y 2 FE A - 109,829
Note: During the year, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Shaanxi MizE : RER ARE—HEE2EN B AT MREL
Jiangwei Construction Engineering Co., Ltd.* (BFIHEBETLREZAR BEETIRERAR (TREIEI) #E
‘AT]) (“Shaanxi Jiangwei”) was ordered by the local court to pay repair HEBRH S MHERRUTEEE AR
and rectification costs of approximately RMB12,568,000 (equivalent to MBS K BB & RH AR 112,568,0007T
approximately HK$13,692,000) in relation to a construction project in (f8E724913,692,0007T) °

Xiangshan, Ningbo.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R IEERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments (Continued)

Note:
(i) Other benefits represented rents paid for Directors’ quarters.

Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in
the Group, four (31 March 2023: three) were Directors
whose emoluments are set out in (a) above. The aggregate
emoluments of the remaining one (31 March 2023:two)
individual were as follows:

EBEME @

1A EERFTETHAEMERK

(a) EFRFTETHAEME

(&)
e

iy HthEANEENEEESHES-

(b) BEEM=
rEERRLRER

X = AT 8 %E%

(ZE-_=F=ZR=+—H:
EERE Z@H@%ZE’ELX(a)

B HEF—% (2

B_=%=A8

=+—H: WB) ALZMEBER

mF
2024 2023
—E-ME —ET=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FTET
Salaries and other benefits e REMBEF 1,500 2,619
Retirement benefits scheme BIRBHFEIH R
contributions 18 105
1,518 2,724
The emoluments were within the following bands: T Y EEA -
2024 2023
bt Sl 1 B 5 S
No. of No. of
employee employee
EE A BB A
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001t 21,500,000 7% = 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001t 22,000,000 7T 1 1

For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the Directors and the
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None
of the Directors and the employees waived or agreed to waive
any emoluments paid by the Group during the years ended 31
March 2024 and 2023.
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For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

15. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

15. FhiSM A

2024 2023
—EME TECCF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current tax: 2HRIE
PRC Enterprise Income Tax R ZEFTER 3,372 7,593
Over provision in prior years: BEFEBREES
PRC Enterprise Income Tax FRE i 2P IEHR = (223)
Deferred tax (note 35): FIEFRIE (FI5E35) !
Current year KEE - 8,684
3,372 16,054

Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided for the years ended
31 March 2024 and 2023 as the loss for the taxation purpose is
estimated during both periods.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the "“EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate
of the PRC subsidiaries, except for Beijing Shuwu Big Data Research
Company Limited* (JIRE R AKIEHIEAE AT (“Beijing
Shuwu"), is 25%.

Beijing Shuwu, which is principally engaged in provision of
financial information, solution and data analytical services in the
PRC and qualified as high-tech enterprise that needs key support,
is entitled to enjoy a lower tax rate of 15% pursuant to Article 28
of the EIT Law.

HREBE_ S _NER_SE_=ZF=
B=+—HILFEMGFMREMS H
BEE WU EMWEREtRE S
MR-

BBPEEXEFRERE (TEERRT
MIE1) RIEEFREBREBRIZAG > &
B E AR GEREBERNBIRMER
RAB (MEREE) BRIN ZMERD
25% e

IREREENTRUEFREMBE
FBRDEZBRBBEDTRT  BIRE
HMEFHNSMRMEE RBEER
BMIESB281% > I ER15%HRER

o
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AR

SHBHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

15.INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

15. FifEMRA @

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the loss FRZAENAZEGSER REM
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and L EWER R 2 BRI A B E R
other comprehensive income as follows: T
2024 2023
bt Sl 11 B 5 —F-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Loss before tax B Al E5 18 (128.411) (316,076)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 25% RAMFAERIRE25%
(2023: 25%) (ZBT=F:25%) 5182
RIE (32,102) (79,019)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries THMAZHEBEEZHE AR
operating in other jurisdictions KETEREZ 2 4,109 7,737
Tax effect of expenses not deductible ENCEAL oy A
for tax purpose 21,567 72,977
Tax effect of income not taxable BARRBAZRFEE
for tax purpose (2,435) (16,994)
Tax effect of tax losses utilised EFARBEEZNBZE — (73)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised FERZMBHEBZRBEEE 12,225 22,940
Over provision in prior years BEFEBREER - (223)
Reversal of deferred tax assets IBIETRIB & E B — 8,684
Tax effect of temporary difference FER 2 ERERRBEEE
not recognised 8 25
Income tax expense FRiSMBE = 3,372 16,054
Details of deferred tax are set out in note 35. IRIEFR B BRI MIEE35 0
16. DIVIDEND 16. iR 2

No dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended 31 March
2024, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the
reporting period (2023: nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2024&F — &

17.LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable

LR M ERRMEE

17. SRE18

ERBEREANBEESREAREEES

THFE=ZB=+—HIFE

to the owners of the Company is based on the following data: BILBRBEUTEESE
2024 2023
—E-mE —EC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Loss K548
Loss for the purpose of basic and diluted loss FLERER R EBEMS 2
per share 518
(Loss for the year attributable to owners of (A THEA AEIEEREE)
the Company) (131,062) (333,793)
2024 2023
—EZNE TEC=F
‘000 ‘000
T T
Restated
&7
Number of shares KRiH&E
Weighted average number of ordinary shares FiERER KB HEGEMS 2
for the purpose of basic and diluted loss per &8 % N F 5
share 1,899,858 1,686,060

On 26 July 2023, the Company proposed to implement the right
issue (the “Rights Issue”) on the basis of two (2) rights shares
(the "Rights Share(s)”) for every five (5) existing shares held on 24
August 2023 at the subscription price of HK$0.16 per Right Share.
The Right Issue was completed on 21 September 2023. As a result
of the Rights Issue, the weighted average number of ordinary
shares adopted in the calculated of the basic and diluted loss
per share for the year ended 31 March 2023 have been adjusted
retrospectively.

The computation of diluted loss per share for the year ended
31 March 2024 does not assume the exercise of the Company’s
outstanding share options because the exercise price of those
shares is higher than the average market price of the Company’s
shares.

There was no dilutive potential ordinary shares during the year
ended 31 March 2023, and therefore, diluted loss per share is
equal to basic loss per share.

RIEZ=FtHBIZ+/"B ' &xAQF
BEER_ZEZ=F/\BZ+@HmH
BREAGRBEERNMEZEM(2)K
HEER S (MERRRD)) 2 B2 LR
BEESRERRKRM.16ETTEITHR
(TR ) - HRE \_7__¢jlﬁ
“t+—HEM - -ARNEK FEEE
T _F=A=4+— ElJtEfZ&Hx
EXRREEEIEMRMN 2 ZERmE
THHEFHEBMARE

HE_Z_WE=RB=+—HLtEE
HNERBEHEENTETIERREA
M ARITHENBREETSE TAER
ZERMUITEESR AR RMH
FHEHE

RE=E —HF=RA=+—HILF

B I#ﬂo—t/af%&, @R Wt 8K
BEHREASREREGE -
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R IEERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

18. ME - -BEKRKE

Plant Land
Furniture Office Motor  Leasehold and and  Construction
and fixtures  equipment vehicles improvements ~ machinery building in progress Total
FHRREE  HOERE RE HEMEEE  REREE  HRET HRIR it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER TER TER
CosT ik
At 1 April 2022 RZE-_ERA-H 874 3,409 11,549 1,215 169,604 39,576 95,341 321,568
Exchange realignment EREE 36) (1) (319) 6) 12,689) 2,960) (1.131) (23,248
Acquistion of subidiaries WERBAT 16 8 - - - - = 59
Additions AE - 26 331 - 22,416 - 22,320 45,093
Transfer from construction in progress BRERRIR - = = = 2,409 = (2,409) =
Disposals e - - {1,931) - (1,545 - (489) (3.964)
AL 31 March 2023 and 1 Aprl 2023 RISTZEZAT+-BRCRICE
mE-8B 854 3,367 9,630 1,209 180,199 36,616 107,633 339,508
Exchange realignment EREE (23) 73) (226) 4 (9,530) (1,937) (5,692) (17,485)
Additions AE = 157 35 - 2,701 236 448 7571
Transfer from construction in progress BkpnEIR - - - - 8,173 - (8173) =
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBLT S (33) S - S S = (33
Disposals HE - - - - (5,754) - - (5,754)
At 31 March 2024 RIE-MEZA=+-H 831 3418 9439 1,205 175,789 34915 98,210 323,807
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ZHTERAE
AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2022 RZB-"EME-A 739 2,734 10,828 877 17,057 2375 - 34,610
Exchange realignment EQRE (31) (50) (264) (6) (1,248) (174) = (1,773)
Provided for the year FRER 13 261 29 07 11,303 1478 = 13,511
Disposals HE = = (1,931) = (346) = = ¥}
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RIEZZEZR=+-ARIZZZE
mE-H m 2,945 8,862 1,098 26,766 3,679 - 44,071
Exchange realignment EREE 1) 49) (187) 4 (1475) (204) = (1,940)
Provided for the year Enik " 204 275 109 9,644 1420 - 11,663
Disposal of subsidiaries HEREBAT S (21) S S S S = 1)
Disposals HE - - = = (1,062) - - (1,062)
At 31 March 2024 RIZZMEZR=+-8 m 3,073 8,950 1,203 33873 4895 - 52,705
CARRYING VALUES e
At 31 March 2024 AZETME=E=+-H 120 345 489 2 141,916 30,020 98,210 271,102
At 31 March 2023 RIBZ=F=f=1-8H 133 422 768 m 153433 32,931 107,633 295,437
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LR M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated
on a straight-line basis at the following useful life and rates per

1. ME - -BERSZHE @

LtHEME - -BERRFEEREER
EEZU T ERAFRHRFERRR

annum: &g .
Furniture and fixtures 10% - 33.33% B REE 10% - 33.33%
Office equipment 10% — 33.33% YN 10% - 33.33%
Motor vehicles 10% - 33.33% AE 10% - 33.33%
Leasehold improvements Over the term of the lease or three HEWEEE HEFHRI=F
years, whichever is shorter (MBI E B %)
Plant and machinery 5% — 33.33% iR 55 5 1 25 5% — 33.33%
Land and building 3.33% THI R IESF 3.33%
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 19. EHEEE
2024 2023
—E_mEF —E=fF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Right-of-use assets TRAESE
— Office premises and staffs’ quarters -WMREMEREERES 10,901 3,716
Lease commitment of short-term leases FRHARE 2 HE AR 2,295 286
The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted ERREIRIE S RENAER
cash flows, of the Group’s lease liabilities is FAE&EMEIEHESFUT :
as follows:
— Less than 1 year ——FR 5,605 3,764
— Between 1 and 2 years ——EWF 4,882 -
- Between 2 and 5 years ——_ERHF 1,548 -
12,035 3,764
Depreciation charges TEER
— Office premises and staffs’ quarters —-MREVNERRBEERS 6,393 14,020
Lease interest HEHNE 421 1,452
Expenses related to short-term leases ZHATE EAERARE 2 4,539 1,424
Total cash outflow for leases MEREMHERE 6,409 16,588
Addition to right-of-use assets NEFERAEEE 13,682 2,376

EFEEEZERERAT 2023/24F 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R IEERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 19.FHEEE ®
The Group leases various premises and staffs’ quarters. Lease rEBHEZEMEREEBS -
agreements are typically made for fixed periods of one to three EnmzZNECHREEA—E=16fF-
years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and HMERRLZENEEETES 6
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease EEBABNER LGS, - HERZE
agreements do not impose any covenants and the leased assets TGN RE MEEEERE
may not be used as security for borrowing purposes. BIEERAERNER-
20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 20. I EWE
(a) Movement during the year (a) "EEEE
2024 2023
ZEIME TECCE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
At 1 April REA—H 121,433 129,026
Fair value (loss)/gains NEE (BB (4,903) 2,051
Exchange differences R =8 (6,388) (9,644)
At 31 March R=BA=+—H 110,142 121,433
(b) Investment properties valuation (b) BREMEME

The Group's investment properties were valued at their
fair values at 31 March 2024 and 2023 by independent
professional qualified valuer not connected to the Group, on
a market value basis, in accordance with Valuation Standards
on Properties issued by Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors.

Fair values of the Group’s investment properties are
categorised as Level 3 measurement in the fair value
hierarchy. During the year, there were no transfers among the
fair value hierarchy.

The Group’'s investment properties are valued using the
income capitalisation method by capitalising the net income
from the existing tenancies and reversionary income potential
at appropriate capitalisation rates for individual properties.
The capitalisation rate adopted is derived by making reference
to the yields achieved from analysis of comparable property
investment transactions and valuer's view of prevailing
investor expectations regarding rental growth and perceived
risks.
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For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

20.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Investment properties valuation (Continued)

(c)

Set out below is the significant unobservable inputs used for
fair value measurements:

20. KEYE ®
(b) REMEMLE®

UTFARFESEFRERNERKR
FERI R BV E A B

Weighted average

Fair Value capitalisation rate
AFE MEEHERLEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
“E_mE "ZT”=fF ZBE_ME _T”=F
HK$°000 HK$'000 % %
TET TERT
Mainland Pyt 110,142 121,433 6 6

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties are
inversely related to capitalisation rates, which are determined
by reference to investors’ expectations on investment yields,
rental growth and the risk profile of the properties being
valued. A lower (higher) capitalisation rate would imply a
higher (lower) property value.

Gross rental income and direct operating expenses from
investment properties during the year amounted to
HK$6,333,000 (2023: HK$6,624,000) and HK$289,000
(2023: HK$343,000) respectively.

The Group leases out investment property under operating
leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of 1 year,
with an option to renew the lease after that date at which
time all terms are renegotiated. Leases do not include variable
lease payment terms.

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases in place at the reporting date will be
receivable by the Group in future periods as follows:

(c)

FEBREVENLQFERER
EXZ28HEH HEE2ESHK
EERNREMOKOVER HE18
£ WA E BB R BRZROR
EeoBXRERHMME (BF) BNEK
MEBERES BE -

RAFEE - KEYENERE
WARBELKERZ DA
6,333,000 (ZE =% :
6,624,000/ 75) %289,000%E 7T
T E T =4 : 343,000 7T) ©

FEBUEKERESAALEARE
ME-HENBHRBE R
FoRUILBHBRAIIEZER
J& BF P B IR AR AT i o A
ErEEr#HEE M RIES -

R&REE xEBREAH
HREEEE SRR B
MRMIREEMHRNT ¢

2024 2023
ZEZME 3=
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET THET
Within 1 year —FA 381 345
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R IEERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

The carrying amounts of goodwill (after impairment) was allocated
to the following cash generating units (“CGUs"):

21. GOODWILL 21. FE
HK$'000
FET
COST DN
At 1 April 2022 B _#MB—H 340,311
Exchange differences ER =8 (5,884)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 N_E=F=-A=+—HkK
“ET-FW™AB—H 334,427
Exchange differences R =28 (3,849)
At 31 March 2024 RIZZEZOFE=BA=+—H 330,578
IMPAIRMENT BE
At 1 April 2022 RIEZZTHFEMA—H 66,604
Provided for the year FEREE 12,197
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RIEZ=F=A=+—H8kK
—EZFNA—H 78,801
Provided for the year FEREE 2,403
At 31 March 2024 RIE_ME=/8=+—H 81,204
CARRYING VALUE IRMEE
At 31 March 2024 RZZEZOMFE=A=+—H 249,374
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=H=+—H 255,626

BEKREE HRRER EDERET

JIIREEEEMN (REEEEN) :

2024 2023

—EZmE BT =HF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHT

Regulated financial services business THEETRIREER 1,000 3,403

Property brokerage services business MERILIREER 6,895 7,281
Building architecture and interior design SIS IEERIBE

services under customised technical EEEARERNDBIRGE

support business 14,517 15,327

Geothermal energy business Hh B BE ZEFS 47,521 50,174

Building construction contracting business EBFEERKBER 43,172 43,172
Data analytical services under customised SRS IEEFIBE N

technical support business IR DT ARTS 136,269 136,269

249,374 255,626
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For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

21. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs (except for regulated
financial services business which is mentioned below) have been
determined based on the value-in-use calculation with reference
to a valuation performed by independent professional qualified
valuers not connected to the Group. The Board was satisfied with
the independence, capability and qualification of the valuers.
That calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management of the Group covering a 10-
year period for geothermal energy business and a 5-year period for
other businesses. Cash flows beyond 5-year or 10-year period are
projected using 2% growth rate. Other key assumptions for the
value-in-use calculations relate to the estimation of cash inflows/
outflows which include budgeted revenue, such estimations
are based on the CGU's past performance and management'’s
expectations for the market development.

The major income of the geothermal energy business came from
supplying relevant geothermal energy to end consumers and
receiving related service income. With reference to relevant analysis
and statistics, the development cycle of providing geothermal
services in a new residential district usually lasts for approximately
10 years during which period the occupancy rate of the residential
district would gradually become normalized. Due to the nature of
the geothermal energy business, a financial budget covering a 10-
year period was adopted for value-in-use calculation.

21. B8 ®w

REELEU BGTRRHRESRR
BEBIN 2RI EBRRBER
BEFEEE U2ZAXEEME
MEZEISEXGEREEMAME
TzEE-EFREMEEMYEIL
M ENREE St EEREREE
EEEEMAEEBAE T FHE
R EMEBR ERL B EE
BFHZRERERA -BBREFH
TERRAZREREBR2PEREHE
ERL -EREESENHEMEIER
R REHBEERA L HRE
EESEWm 2AAERREEEE
UHNBERREREEEHTIHERN
TREA{EH -

MEBEXEF T EWARB DR IRH
B & M ARRI M A AE W SRR AR TS
WA - S EER DT R T B £
WERETREHRMAERBMER
HEERENF EItRBETE
AERRZHBIE R AR
MEXEFHNMEE ZA10FHNME
RELGtEEREE.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

21. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Due to the gradual saturation of the market for SFC licensed
corporations in the financial services industry and the intensifying
competition with the other market players, the operating results of
the regulated financial services business of the Group (“RFS-CGU")
was lower than those expected at the time when the licensed
corporations were acquired by the Group in August 2017. The
situation is exacerbated by the unsatisfactory market sentiment,
uncertainties in the economy and complexities and challenges in
the business environment. Therefore, the Group is negotiating
with an independent third party for the potential disposal of RFS-
CGU, for which the consideration is considered as HK$1,000,000
plus the agreed cash and bank balance of the RFS-CGU. As the
recoverable amount was lower than its carrying amount, an
impairment of goodwill allocated to RFS-CGU of approximately
HK$2,403,000 was recognised in profit or loss for the year ended
31 March 2024 (2023: HK$12,197,000).

No impairment for the goodwill of other businesses was recognised
in profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).

The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks

21. B8 w

HR SR ENSE SR EAET
BZRHBEN BHMTBE2EHENE
FNE AEEZTRESTHRTER
((SRESMRT - REEEEN)
HREXBEBRRAEEBR _ZT—+
FENB W EERFRTEEE - S
FE%’;TT@TMI %%,ETEHEH)%%%
BEERE E—BRRMNEt-E
It $$@E£ﬁi%—”*ﬁmﬁaﬂ7%
HEZHRETMRE-ReEELS
il » 1B 751,000,000 B TINZRES
MRF-—ReELBUNBTERER
fEﬁu:utE?"EEE’\_JLIQIEI@%WEEE\,\
HE PEFEZHRESHRE-RE
?E“ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ% #92,403,0003 7T
(ZEZ=4:12,197,000&T) R
- @E B=+—HL=EE
E’]%ﬁ WEED’M

BMEAMEF 2 BERERG&E T
THE=ZRA=+—HILEFENERN

B (CEBZ=F .8 o

PRABIREDMAIH R B RREE

relating to the relevant CGU and are summarised as follows: FREELXEMNARAZEERRE
M
2024 2023
—E-ME B =

(i) Property brokerage services business () WELLIRFBED 15.98% 16.79%
(i) Building architecture and interior design (i) #FREFMEZEEFBE T2

services under customised technical BFERE R ENHRT R

support business 23.11% 21.72%
(iii) Geothermal energy business (iii) HPEETE 12.67% 12.75%
(iv) Building construction contracting (iv) BFEFEREER

business 18.84% 19.07%
(v) Date analytical services under customised(v) 4FRIMTLIEEFRFIE T2

technical support business HED MRS 19.00% 18.81%
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For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

21. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

The assumptions adopted in the valuation of all CGUs mainly
include:

(a)

(b)

(0

(d)

(e)

)

(9)

(h)

0]

For the CGUs to continue as a going concern, the CGUs
will successfully carry out all necessary activities for the
development of its business;

The availability of finance will not be a constraint on the
development of the CGUs in accordance with the business
plans;

Market trends and conditions where the CGUs operates
will not deviate significantly from the economic forecasts in
general;

The financial information of the CGUs as supplied to the
valuer has been prepared in a manner which truly and
accurately reflects the financial performances and positions of
the CGUs as at the respective financial statement dates;

Key management, competent personnel and technical staff
will all be retained to support the ongoing operations of the
CGUs;

There will be no material changes in the business strategy of
the CGUs and its operating structure;

Interest rates and exchange rates in the localities for the
operations of the CGUs will not differ materially from those
presently prevailing;

All relevant approvals, business certificates, licences or
other legislative or administrative authority from any local,
provincial or national government, or private entity or
organization required to operate in the localities where
the CGUs operates or intends to operate will be officially
obtained and renewable upon expiry unless otherwise stated;

There will be no major changes in the political, legal,
economic or financial conditions and taxation laws in the
localities in which the CGUs operates or intends to operate,
which would adversely affect the revenues and profits
attributable to the CGUs;

21. B8 w
FERSES BUNGERNNESR

T2

(a)

8iE -

FRREELEEUFACE B
TEEBMURMAINAREAEFRR
RETRHZE0EE ;

ERESRETGHERREEEE
BURBEEFSHIERE

ReELBUEEMENSHNE
BRRRERETEBREREL
BIEA

PR REM TP HEMNREESE
BAURMYHENENREERERE
WRREEHMBHREBMESE
FEUNHHRETERGRIT ;

B2EEAE -AENAERK
MABRBEUXKREELSE

UZFEEE

ReEEBUNEHEEREE
RIBEREARD ;

et B A BB E 2 FIE
REXARENERERRE
HIE AR ;

RWEXNRSRREELTBNUEE
o E BT E B AT B AVEM
w75 BARUBEREFHMAE
RENAHMB T AR E - EX
IR R MR R EITER
RILPREPERER 5HEER
EERON

ReEtEMEBRHEERE
$BYECA K A B B R
RURRER T RN B E
2 BB {17 W R A TR
ENEAED ;
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

21.

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

The assumptions adopted in the valuation of all CGUs mainly
include: (Continued)

(j)  There will be no major business disruptions through
international crisis, diseases, industrial disputes, industrial
accidents or severe weather conditions that will affect the
existing business of CGUs;

(k)  The CGUs will remain free from claims and litigation against
the business or their customers that will have a material
impact on value;

21. B8 w

FrERTELEBUNGERMIRR
TEEE@®

0

FEREREH - HR-FHEY
M THEFERNB SRR R
ERBEERTELTBUREE
BRIEREFPE

REEFBNUFAEZHHHER
HEHEFEHNEEEREATE
YR E R EFER ;5

() The business of CGUs is unaffected by any statutory notice () BREEEBANERAZMERE
and that operation of the business gives, or will give, no rise TEMEE BEBEERY (K
to a contravention of any statutory requirements; BARE) BREMEERTE ;

(m) The business of CGUs is not subject to any unusual or (m) REELEBNNERAIIRIM
onerous restrictions or encumbrances; and EENEENIRFINEREE ;

)%
(n) The potential bad debt of the CGUs will not materially affect n) REEEBMUNBEIRKRELS

their business operations.

HHEXGEERBREATE-

22. INTANGIBLE ASSET 22.EBEFEE
License
i
HK$'000
FET
COST AND CARRYING VALUE A K R EE
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, RIE__HFWA—H-ZZ2_=
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 —A=+—RBA-ZZEZ=F"HA—HK

TENE=ZR=+—H 811

MR ERFMRIE BRI URER
rEFEP - EFZARNTERRER
BRIRIRER WS R EE AR - K&
EEEECETZEMR BFEER

The license has a legal life of 1 year but is renewable every year
at minimal cost. The Directors are of the opinion that the Group
would renew the license continuously and has the ability to do
so. Various studies including product life cycle studies, market,
competitive and environmental trends, and brand extension S A BEHEA ST MG R RIRIREE
opportunities have been performed by management of the Group, Uk mBEAEE ZEMRTRAERE
which supports that the license has no foreseeable limit to the BRFHERmEIERRE > MR F
period over which the provision of services restricted by license are AR HZERIRS 2 RFBEIAR S
expected to generate net cash flows for the Group. REBBRBEMEFEE

R - A B S8 E A ZISEAS
mREAEN HABSZIERIE
RIBGIR SR ABE - RIS T 0 M
2 HEHGRERHEEAAER -
R HERERENAINEHLR
B8 7 L T A B 3539 18 5 2 T LB
5o

As a result, the license is considered by management of the
Group as having an indefinite useful life because it is expected to
contribute to net cash inflows indefinitely. The license will not be
amortised until its useful life is determined to be finite. Instead, it
will be tested for impairment at the end of each reporting period
and whenever there is an indication that it may be impaired.
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For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

23. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES

LR M ERRMEE

23. RBE AT Z

2024 2023

—EMmE T =fF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET THET

Costs of investment in associates REE AT ZRERE 24,925 24,916
Share of post-acquisition loss and other DM EREEEREMER

comprehensive income, net of dividends et IR E WA S

received (1,797) (1,788)

Disposal of associates HEMZE AR (22,251) =

Exchange difference PERZE%R (877) (877)

- 22,251

Amount due from an associate i A= YN=IE ] 186 =

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group entered into the
termination agreement with the other shareholder of Tiandi
Youdamei (Beijing) Cultural Toursim Company Limited* (Kitha
K% (IbR) XHRERAT) (“Tiandi Youdamei”), an independent
third party, to terminate the equity transfer and capital injection
cooperation agreement regarding the equity investment in Tiandi
Youdamei (the “Tiandi Youdamei Cooperation Agreement”).
Pursuant to the termination agreement, the Group agreed to
transfer 25% equity interest held in Tiandi Youdamei to the
other shareholder, and the other shareholder agreed to (i) refund
RMB500,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$571,000) to the
Group and (ii) release the Group from obligations under the
Tiandi Youdamei Cooperation Agreement, including payment of
investment sum of RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$22,847,000). The termination became effective on 4
September 2023 and the Group has ceased to hold any interest in
Tiandi Youdamei accordingly.

BE_Z_WWE=HB=+—HL%=E
E AERE-—ZBUFE-HXME
AZE (ER) XRERAE (FR#AE KX
E)) 2B —BREFTUKRIERZE U
HRIERRN R A KERBREHKRE
HERIES RS (RHMBAES
EReE) - BEBEKILERE ZEER
ERF R RE2SRREEET
S—2RE - MB—2RERE()E
BARER AR500,0007T EEND
571,000 70) M (i) fRbR A £ B K #h
BAEZEEHBZE N 2SR 815X
R EHIE AR 20,000,000t HBHE
R#922,847,000870) c R IER -
TEEABNAEN AEAEER
TEEBXRIAAETAER

EFEEEZERERAT 2023/24F 3R
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

23.INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group entered into
the disposal agreement with independent third parties to
dispose 75.5% equity interest in Shenzhen Investorigo Capital
Management Co., Ltd* CRIIT T ARKMERELESERAR
‘A8)) (formerly known as Shenzhen Dingfeng Asset Management
Co., Ltd* (R T RHEEEEERBMRAS))("Shenzhen
Investorigo”) at a consideration of approximately RMB24,000
(approximately HK$26,000). After the completion of the disposal
on 9 August 2023, the shareholding of Shenzhen Investorigo
owned by the Group decreased from 100% to 24.5% accordingly.
As a result, Shenzhen Investorigo ceased to be a subsidiary and has

23. RBE AT 2w @)

BE_Z_WWE=ZB=Z+—HIL#F
EAEEEBYE=ZAIUHE
> MBI ARE24,0007T (49
26,0007 7T) HEFRYIT T KKK

EREESEEFRLF FIHERY
TREEEEEARAR  NRIIT

KARHK]) 75.5%E-HEFE R
ZT_FNBALEHEMRE AEEF
E/ i”IjQEE;EZHXﬁEEEHOO%/mj:
245% AL FYI T ARKEB IR B
BAEENWRB LB MARNEEDN

become an associate of the Group since then.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had interests in the following

associate:

Proportion of
ownership interests

BERT

RTE_NFE=ZRA=+—H'&x&H
RUTHEARDHEA Em -

Place of Class of indirectly Proportion of voting  Principal
Name of entity incorporation  shares held held by the Company power held activities
FRFHEEAR
B SMMINE  FrisRGER BRREZLH PR R ELLH) E 3
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZB_ME CZB-=F ZE-ME “Z°=F
Shenzhen Investorigo PRC Registered 24.5% N/A 24.5% N/A Not yet commence
capital business
FINTARE HE SfEL TER TER WAREESB
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For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

23.INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

The summarised financial information in respect of Shenzhen
Investorigo (2023: Tiandi Youdamei) that is material to the Group is
set out below, which represents amounts shown in the associates’
financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs and
adjusted by the Group for equity accounting purposes including
any differences in accounting policies and fair value adjustments.

23. NS AT 2 HEwE @

BRFRINIARRR (CEZ=F : XF
AX) BHAEEMEBEEWHE
AT A RBBEEBYHREE
AR BE AR MBRRFA AT
BEXAERMEE ST ENFHBE
BEEHHRNENEERRATESR

%o

2024 2023
bt Jol 1 B 5 —F"=

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Non-current assets ERBEE - 69,194
Current assets MBEE 578 46,445
Non-current liabilities JEREEE - (11,023)
Current liabilities RBERE (582) (57,311)
Net (Liabilities)/assets (&aEFmE BEFE (4) 47,305
Net (Liabilities)/assets (BEFH BEFE @) 47,305
Less: Non-controlling interest B IEERER = (2,303)
Equity attributable to the owners A \EL#ELR - 45,002
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REEZ HEB LA 24.5% 25%
Share of net assets value DMEEEFE - 11,251
Goodwill e - 11,000
Carrying amount of the Group’s interests AEE#G 2 REE - 22,251
2024 2023

—EFWmE —EC=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET THET

Revenue for the year FEARW = - 22,809
Loss for the year FANEE (528) (2,318)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FRE2ERZELE (528) (2,318)

As at 31 March 2024, the bank and cash balances of the
Group’ associate in the PRC denominated in RMB amounted to
approximately HK$11,000 (2023: approximately HK$3,269,000).
Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s

Foreign Exchange Control Regulations.

RIS _WNE=A=+—H K&EH
RHAEMEABS ZRTRIREEHU
AREE8511,00087T (ZF
=% :#93,269,000587T) - AREER
HapR I I B IS <P R S E B IR R o

EFEEEZERERAT 2023/24F 3R
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE

’AEFEEEHKE@QEH&E

INCOME
2024 2023
“E_mE —E”=

HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT

Equity instruments BATE

Unlisted equity securities in Hong Kong, REAWNIELTRAES

at fair value (Note i, ii) BATESE M) 5,260 8,780

Notes:

@M

(i)

In 2002, the Group, through an acquisition of a wholly-owned subsidiary,
acquired 30,000,000 promoters’ shares in Beijing Beida Jade Bird Universal
Sci-Technology Company (“BBJB") (the “Promoters’ Shares”) of RMBO.1
each at a consideration of HK$38,250,000, which is equivalent to 1.98%
of total issued share capital (including H shares and Promoters’ Shares) of
BBJB as at the end of the reporting period.

BBJB is a joint stock company with limited liability incorporated in the PRC
with its H shares listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Board").
The Promoters’ Shares were unlisted share capital issued by BBJB when it
was initially listed on the GEM Board in 2000. According to the Company
Law in the PRC, the Promoters’ Shares were not transferable within three
years from the date of incorporation of BBJB on 29 March 2000. The
unlisted equity investment is measured at fair value and is classified as level
2 fair value measurement (see note 9).

The above investments are intended to be held for medium to long term.
Designation of these investments as equity investment of fair value through
other comprehensive income can avoid the volatility of the fair value
change of these investments to the profit and loss.

Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income approximately HK$3,520,000 (2023: gain of HK$140,000) was
recognised as other comprehensive expense during the year ended 31
March 2024.

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2023/24

(i)

RIZEZE AEEESBRE—B2
BHEAF > 2138,250,00058 TR BEA
30,000,0008 6 RIEREBIRFRF KGN
BRAS (IEATR) SKREEARO0.1
TTZ BB AR (TEERARMDY - BER
HBERRILABTEEETRALLEE (BIEH
BR R BEE AR 1) B91.98% ©

EABEARPEEMARIZRDERE
ERE > HHRTEHAZFRGEM (T GEMAR )
IR -BEARMABLERABENZZEZ
FEREGEMIR LM #ETZIE LTI
Ko RFEFEAB L BRRARNMBIEKRE
EBHMRIAH (CEZTE=/F_+1h
B) Bt =R EEE - LmRARE
BATESERDEAR _BATETE
(B HFsE9) ©

EHREERNPRAF A - BEZXFRE
REATEFARMEERGEZREARE
FERMRZERAEZATEEHHESRES
PEIEZ-E

BRATESAEMEZAREZSREEN
AT{EE51843,520,0008 T (CE =4
W #140,000787m) REZE S -MNFE=4
=t+—BIFERIAEMEESH



25. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A B ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

All interest rates inherent in the leases are fixed at the contract

25. R B ERIE

HEZFRARBEHNREBOBRRRE

date over the lease terms. HHEREE-
2024 2023
—EmE —EC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Finance lease receivables FE B ERERIE 41,849 47,897
Less: allowance for impairment of finance BRI ERERERE
lease receivables (41,849) (43,351)
Finance lease receivables, net RN ERERIE F58 — 4,546
Analysed for reporting purposes as current  FLEIRE BN DA RBEE
assets - 4,546

The movements on the allowance for impairment of finance lease

FiE U i 2 L O O O R £ 8 B 1

receivables are as follows: S G
2024 2023
—EME TECCF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH#ET FHT
At 1 April REA—H 43,351 46,855
Exchange difference PERZE%R (1,441) (2,808)
Impairment loss recognised ERETRERE 4,337 =
Reversal of impairment loss B E R (4,398) (696)
At 31 March R=B=+—8 41,849 43,351

Minimum lease payments

Present value of

minimum lease payments

REREMRH REREMHRZRE
2024 2023 2024 2023
ENE —E--F CZENE T =F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAERT FTET FER FET

Finance lease receivables comprise:
Within one year and present value of
minimum lease payment receivables

ERmERERAERE !
—FRRBERBEEEN®
Z3HE -

4,546

= 4,546

EFEEEZERERAT 2023/24F 3R
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25. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2024, there were a total 4 (2023: 4) outstanding
finance leases, with outstanding principal amounts from
approximately HK$4,306,000 (2023: approximately HK$4,546,000)
to approximately HK$19,598,000 (2023: approximately
HK$20,055,000), amounting to a total outstanding principal
amount of approximately HK$41,849,000 (2023: approximately
HK$47,897,000). To the best knowledge, information and belief
of the Directors, all these corporate borrowers and their respective
ultimate beneficial owners are independent of the Company and
its connected persons (as ascribed under the Listing Rules).

Effective interest rates of the above finance leases is 6% (2023:
6%) per annum. As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, all the finance
lease are secured by the leased assets, such as motor vehicle, plant
and machinery leased and/or share pledges, and/or are guaranteed
by individual who is the corporation’s owner or connected person
of the owner, and/or other corporation which is a related party to
the corporate client.

Before accepting any finance lease arrangement, the Group
assesses the financial strength of the lessee and considers the
credit limit granted to the lessee. In addition, the Group may
request for the guarantor with strong financial status where
necessary. The details of internal control procedures on credit risk
assessment are set out in note 8.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

25. E.%H&rﬂﬁ*ﬂ 755')'\' 8 (@)

(_7__£E Mﬁ)%fé?ﬁﬁi%ﬁ%ﬁ
E 51%1?25:%2!&@@ T 494,306,000

T(CEZ=45F 44, 546 ooo%ﬁ) S
719 598,000 T (ZE_=F : &
20,055,000 7T) * 7k ,ajgztsﬁﬁﬁ i
#941,849,0008 T (ZE_=F 1 &

47,897,000870) cEEFFNE FTA]
KFifE FTELELEERARES
BERABREBANEBINRART &
HEABEALT (EEFRLHHRA) o

TmEREEREFER6% (T
ET-F6%) RNIEWNERT
T -—F-_HB=+—HB FEMENR
ENNUEERE HEKMBELRE
BER/IRGERFEIRE &HK
HBAREE AREE ABEALTH
AR/ BARBRAEHANEM
NEVRMBIER

ERXETUMEEE R  ~5E
GHEERKBEAZHMBED LEER
FTERBEAZEERR LI HAE
AEBAEERAGBREYH RN R
ERARMKER AREERRTG
BYP BRI FIRZ SR IR SRS MY 5E8 ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2024, finance lease receivables before allowance
for impairment of approximately RMB38,680,000, equivalent
to approximately HK$41,849,000 (2023: approximately
RMB41,928,000, equivalent to approximately HK$47,897,000)
were past due. For such overdue finance lease receivables,
impairment loss of approximately RMB37,948,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$43,351,000) were made in past years based
on grounds that the Group had either taken legal actions against
these customers or assessed the customers’ latest operating and
financial position by site visit and considered the legal opinion
from independent legal advisers. Due to customer’s default in
payment and having severe liquidity problem, the Group took legal
action against a customer and made a full impairment loss on
the finance lease receivables due from this customer amounting
to approximately RMB3,981,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$4,546,000) during the year. As a result, the entire overdue
amount of finance lease receivables approximately RMB38,680,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$41,849,000) was fully impaired
as at 31 March 2024 (2023: approximately RMB37,948,000,
equivalent to approximately HK$43,351,000).

Management closely monitors the credit quality of finance lease
receivables. As at 31 March 2024, the age of the finance lease
receivables was over three years (2023: over three years) based on
the effective dates of the relevant lease contracts.

25. RN BERERE @

ATETNE=ZR=+—0 {0k
EREINERRERERBENAR
#38,680,0007t (FHE 2 4941,849,000
BIT) (ZEZ=ZF AR
41,928,0007t (1HE #24947,897,000
Bw)) Baflo- SRR KARE
MEFEMs  RETEERAE
BB AR 137,948,000 (FHE R
#943,351,000587T) » JsHRNAEEE
HZERPRPRNEAETHRERE
MERTFHEENRMSE R
ARG W EEBIAREBNEER
R -AREBERHEANRREERER
FESHE AERHZE A RBUE
BT URNEAREBRZELAME
HEMBERY S IRAEBEOAR
3,981,000t (#8E7°494,546,00078
7o) A RZEZmME=B=+—
HrEEKMREEEFE2TAHS
B AR 1838,680,0007T (HBERH
41,849,000/ 7m) EXHKAEE (2
T =& 9 AR 137,948,0007T (FHE
A4943,351,0003 7)) o

EHEERYEEENHRERERE
EEEE - R_E-_ME=B=+—
A REAEEAEcNZERAE
FERMEREERE REBEA=ZF L
(CEZ=F: =FMU L) o

INVENTORY 26. %8

2024 2023
—E-mE —=—=#
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET

Consumables for production of heating and R KR THEXKSEERN
industrial steam JHFE M 3,033 3,336

Consumables for construction contracting AR EREXERBEIHER
services 649 3,080
3,682 6,416

BEIEEEZRARAT 2023/24F 5k
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 27. FEWBR =3 R HL {th FE W TR 18

2024 2023
—EZE ZEI=F
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Trade receivables arising from trading business B &5 2£ %5 Ffr &= 4 2 FE W BR 3K 169,836 179,320
Less: allowance for impairment OB EREE (169,836) (179,320)
Trade receivables arising from BB E B ES 2 EWERR
finance leasing business 4,815 5,083
Less: allowance for impairment BOREREE (487) (514)
4,328 4,569
Trade receivable arising from project BHEEBEEBFIES ZEBWAR™R
management business 42,249 67,508
Less: allowance for impairment R ERE (5,193) (15,084)
37,056 52,424
Trade receivable arising from customised HRRNSZREBMESZ
technical support business FEWBR R 21,386 32,778
Less: allowance for impairment R ERE — (400)
21,386 32,378
Trade receivable arising from property M ERILETETESE 2 BIWERR
brokerage business 2,894 14,655
Less: allowance for impairment R ERE - (4,629)
2,894 10,026
Trade receivables arising from international air BIFRfn 2= K6 £ S8 £ 55 PR
and sea freight forwarding business BEEZ EIRERRR - 32
Trade receivables arising from the securities FHRHIERKLERFIEE S
and futures brokerage business FEWBR R 227 228
Trade receivable arising from geothermal R BE ZE TSP B R 2 FEURBR R
energy business 1,292 1,473
Trade receivable arising from property YI2E 35 & 2 T5 P B A 2 FEURBR AR
investment business 1,446 -
Trade receivable arising from building BFRERKEEBRFELEZ
construction contracting business & W BR =R 15,129 18,404
Trade receivable arising from centralised ERHAERES Z BRI
heating business 945 321
Prepayments AT RIE 88,635 103,025
Value-added tax recoverable AU [ElIE &R 3,834 5,244
Deposits and other receivables & K B RIS 73,506 78,101
Receivables from disposal of a subsidiary FEWHE KB A BMIE 23,226 24,523
Construction deposits BEEE 113,604 119,948
387,508 450,696
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For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The Group’s trade receivables arising from securities and futures
brokerage business include brokers with carrying amounts of
approximately HK$227,000 (2023: approximately HK$228,000).

The Group allows an average credit period normally ranging from
30 days to 180 days (2023: 30 days to 180 days) to its customers.
The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables (net of
allowance for doubtful debt) presented based on the invoice date
or the payment date as stated in the respective contracts at the
end of the reporting period, which approximates the respective
revenue recognition date.

Building

Finance  Geothermal construction

Trading leasing energy  contracting
business business business business
Mg BFER

27.

Centralised
heating
business

BERE  HERE HREEE  AEEE EHRER

PR LSt Bl R e EL th FE W RR IR

(&)

AEBEBSRPELLERRESE
ZEWREFREBELLZEEEY
227,000 7T (ZE - =4 : 228,000
BIT) °

REBHRFEERZFHEEH K
N F30BE180H (ZZ2 =4 : 30H
Z180H) 2B UL T AR R SR
BHEHHARMAM SN 2 AR B
(BEEWREERHERR 2592
FEWERR (BB RIREE) R D
o

Customised
technical Property Property
Project support  brokerage investment
management business business business

EREREE  XRER  GREE  RER®

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR TER TET TER T#RT TER TR TERT

2024: k= S 11 3
Within 30 days 30HA - - - - 116 622 - - 571
31-60 days 31E608 = = - - 110 622 - - 571
61-90 days 61£90H = - - - 239 622 - - 304
Over 90 days #8908 - 4,328 1,292 15,129 480 35,190 21,386 2,894 -
- 4,328 1,292 15,129 945 37,056 21,386 2,894 1,446

International
air and Building Customised

Finance sea freight ~ Geothermal  construction  Centralised technical Property
Trading leasing  forwarding energy  contracting heating Project support brokerage
business business business business business business  management business business
BE  ERMER BFEE BRI %
BELH BEXE BLEEXE HAREE EBEH EPHAXE BREELH SREB Rz
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TERL TER TEL TERL TER TEL

2023: “ECCE!
Within 30 days 30HR = = 32 - - 167 2,833 14,268 173
31-60 days 31E608 = = = - - 14 2,250 537 -
61-90 days 612908 - - - - - 140 2,250 537 F
Over 90 days #8908 = 4,569 - 1,473 18,404 - 45,091 17,036 9,853
= 4,569 3 1473 18404 31 52,424 32,378 10,026

EFEEEZERERAT 2023/24F 3R
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27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The settlement term of trade receivables arising from the securities
brokerage business are two trade days after the trade execution
date. The trade receivables from futures brokers are repayable on
demand which represent amounts deposited for trade execution
purpose.

Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are debtors with
aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$82,393,000
(2023: HK$100,701,000) which were past due at the end of the
reporting period and for which the Group has not provided for
doubtful debt. The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

The aging analysis of trade receivables that were past due but
not impaired based on the invoice date or the payment date as
stated in the respective contracts at the end of reporting date,
which approximately the respective revenue recognition date, is as
follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R IEERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

27. B R R H fth FE IR Fh 18

(&)

REEFELER Z BBIRRE S
RETRZAHEMERSZ A KEH
HERR IR AREREE
HEGEFRETRSREZNIA

AREBRBWERNGHTEIEHAER
{B4982,393,0008c (ZE =%
100,701,000 7T) Z FEURBR RN > A 3R
SHREAM BAERTERRIE
AREBE AEENEMZEEHT
B AKEY -

REZHHNERS BARERSKFR
EHZARBAH (R B KR
HAMBIR) 252 BRI B EREZE
WERMEREC DA T ©

2024 2023
—E_OEF —EF-=

HK$'000 HK$'000

T#ET FHT

Within 30 days 30BR 687 340
31-60 days 31ZE60H 681 2,019
61-90 days 61Z290H 543 2,145
Over 90 days FB1890H 80,482 96,197
82,393 100,701

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired related to a
number of independent customers that have a good track record
with the Group. Based on the past experience, the management
believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of
these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the balance are still considered fully recoverable.
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For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continuep)  27. FEUREBR TR R H {th FE YK 7R 18

The movements in allowance for doubtful debts of trade
receivables were as follows:

(&)

FEWERR RERBHEBHIMT :

2024 2023

—EZNE —EBT=HF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

1 April me—A 199,947 2,019

Deregistration of a subsidiary AH—ERE AR - (1,463)
Allowance for impairment recognised RIEm D 2 REERE

in profit or loss 5,230 198,933

Bad debts written off MidH =R (24,957) s

Exchange difference P =28 (4,704) 458

31 March =B=+—H 175,516 199,947

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Limits attributed to customers are reviewed on a regular
basis.

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related
to customers for whom there was no recent history of default.

EERWERREFR SEBEFEE
EERZEEER UEIERZE
BRB-BRZEERBNEHREX

N 380 H 7 Ol (B 2 B IR BR RS e 4
RIS TNV > Yl
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R IEERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to
provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime expected loss
provision for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit
losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics and the days past due. The expected credit
losses also incorporate forward looking information.

Over

30 days

Current past due
=4 30K L
HK$'000 HK$'000

27.

P WSt Bl R B EL th FE W RR IR

(&)

FERBEREBMBREERNFEIN
BETZBIERE BEMEBWERRZ
EHEREREATIRBENREES
B-RtERGEERE BRERR
15 & LB 45 18 R 280 A KBRS B WU AR AR
DHE-BRHEEGRTEIAEEE
o

Over Over

60 days 90 days
past due past due Total

bkt #HA
60K £ 90X £ st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FET FTET FAET FET
At 31 March 2024 RIEZME
=A=+—H
Weighted average expected — fNEFIIBHRIEE
loss rate - - - 68.4% 67.4%
Receivable amount (HK$'000) BJUg[El& %8 (F3&7T) 2,310 687 681 256,541 260,219
Loss allowance (HK$'000) BEREE (TET) - - - 175,516 175,516
At 31 March 2023 ATEBCZHE
ZA=+-H
Weighted average expected — IIEFHTEHBEE
loss rate - - - 67.0% 62.5%
Receivable amount (HK$'000) mIUs[ElE %8 (F7ET) 19,155 340 2,019 298,288 319,802
Loss allowance (HK$'000) BIEEE (TET) - - = 199,947 199,947

The Group had assessed the expected credit loss on these
receivables based on the following factors:

1.

the likelihood of recovering the receivables in light of future
market conditions and related impact on these customers;

the credit risks associated with these customers by reviewing
their financial and business status;

the history of material defaults of these customers;

the collaterals (if any) from these customers; and

the length of overdue period.
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LR M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The allowances of impairment recognised during the year ended
31 March 2024 are mainly as follows:

(1) In January 2023, two customers of the Group’s trading
business, namely, Shenzhen Wu Feng Ying Technology Co.,
Ltd.* CRIITRE BB BRAB) ("Wu Feng Ying”) and
Shenzhen Feng Lei Industrial Co., Ltd.* GRYIFEEEXE
FR‘AF)) (“Feng Lei”), were found deregistered. All sales to
Wu Feng Ying and Feng Lei were guaranteed by Shenzhen
Shi Jia Hao Commercial Operation Co., Ltd.* CEIImit
E=EHEEZEFMRAT) ("Shi Jia Hao", together with Wu
Feng Ying, Feng Lei and their respective ultimate beneficial
owners referred as the “Defaulted Persons”). In February
2023, Shi Jia Hao was also found deregistered. Further
details are set out in the Company’s announcement dated
23 March 2023. The Group had engaged the PRC legal
adviser and initiated court proceedings against the ultimate
beneficial owners of Wu Feng Ying, Feng Lei and Shi Jia
Hao (the "Defendants”) in front of the courts located at
Shenzhen. For the civil proceedings in relation to Feng Lei,
the Group received a civil ruling (BRE#E=Z) from Luohu
District People’s Court in Shenzhen GRIITH &#HE AR
) in October 2023 adjudicating in favor of the Group. For
the civil proceedings in relation to Wu Feng Ying, the Group
has proceeded the lawsuit to Shenzhen Intermediate People’s
Court CRINIT B ARZET) in May 2024 but the relevant
case has not yet been heard. Having consulted with the PRC
legal adviser, the possibility of collecting overdue amounts
owed by the Defaulted Persons is subject to the result of
the courts’ judgement and the traceability and possibility in
enforcement of the assets or properties of the Defendants.
Despite the result of the courts’ judgement, the Group
does not have concrete information about traceable and
enforceable assets or properties of the Defendants for the
time being. Considering high uncertainty in the enforcement,
impairment loss on the entire amount due from the Defaulted
Persons of approximately RMB156,973,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$169,836,000) had been recognised in the
Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2023 and remained unchanged for the year ended
31 March 2024.

27. R R R EL fth FE U Fh 1B

(&)

BE_Z_ME=A=+—HLEE
RHRERETZENT

() RZIZEZ=F—H KX&EEHES
EFMNmMasE BFR)ImaRSE
BREERABD(TEER)) &
FINTEREEEBRARE (TR
B ERERBHEGM A
MEZERARENHEEHLHZR
NIt EEHEEERFRQE
(tEFEx - BREER -RE
REZENRKEREE A HB
MEBHAT) ER- R =
FEZR > ESITERHBIREE
AfteE—FHEBEHNARATH
HAE_ZT_=ZF£=B_+=H
HAfe REBBEFEFE LR
R TR ERIEREAER
REMMESHNREASEHREES A
(MwE AL REEFKRR - FA
ENRERAMs  AEERZ
E_—FE+BEEFRITEN
BARZRENESHES HE
KEBBF- REEBNEER
MEs  AEBER ST _INE
AABAFRINTFHEARERE
REFEA BAERE R G HRBTE
KRBT EERERZ WEE
YN T RSB E T BRI BT SE 1%
BGRBA 7 Be B9 31 SR L Re 7] 75 48 B
RETHRFBRITHEALINE
ERME - BEERELH R
AEBEREBENRESALTH
B EOAFINTEERMEDN
BB - EERBFNTERE
BRATHEERZ ERNAEEE
FTEF=-R=+—HLE
ENREMBERETRELED
AT 2BRIBERBEREL
AR #156,973,00070 (FHE L
169,836,000/87C) MR EEZE
TME=ZB=+—HILEFERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R IEERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

(2)

One of the Group's customers under real estate related
businesses, namely, Ningbo Tiegong Real Estate Co., Ltd.*

BRETEEAMRAT) (“Ningbo Tiegong”) was filed
a winding-up petition by its creditors on the ground of
insolvency and the court appointed a manager for its
liqguidation accordingly. As at 31 March 2024, the total
amount before allowance for impairment due by Ningbo
Tiegong was approximately RMB106,171,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$114,871,000), representing (i)
receivables under various real estate related businesses in
amount of approximately RMB75,037,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$81,185,000) in nature of either ordinary
debts or construction debts; and (ii) contract assets in
amount of approximately RMB31,134,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$33,686,000) in nature of construction
debts. The Group recognised the impairment loss of
approximately RMB17,607,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$19,050,000) on receivables in nature of ordinary
debts under various real estate related businesses and the
impairment loss of approximately RMB8,189,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$8,860,000) on contract assets for
the year ended 31 March 2023 based on the liquidation
status of Ningbo Tiegong, the result of lawsuits against
Ningbo Tiegong and the manager of liquidation, and the
estimated value of assets of Ningbo Tiegong available for
liqguidation. With the result notified by the manager of
liguidation in March 2024, the Group is unable to claim
those receivables in nature of ordinary debts amounting to
approximately RMB23,029,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$24,957,000). Considering the costs of appeal and
distributable assets available to debts classified as ordinary
debts, the Directors considered that those receivables
in nature of ordinary debts cannot be recovered. As a
result, the total of, (i) allowance for impairment losses of
approximately RMB17,607,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$19,050,000) brought forward from last year and (ii) the
remaining balance of receivables in nature of ordinary debts
amounting to approximately RMB5,422,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$5,907,000), was written off as bad debts
for the year ended 31 March 2024.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A B ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

28. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 28. EHNEERGNAR
LIABILITIES
2024 2023
—E_NE —E=
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FAET FHET
Contract assets BHEE 316,254 312,958
Less: allowance for impairment of contract 5 | 8B EREBEEE
assets (8,860) (9,354)
307,394 303,604
Contract liabilities BHNEaE (16,029) (15,419)
Movements on the Group's allowance for expected credit loss on rEBEGNEERREERBREE
contract assets are as follows: gl -
2024 2023
—E-mE B =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET THET
1 April mAE—H 9,354 -
Increase in expected credit losses TEHA(S B E51RE N - 9,331
Exchange difference PERELR (494) 23
31 March =A=+—H 8,860 9,354
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

28. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

The outstanding balances of contract assets at 31 March 2024
represented unsettled contract prices for property projects under
the Group's building construction contracting services business, a
breakdown of which is set out as follows:

28. ANEERGNER @

A _E_NE=R=+—H > 8458
ENAREERBELTERZTFTERK
BRBEFRETYEEENREES
#E - HEFMEESIWMT ¢

Gross Subsequent
carrying settlement Outstanding
amount at up to balance at
31 March 27 June 27 June
2024 2024 2024
BHE
g1 B “EImE RITEINEF
=B=+—H A~BZ+tH R~BZ+tH
B4R ERE B HEBESHE HREEGR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET FHET
Projects A, B and C IHEEHABKXC 218,497 - 218,497
Projects D and E TEEDE 33,229 (14,223) 19,006
Project F HEF 33,733 - 33,733
Other projects (Note) HisEe (s 30,795 (755) 30,040
316,254 (14,978) 301,276

Note: It mainly represented the project materials costs to be
allocated to various projects as at 31 March 2024.
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For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

28. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Project A, B and C

In relation to these projects, the Group entered into construction
contracts with one customer who is a property developer in the
PRC. Details of these projects are set out below:

28. AN EERGNER @

IHBA BKC

MZFEEMS  AEEE —RKFEH
EHEREBZRIUREGN -Z
FEEFRHINNT ¢

Project A

Location:

Contract sum:
Construction areas:
Units for sale:

Current status:
Expected sales amount:

Expected settlement date:

Project B

Location:

Contract sum:
Construction areas:
Units for sale:

Current status:
Expected sales amount:

Expected settlement date:

Project C

Location:

Contract sum:
Construction areas:
Units for sale:

Current status:
Expected sales amount:

Expected settlement date:

Xi'an

RMB336.10 million

98,385.44 sq.meters

2,107 units

(include Project B)

On sale

RMB1,663.75 million

(together with Project B)

Around 70% of outstanding balance
will be settled on or before 31 January
2025, and the remaining settlement
is subject to further negotiation on
future payment schedule

Xi'an

RMB276.52 million

58,227.17 sq.meters

2,107 units

(include Project A)

On sale

RMB1,663.75 million

(together with Project A)

Around 70% of outstanding balance
will be settled on or before 31 January
2025, and the remaining settlement
is subject to further negotiation on
future payment schedule

Xi'an

RMB272.22 million

75,190.44 sqg.meters

702 units

On sale

RMB715.90 million

Around 70% of outstanding balance
will be settled on or before 31 January
2025, and the remaining settlement
is subject to further negotiation on
future payment schedule

IEHA
g : (g3
BT . AR #336,100,0007T
BEEE 98,385.44 15 3K
THE BN 2,107{@ 8 1L
(B1E1BEB)
EFTIEESE . ARM1,663,750,0007T
(£FIBEB)
FEFHEEHEE . N970%MKREBHERR
—ERF—HA=4+—H
R EIEE RGEER
FE—SHEEEREY
NENSIEES

IHHB
fig (RS
B ER AE#276,520,0007C
BEERE: 58,227.17F 75 K
SHEBL 2, 10718 B {i
(BIEBEA)
EHIAREE ¢ rE
TAstiHE SR . ARM1,663,750,00070
(BEEIEBA)
TEstEE HE | A70%MREEFERZD
ZEZhF—HA=+—H
RZEEE RGEER
FE—THEECREN
NENSEES

IHHC
g : iE:S
BHERE . AR #272,220,0007T
BEBERE: 75,190.445F 75 3K
HE B 7021E B 1L
EFTIHESE . AE#715,900,0007T
FESHEEHEE . N70%MREEHERR

“E-hRE-B=+—H
NZBAEE RFEEA
BE—THEET AR

[RESIEES
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

28. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT

LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Projects D and E

In relation to these projects, the Group entered into construction
contracts with another customer who is a property developer in the
PRC. Details of these projects are set out below:

Project D

Location:

Contract sum:
Construction areas:
Expected units for sale:
Current status:
Expected sales amount:

Expected completion date:

Expected settlement date:

Project E

Location:

Contract sum:
Construction areas:
Expected units for sale:
Current status:
Expected sales amount:

Expected completion date:

Expected settlement date:

Project F

Xi'an

RMB169.93 million
32,586.28 sq meters
284 units

Under construction
RMB317.88 million
31 December 2024

On or before 31 December 2024

Xi'an

RMB189.12 million
33,291.80 sq meters
323 units

Under construction
RMB378.46 million
31 December 2024

On or before 31 December 2024

In relation to this project, the Group entered into construction
contracts with Ningbo Tiegong. The impairment analysis of this
customer is set out in note 27. Details of this project is set out

below:

Project F

Location:

Contract sum:
Construction areas:
Expected units for sale:
Current status

Ningbo

RMB230.50 million
85,240.52 sq meters
384 units
Suspended
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For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

28. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT

LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Save for Project F, all other projects are currently either on sale
or under construction. As major business partner of the property
developers, the Group’s real estate related services team provides
one-stop service to the counter parties, including construction
works which is the key part of a property project. By working
closely with the property developers (for example, the Group's
project management teams have seconded to various project sites
during the construction period), the Group could monitor the
status of the projects and the property developers. In addition,
the Group had considered the following factors in the impairment
assessment of its contract assets:

1. the PRC's governmental policies have begun a turnaround in
favor of the property sector since 2022, in terms of mitigating
the financing difficulties of the property developers and
encouraging new home buying of end users, and it is believed
that the large and/or state-owned property developers could
benefit from the effect of favourable policies first and then
the small-to-midsized property developers, including the
Group's customers;

2. the relevant projects are located in the central or prime
area of PRC cities which is one of the distinct advantages in
property sales;

3. when the property sales rebounds, the liquidity issue of these
customers will be solved or at least eased to a certain extent
and it will expedite the settlement of the Group’s contract
assets;

4. pursuant to the PRC's laws and regulations, the property
developers have to designate specific bank accounts for
receiving sales proceeds from buyers in property presale, and
cash outflow from such designated accounts are supervised
by the local government and are to be strictly utilized for
limited purposes, including settlement of constructors’ costs;
and

5. in extreme case of default in payments by these customers,
the Group, as construction contractor, has priority in being
paid by the property developers under the PRC's laws and
regulations, including taking possession of the relevant
project properties and/or application for judicial sales of the
relevant project properties.

8. ANEBEERGNER W
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

28. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

In light of the above, taking into account the subsequent
settlements and assessment of recoverability of the contract assets,
the Directors were of the view that the contract assets as at 31
March 2024, except for the contract assets from Ningbo Tiegong
for which the impairment loss of approximately RMB8&,189,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$8,860,000) had been provided
for the year ended 31 March 2023, would be fully recoverable and
therefore no further impairment loss was recognised for the year
ended 31 March 2024.

Transaction prices allocated to performance obligations unsatisfied
at end of year and expected to be recognised as revenue in:

8. ANEBEERGHNER W

BR LNl BREBEHNEETUW
EIMMNBEEERTIHBERE &S
AR _E_NE=ZB=+—HHNE
NWEEBE_Z_=F=RB=+—
HEFEEBESFRABEENARE
8,189,0007t (tHE /1 498,860,00078
7o) MERE T HENEERIN B
2HWE AEBEE_ZT-_NE=4
—t+—HIEFETNERDE—T RE
f518 0

REXRDEERERBHEETREH
RUTFERIBBRNIZZE

2024 2023
bt Jal 1 B 5 —E_=

HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET

For the year ending 31 March HE=-BA=+—HULtFE
- 2024 _7_m$ - 275,348
- 2025 E_RE 120,801 182,358
- 2026 -2 108,194 212,751
- 2027 ——ZE"tEF 216,389 153,221
-2028 —ZEIN\E 161,782 =

Significant changes in contract assets and contract liabilities during
the year:

EWDH’]EJX&DH Ef/\al\jékﬁ
g :

Increase due to operations in the year — £F PYRI ZEF5 & B m G A0
Transfer of contract assets to receivables & 49 B 8 3 = FE U3k 18
Transfer of contract liabilities to revenue &4 & EEEBE N
Consideration received from customer ~ BUWRBEZ LR HAE

2024 2023

—EmE ZE-=
Contract Contract Contract Contract
assets liabilities assets liabilities
BHEE RSN BNEE alBE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT THET TET TAERT
102,734 - 230,100 -
(98,944) - (287,902) -
- 68,719 - 75,603
- (69,329) - (80,217)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSIT

The bank deposit of approximately HK$16,229,000 was pledged to
the bank for the purpose of securing the bank loans borrowed to
the Group as at 31 March 2024. The pledged bank deposit carried
at fixed interest rate of 2.05% per annum for the year ended 31
March 2024.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH
Bank balances - trust and segregated accounts

The Group receives and holds monies deposited by clients and
other institutions in the course of the conduct of the securities and
futures brokerage business. Such monies are maintained in one
or more segregated bank accounts. The Group has recognised the
corresponding liabilities to respective external clients and other
institutions as trade payables (note 33). However, the Group does
not have a currently enforceable right to offset those payables with
the deposits placed.

Bank balances - general accounts

Bank balances and cash comprises cash held by the Group and
bank balances that are interest-bearing at prevailing market
interest rates ranging from 0.01% to 0.30% (2023: 0.01% to
0.30%) per annum and have original maturity of three months or
less.

Included in bank balances and cash are the following amounts
which are subject to foreign exchange control regulations or not
freely transferable:

29.

30.

B IRITF

#916,229,000 B TNIRITHEME R
HFIRT UAR_S_NE=ZR
—t+—HEFAEENRTERIRSE
R -BEE_ZE-_MWE=A=+—H
IEFE BIRFIRTERZEEER
2 05%:stR e

IRITERREE
IRITAER —SERBILRF

AERRETESRPEECERRF
TRMRFEZERREMEBETERZ
ME-ZEFRENFER—EANZAE
BUBIRTHRF - AEBEERFH K
BERREMEBNERERRERS
FEATBRTR (FY5E33) o AT > AEEIR
Rl L P 7 B ORI F A
IERYSRHIBITRER]

IRITHEER——MRERF

BTERERSOEAERFRFRES
FiRITHEF  BMRTHBEENENTF
0.01%ZE0.30% (ZEZ-Z=4:0.01%
F0.30%) stE - HRFHBA=1ES
FLLT o

IRITHERRRIBE R AL AR IMNE
ERRARB AT EBREREZR
p—

2024 2023
—E-MOEF —F-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Amounts denominated in: Ty et EZFUIE ¢
RMB AR 31,820 35,275
EFEEEZERERAT 2023/24F 3R
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LR M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

31. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 31. ERE R KFI B
2024 2023
“EZNE TEBT=F
HK$000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Loans receivables: FEWER :
Secured BIEFE 40,000 40,000
Unsecured KR 358,462 378,404
398,462 418,404
Interest receivables FEUSF B 46,995 49,738
Less: allowance for impairment of loan and & : FEWE R &
interest receivables A EW R EREE (133,561) (126,069)
Loans and interest receivables, net FEWE R LF B 5EE 311,896 342,073
Analysed for reporting purposes as: MBEENDNA .
— Non-current assets —JERBEE - 44,300
— Current assets —REEE 311,896 297,773
311,896 342,073

The movements in allowance for impairment loss of loan and

BWERKRF B Z BEBEEEZS

interest receivables were as follows: W
2024 2023
—E-NE —ET=fF
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FET
At 1 April =R = 126,069 66,453
Impairment loss recognised BEEDEERE 7,492 59,616
At 31 March R=B=+—H 133,561 126,069
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2024&F — &

31. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2024, there were a total of 15 (2023: 15)
outstanding loans, out of which 7 (2023: 7) loans were loans
to individuals and 8 (2023: 8) loans were loans to corporations,
with principal amount per loan ranging from HK$3,101,000
(2023: HK$3,101,000) to approximately HK$44,093,000 (2023:
approximately HK$46,690,000). Loans to the largest customer and
top 5 customers constituted approximately 10% and 50% (2023:
approximately 11% and 51%) of the total outstanding principal
and interest amount of the loans respectively as at 31 March 2024.
To the best knowledge, information and belief of the Directors, all
these borrowers and their respective ultimate beneficial owners (in
case of corporate clients) are independent of the Company and its
connected persons (as ascribed under the Listing Rules).

The loans to individuals in aggregate amount of approximately
HK$144,282,000 (2023: approximately HK$147,833,000) are
unsecured and unguaranteed. Considering the corporation is in the
nature of limited liability, the loans to corporations in aggregate
amount of approximately HK$254,180,000 (2023: approximately
HK$270,571,000) are either secured or guaranteed. Among the
loans to corporations, one loan in the amount of HK$40,000,000
(2023: HK$40,000,000) is secured by a segregated portfolio
account of an investment fund and the remaining loans in the total
amount of approximately HK$214,180,000 (2023: approximately
HK$230,571,000) are backed by guarantees respectively provided
by individual who is the corporation’s owner or connected person
of the owner, and/or other corporation which is a related party to
the corporate borrower.

31.

LR M ERRMEE

THFE=ZB=+—HIFE

EREMRRHE @

AR WEFE=RB=+—H H&HHE15
E(ZTEZ=%: 15%)5&%%%%7
HE7Z£ (T2 T=F: 7%)7%1!)6‘?
Fo8E (ZE=F :8%) A aE
FoBEEREAETENTF3,101,0008
n;(_v__fﬁ 3,101, ooo%m)I
#44,093,0008 T (T2 =% : &
46,690,000/ 7T) - MR_E_MF=7
—t+—H HERAFEERRANAL
%ﬁﬂ’]iﬁ%ﬂﬁ%mﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁ@&
M EAEEEL10%K%50% (ZE =
711%&51%) IRBEEREPTAN Fﬁ,u
i FIEZEERARKESEN
Ein\gﬁﬁ%ﬁ/\ (ﬁuﬁ,@ﬁ%ﬁ) B
YREADREBEEAL (EER L
mRAY) ©

(EPN=EAE %E #74144,282,000% 75
(ZEB =4 :4947,833,0007T) »
ThEREREER TEI QAN
f’i?%*ﬁﬁﬁ;&”&ﬂgmmééﬁﬁ%
254,180,000B 5 (Z&E-_=F : &
270,571,000 7T) » v BT R A IE
fReABIEFH > —240,000,000E
T (ZE =4 :40,000,000%7T)
MERITH—SZREESNE LA
EREEIKIE ﬁ'ﬁﬂ@%iﬁ#mééiﬁ
214,180,000B 5 (ZE-_=F : &
230,571,000 7c) 5 D R Z A B
BEASZEBS ANBEEALNEA
B/ HBREZABEBRABEANE
AR MEIER

EFEEEZERERAT 2023/24F 3R
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31. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

The loans advanced to the borrowers under the Group’s money
lending business normally had loan periods from 6 to 54 months
(2023: 6 to 54 months). The loans provided to borrowers bore
interest rate ranging from 8%-15% per annum (2023: 8%-15%
per annum), depending on the individual credit evaluations of the
borrowers. These evaluations focus on the borrowers’ financial
background, individual credit rating, current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to the borrowers as well
as the guarantees and/or security from the borrowers (where
necessary). The details of internal control procedures on credit risk
assessment are set out in note 8. The loans provided to borrowers
are repayable in accordance with the loan agreements, in which
the principal amounts are repayable on maturity and the interests
are repayable half-yearly, yearly or on maturity.

The following is an aged analysis of loans and interest receivables
(net of allowance for impairment), presented based on the dates
which loans are granted to borrowers and interests are accrued.

31.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R IEERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

FEREFKEHE @

AEFZEEEEBEBIRAFTERA
ZERZERPBEEAESMER (Z
T ZF I 6ESAER) BT ER
ANZEBHRENF8%E15% 2 EF X
(ZEZ=F 8% E15% 2 FFXK)
R BEERAZEREETET
oS TEEITNERAZHBS
S EAEGEEFHK REZ(FEI Kt
BERAZHRER U RKRBEEHA
ZRER/ RIEH (WHME) -8R
B 5T 1 B9 PO 2R 4 5 72 P s 1B E A B 5T
S RMFERAZETEREERD
EEEB BETNASEENIERKES
RAEEESFE - EERNEHRE

N

=e

UFBEEERARDER & F]
BHEHHZIZBRERKFE (3
PRBERRE) ZBRE DT -

2024 2023

—EWmE -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Within 90 days 90HR 12,791 15,245
91-180 days 91ZE180H 896 1,034
181-365 days 181%365H 1,673 29,792
Over 365 days Bi8365H 296,536 296,002
311,896 342,073
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2024&F — &

31. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2024, loans and interest receivables before
allowance for impairment of approximately HK$397,810,000
(2023: approximately HK$378,735,000) were past due. Included in
the carrying amount of the above loans and interest receivables as
at 31 March 2024, receivables of approximately HK$133,561,000
(2023: HK$126,069,000) which impairment was made based
on the credit risks assessed. During the year ended 31 March
2024, impairment of approximately HK$7,492,000 (2023:
HK$59,616,000) has been made for loans and interest receivables
of which the related credit risks increased. The Group assessed
the credit risks associated with loan and interest receivable of
each borrower by assigning the credit rating with reference to
the repayment track record, the financial position and market
benchmark to compute the impairment ratio (or expected credit
loss ratio). Details are as follows:

31.

Impairment loss

LR M ERRMEE

CREZF=F—ALEE
EREMRRHE @

ATETWME=R/F=+—H Ak
BEEEBEN Z2EBRER KR EDN
397,810,000 T (ZE_=ZF ! &
378,735,000 7T) ERAHB-RZE
THE=ZB=+—H  LHEKE
AEMEZE@TE a%%uﬂzﬂlﬁ
#133,561,0008 T (Z &=
126,069,000787T) » £ AIE&FE.E%
NEERBEHRE REE_ZE
THME=ZB=+—HILFE EHHE
WE R R F EEHBEL7,492,0007#
TT(CE =4 :59,616,00087T) * &
HEREEERMBEM REBREEN
FE R BRI R IHE L HER
EETIRTHSERABRER KT
ENEREEERRE  UEREE (H
FEHAEEFIRXE) o2 BWT ¢

Impairment loss
recognised/ Impairment loss

Interest Impairment as at 1 April (reversed) as at 31 March

Principal receivables ratio 2023 for the year 2024

ZEI=fF “E-pmE

mE—H FREHD/ =B=+-H

Borrowers BRA FiS- FEWFI 2 AR HESE (BE) RESE AESE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FTET FTER TER TET FTET

(@) (b) © (@ (e)=(f)-(d) (f)=(a+b) x ¢

Category A A%E 63,628 5,243 100% 68,871 = 68,871
Category B BfE 79,336 4,803 46.0%-60.1% 44,116 1,221 45,337
Category C (e} 255,498 36,949 1.2%-14.8% 12,423 6,930 19,353
Category D D#A - = NATEA 659 (659) E
126,069 7,492 133,561

EFEEEZERERAT 2023/24F 3R
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LR M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

31. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

3. EINEFKRFE @@

Impairment

loss Impairment
Impairment recognised/ loss as at
Interest Impairment loss as at (reversed) 31 March
Principal receivables ratio 1 April 2022 for the year 2023
S 7

B2 CE -
mE—A ERERR/ ZA=t+-H
Borrowers EEUN PN FEUSH B AEE HESE (BE)RESS AEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FHT THT THT FHT
(@) (b) © (@ (e)=(f)-(d) (f=(a+b) x c
Category A ASE 63,628 5,243 100% 51,450 17,421 68,871
Category B B4E 82,016 5,055 42.3%-57.3% - 44,116 44,116
Category C € 200,287 33,511 1.2%-11.8% 15,003 (2,580) 12,423
Category D D#F 72,473 5,930 0.8% - 659 659
66,453 59,616 126,069

In computing the impairment ratio (or expected credit loss ratio),
the Group performed the following procedures:

(a) to identify categories of loans and interest receivables with
the same or similar credit risks by considering the following
factors:

(1) whether the borrower and guarantor (if applicable) is in
bankruptcy and/or has ceased the operation in case of

corporate client;

(2) whether the borrower has settled the principal and/or
interest during the year;

(3)  whether the principal has been defaulted;

(4) whether the borrower can provide supporting
documents to demonstrate its or his solvency;

(5) whether the borrower is a public figure; and

(6) whether the borrower can provide other indications of
recoverability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

31. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

The main characteristic of each category is as follows:

Category A: Borrower(s) and guarantor (if applicable) have
been in bankruptcy and/or ceased the operation
in case of corporate client.

Category B: Borrower(s) defaulted the principal repayment
upon maturity and could not provide supporting
documents to demonstrate its or his solvency.

Category C: Borrower(s) defaulted the principal repayment
upon maturity but could be able to provide
supporting documents to demonstrate its or his
solvency or is a public figure.

Category D: Borrower(s) did not default the principal
repayment upon maturity and had settled some
principal and/or interest during the year.

(b) to refer to the historical rates of the respective categories
based on the market benchmark;

(c) to adjust the historical rates by forward-looking factors such
as the GDP movements; and

(d) to compute impairment ratio (or expected credit loss ratio) for
impairment loss assessment.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, approximately
HK$3,100,000 (2023: HK$3,364,000) were settled. The remaining
past due amount of approximately HK$261,149,000 (2023:
HK$249,302,000) are due from several borrowers with whom the
Group is negotiating practicable repayment terms and schedules.
Accordingly, the Directors considered that no further impairment
loss is necessary. Save for the aforesaid secured loans, the Group
does not hold collateral over other balances.

3. FEINEFKRFE @@

BEMEBHHOT

AR ERARERA WMEAR) E
WER,/HEFELEE (R
TEER) -

BiE: MBRANXIPEZENLE
BEERRBEXFXHES
HEEES -

CE: BRAEXIBEzECE
B BREEMREMESZ TR
BEEGENAS/SIRA
1)

D : MERMALEHXIIPREZE
NER TERENFES
FEER/HFE

(b) 2EERTHEEENSEHNES
EEX ;

(0 MRFGOPEFHEFREMREER B
BESLEE; &

d) B EBRTLAERER (5
BRHEEBEX) -

REREHRE » 493,100,0008 7T (=
=T =1 ! 3,364,000 7T) BIEE T
BR N AEARNIEAY261,149,0008 7T (=
= T =4F : 249,302,000 7T) A FEUL
HEERAZHIEBE AEBERFESE
EETERKRRFEER EIL &
ERABEEHE— D RERE K&
T BEFERI AERLEME
MERITEIER R

EFEEEZERERAT 2023/24F 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

32. OTHER LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

32 Hth B E R KR F S

2024 2023
“EZNE TEBT=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Other loan receivables: HthEWER
— Advance to third parties (Note i) —BEHE=HBH HIE) 6,492 21,773
Other loan interest receivables: HtmEWERFE !
— Advance to third parties —[AE=ZHEBE™; 3,734 2,791
Analysed for reporting purposes as: MBESENDINA -
— Current assets —hEEE 10,226 24,564
Note: F 5 -

(i) The Group advanced RMB6,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$6,492,000) to a corporation, an independent third party in the PRC,
with the interest rate of 8% per annum. The advance is secured by
50% shareholding in the corporation and guaranteed by the individual
shareholder of the corporation and should have been repaid in 2021.
The Group is currently negotiating with the corporation for practicable
repayment terms and schedule and considered that no impairment loss is
necessary after assessing its financial position and restructuring plan.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

33. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

LR M ERRMEE

33. FEIRRTFR B E Ath & 4 "R I

2024 2023
—EME TECCF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET THET
Trade payables arising from securities and REBFRPELLEE 2
futures brokerage business FE{TBRER 4,013 4,095
Trade payables arising from international air ZREBEEME KB L EEER
and sea freight forwarding business 2 FE{TERER - 63
Trade payables arising from property KA ERL A ETS 2 FETIRRR
brokerage business 436 484
Trade payables arising from geothermal HERRE ZE TSP A 2 IR BR X
energy business 48,827 56,905
Trade payables arising from centralised ERHEAEBREEZ
heating business FE(TRRER 62,094 49,068
Trade payables arising from building BFRERCERFEEZ
construction contracting business FE(TRRER 239,676 271,267
Earnest money from finance lease receivables FEWNRIEHEEHEZHES - 1,828
Accrued charges FESTE R 15,119 17,264
Consideration payables B RIE 18,000 37,847
Advance from subcontractor REDBEEENR 92,930 102,375
Trust loans interest payable B EEERFE 28,644 30,312
Other payables Hih e I8 62,957 49,257
572,696 620,765

The Group's trade payables arising from securities and futures
brokerage business include margin clients and cash clients with
carrying amounts of approximately HK$4,003,000 and HK$10,000
respectively (2023: approximately HK$4,069,000 and HK$26,000
respectively).

For trade payables arising from the securities and futures brokerage
business, no aging analysis is disclosed for the Group’s margin and
cash clients as these clients were carried on an open account basis,
the aging analysis does not give additional value in the view of the
nature of business of securities brokerage.

For trade payables arising from property brokerage business, no
aging analysis is disclosed as the Group is yet to receive invoices
at the end of the reporting period. The payables is accrued based
on the monthly statements agreed with the respective agents.
According to the relevant agency contracts, the invoices will be
billed in the following month and the settlement terms is within 3
business days from the invoices date.

NEBREESRPERLET -
FRAEEFEEARRETEZE
TER RN BREE %9 5 %94,003,000 7T
F210,0008 T (ZE-=ZF : 938
4,069,00078 75 % 26,0007 7T) °

MARBRBHFRPESLEFT Z BN
MME BRAERFRRREER
TR ERRPEESR BERNE
REEHBZzEE RESFTLESLT
BIMEE HEAERTEREZEER
R ZAREC DA o

MR CEEHEE T EIERMT
=5 E S A 3R 45 R o U )
XI5 A R B AR S D AR o B BB
EEREAETRABBERH RE
HREAL FBHREEANE
AREEMALDREANRS AR
Hpe

EFEEEZERERAT 2023/24F 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R IEERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

33. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED) 33. FE(TER I R Hth FE(F TR 1B
@)

PMBAEES ERHAEZBRET
BRADEFRMELE ZEBMNRRM
B HIBRBRNEERERGHS]
Rz BEEERFRER KEEF]
BEMHRREEBRURRTA BN
MEDLREERBERNGES -

For trade payables arising from geothermal energy business,
centralised heating business and building construction contracting
business, they are mainly accrued and settled based on the
progress of performance and the settlement obligation as
stipulated in the respective contracts. The Group has financial risk
management policies in place to ensure that all payables are settled
within the credit timeframe.

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables from
geothermal energy business, centralised heating business and
building construction contracting business presented based on the
invoice date and/or the settlement obligation as stipulated in the
respective contracts at the end of the reporting period:

UTRRBREHARKEMBAEERS
ETHAEBREFTERRKEEBZ
ENRRRERLSAKR EFEHR
SJRZBEEE2YMRE D

Building
Geothermal Centralised construction
energy heating  contracting
2024 —E-mE business business business
hEhABE EdtH BFEERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET F#ET
Within 30 days 30 80 5,230 901
31-60 days 31£60H 15 9,621 -
61-90 days 61£290H 17 4,742 20,868
Over 90 days BiBo0H 48,715 42,501 217,907
48,827 62,094 239,676

International
air and Building
sea freight Geothermal Centralised construction
forwarding energy heating contracting
2023 B =45 business business business business

Bl PR A ZE
g =M= HEAGE  ERHEER BFEE
BT i £W KOEB
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TFHET FHETT FET
Within 30 days 30HA 62 64 4,185 362
31-60 days 31£60H 1 92 8,230 =
61-90 days 61£E90H = 70 18,341 11,308
Over 90 days H#iB90H - 56,679 18,312 259,597
63 56,905 49,068 271,267
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A B ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20248 % — & _UF = H =+—HIFFZ

34. LEASE LIABILITIES 3. fHE&AE
Present value of
Lease payments lease payments
AEMR AEMRRE
2024 2023 2024 2023

35.

“EomE —T-F ZEZ@E —T-=fF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FET

Lease liabilities comprise: HEBEBE:
Within one year —EW 5,605 3,764 5,095 3,682
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 5 _FZERE

(@EE%WE) 6,430 - 6,176 =
Less: Future finance charges B ARRHEER (764) (82) = =
Present value of lease liabilities HEBRREAE 11,271 3,682 11,271 3,682

Less: Amount due for settlement B RTZEBERIBEEE
within twelve months Z2&8E (PReas
(shown under current liabilities) IET3)m) (5,095) (3,682)

Amount due for settlement after R+_EA®BIEE

twelve months 258 6,176 =
At 31 March 2024, the average effective borrowing rate ranged RIE2E_WNFEF=B=+— EI THE
from 5% to 12% (2023: 6% to 12%). BEEENFS%EI2% (ZE =

FI6%E12%)°

DEFERRED TAX 35. IRFEF IR
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for MYBERMS  ELERBEGRZ D
financial reporting purposes: T
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$' 000
FHET FHET
Deferred tax assets RERIEE E - =

EFEEEZERERAT 2023/24F 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

At 31 March 2023, 1 April 2023 and
31 March 2024

At 31 March 2024, the Group has estimated unutilised tax
losses of approximately HK$702,023,000 (2023: approximately
HK$662,353,000) available for offset against future profits. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of estimated
unutilised tax losses (2023: nil) due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams.

The estimated unutilised tax losses of approximately
HK$541,349,000 (2023: approximately HK$534,307,000) may be
carried forward against future taxable income indefinitely under
the current tax legislation in Hong Kong.

The estimated unutilised tax losses attributable to subsidiaries
in the PRC amounted to approximately HK$160,674,000 (2023:
approximately HK$125,434,000) that will expire within five years
from the end of the reporting period.

Other than the estimated unutilised tax losses, the Group had
no other unrecognised deductible temporary difference as at 31
March 2024 and 2023.
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35. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 35. IEFERIA ()
The followings are the major deferred tax assets recognised and RAFER BRI 2 T BIRERIE
movements thereon during the current year and prior period: BERESHBERANT

Impairment on

finance lease

receivables

FEUS R &

HERERE

HK$'000

FHET

At 1 April 2022 RZE2Z-FHMBA—H 9,410

Charge to profit or loss st AEm (8,684)

Exchange difference BE R =28 (726)

RIETZH=ZRA=+—RA-"8"=
TETME=ZA=+—H =

ATE_NE=ZA=+—H &%H
AIBERE AR KGR Z Gt RE B
RIS E8497702,023,0008 7T (Z =
T =4 #9662,353,00057T) c IR R
BEFER R B ZHEA KR A EE I
ER AT RSN EERDIELR
BEEE(CZ=ZF .5

Eﬁﬂ@bﬁﬁ%ﬁ%@éﬂé #9541,349,0003%
7t (& =4 : £9534,307,000% 7T)
RFEEFBRITHRETEBRHAE U
HEEH R FE SR RUR A o

EBRAPENB AN RE S
MRIEEEA%160,674,0008 7T (T
T =4 1 #9125,434,000% 7T) 0 BN
EHRERIERNE R

BEHABARBEBRN R -2
TmER-S-Z£=A=+—0>
7 £ (8 3 % L o B 20 B 90 R R B
2o
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THFE=ZB=+—HIFE

DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 35 JRIETRIA (@)
Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends BEFETEMERZ BZZEEN
declared in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1 F—HA—Hi#E> }Dﬁﬂfﬁﬁxﬁqﬂl
January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided WE’&EFM /ﬁﬂﬂ BIREE - BR
for in the consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary 75 [ B 2 1 B B = BE 2 HE B BF R -
differences attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC BEEREBIEFEN T Rk E
subsidiaries (31 March 2023: nil) as the Group is able to control Bl WEREBR FENE A ?i%i
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is i ) 2 B B 7 RE AR IE AR IR SR 4R
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the BHMBRRELEE CEZ=F=
foreseeable future. B=+—8 % -
TRUST LOANS 36. SsE &M
2024 2023
Sl 11 B 5 S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Trust loans—secured EEER—FH&E 216,389 228,472

On 19 February 2020, the Group entered into the trust loan
agreements with an independent third party to obtain loans with
principal amounts of RMB200,000,000 in aggregate which carry a
fixed interest rate of 12% per annum and is repayable by March
2022. The Group received loan proceeds of RMB198,000,000
in March 2020, net of 1% of loan principal amounts (i.e.
RMB2,000,000) which is required by the relevant rules and
regulations to be invested in the trust protection fund in the PRC.
The loan proceeds were intended to be used for the acquisition of
the entire equity interest in Beijing Yuehai Enterprise Management
Co., Ltd* (EREBELEXBEARAE)and enhancing the
general working capital. The repayment date of the trust loans
was extended to March 2023 according to the first supplemental
agreements entered in June 2022. In June 2023, the Group
entered into the second supplemental agreements pursuant to
which the overdue interest of approximately RMB24,000,000 shall
be repaid by 31 July 2023, the partial principal of RMB30,000,000
and accrued interest thereon by 31 October 2023, the partial
principal of RMB70,000,000 and accrued interest thereon by 31
December 2023 and the remaining principal of RMB100,000,000
and accrued interest thereon by 31 March 2024. The Group had
settled the overdue interest of approximately RMB24,000,000 as
agreed during the year while the principal and accrued interests
thereon had not been repaid upon maturity on or before 31
March 2024. The Group is still negotiating with the lender for
extension of loan period subsequent to the end of the reporting
period. Pursuant to the trust loan agreements (as amended and
supplemented), the trust loans are secured by pledging of (i)
100% shareholding of Jiangsu Meili Kongjian Construction Design
Development Co., Ltd* CIHEETHERRAEXLZRERERA
&) (“Jiangsu Meili Kongjian”) and 70% shareholding of Baoshihua
Geothermal Energy Development Co., Ltd.* (BEATE#BAERE A
FR/A ) (“Baoshihua Geothermal Energy”), (i) the land use right
held by Jiangsu Meili Kongjian and any constructions thereon; and
are guaranteed by (i) Jiangsu Meili Kongjian, and (ii) irrevocable
corporate guarantee provided by the Company.

N_E_EE_A+NB AEREA
—%%J% FHEIUETERBEU
BAREEESHE ARM200,000,000
E\EEE%IJ$12°/OD+%&/EBC:
B3 ﬁ%l
C:g_;ﬁfﬁz
I8 A #198,000,
%ﬁ%ﬁ,ﬁu&%ﬁiéﬁ 5
EEEN1I%ETR AR (BDARE
2,000,00075)) cEBMFTIERIER AN

H
0
BE

m&f%%

WEIERESEXEEARARZE
MR —WEBEF o RN

:$::$ HDT_LE’JEE—@%%?ETM
O EERNEROPRIEEE T
= Sy = LD A== S = I K
EBUE _MERRE B ER
B -FtRBA=+—HApEERS
FEBH ANEH24,000,0007T ﬁ\ -=
—=FE+BE=t+—HHNEEDS Ki
AR 30,000 OOOE&H%E’JEE‘DW
B R_E-=&+_A=+—Ha

BEIHLD A AR MT70,000,0007T K&
HENESFNE S UER B -W4E

—HA=+—HAEBERGEAE AR
100,000,000 c S AEFERIFE ST FI 8B o K
EEEREARGEBEARMNEDN
AEﬁ%M ooo,ooo;% ) MEAR & K FE Bt
_JZZHuﬂ Hﬂ{i“af%;?% BERGHR A&
lﬂﬁfﬁ‘ﬂﬁ&ﬁ)\ﬁ%?ﬁkéié RHB R o
@%Ff:.%fé%ﬂm : (IR1ET R M) »

,\fT:AEETEfH()/Iﬁ%%%FEﬁ@ﬁ
%&%E%%@ﬁ@@a (DIBRERE=T
1) 100% P& #E K 28 A 6 3 ZA BE B &
BRAT (TERIEHEBFE]) 70% 88
W R (i) L8R =M T L HhfE B
MR HEH T EEMERTF ; WAG)L
BERTHE R(INARABIRMEHNAD]
Bl AT EFRIRHIER

EFEEEZERERAT 2023/24F 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R IEERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

37.SHORT/LONG TERM LOANS

37. 558 REAER

2024 2023
“EZNE “BT=HF
HK$000 HK$'000
FAT FET

Short term loans: FRHRER
— Secured (Note i) — B (I5ED) 2,613 3,102
— Unsecured (Note ii) — LI (M 5E00) 14,637 3,427
17,250 6,529

Long-term loan: REAER:
— Unsecured — IR - 343

Notes: F 5 -

0]

(i)

The Group entered into a short term loan agreement with an independent
third party to obtain loan with principal amount of approximately
RMB2,415,000 (approximately HK$2,613,000), which is interest-free and
secured by pledging of certain asset together with corporate guarantee
provided by a subsidiary of the Company. The secured short term loan have
been settled subsequent to the end of the reporting period in May 2024.

The Group entered into unsecured short term loan agreements with
independent third parties to obtain loans with principal amounts of
RMB13,528,000 (approximately HK$14,637,000) in aggregate, for
which loan amounts of RMB10,528,000 (approximately HK$11,391,000)
is interest-free and repayable on demand, while loan amounts of
RMB3,000,000 (approximately HK$3,246,000) is carried a fixed interest
rate of 6% per annum and should have been repaid in June 2022. As at
the date of this report, the Group is still negotiating with this lender about
practicable repayment schedule.
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(ii)

AEBBEBIEZ A URBEERDE
MERBAZBEHNARM2,415,0007T (49
2,613,000 7T) WER > EATRT BT
ERETEEBRRARAT —HWBATE
RENABEREREB - BRFEHEER
BERIEZMNERA GREPRE) HE-

FEBRBIUE=Z AT IUERTES
ERtmE UREEASBEEHEARE
13,528,0007T (#914,637,0005 7T) BIE >
Hrh AR #10,528,0007T (911,391,000
T NERARBERERERER MAR
#3,000,0007T (493,246,000 7T) BIER
REEEMNRe%stBELEENR _-_ST =
FRAEE - RARSHE AEENMEHR
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For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

BANK LOANS 38. fR1TEM
2024 2023
—EME TECCF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
Bank loans — secured IRITER—FIER 99,539 93,674
The secured bank loans are secured by (i) the corporate guarantee BERFBIETERUONEILIE =R
provided by independent third parties, (i) personal guarantee of HOATER (VAR TEER K
a Director of the Company and/or directors of certain subsidiaries KRBlETHB AR EEZNEAE
of the Company; (iii) the investment properties held by the Group RGN EBMFTENREYER X
and/or certain properties held by an independent third party; BIUE=ZFRFENEGETYE (AR
(iv) corporate guarantee provided by certain subsidiaries of the BETHBABRENATERK
Company and/or (v) pledged bank deposit. (v BIEFRITHERIEIRIR
The bank loans are repayable within one year which carry fixed RITEREAR—FARER HETHF
interest rates ranged from 3.7% to 5.0% (2023: 3.7% to 5.2%) MENFEIT%ES5.0%1E (ZTEZ=
per annum and are dominated in RMB. FE37%FE52%) MUARKHE
SHARE CAPITAL 39. g%
Number Number of Share Share
of shares shares capital capital
ROHE BHEE [ B
2024 2023 2024 2023
“E_mE "ZT”=fF ZBE_ME _T”=F
‘000 '000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T TERT TAERT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 SREBEET CEZ=ZF
(31 March 2023: HK$0.1) each ZA=+—HB!01Em 2
Vel
Authorised: BE
At 1 April and 31 March REBE—BAR=B=+—H 25,000,000 25,000,000 2,500,000 2,500,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR
At 1 April REA—H 1,525,285 1,525,285 152,529 152,529
Issue of Rights Shares (Note) BITHERD (H:D) 566,216 - 56,621 =
At 31 March R=B=+—H 2,091,501 1,525,285 209,150 152,529
Note: On 21 September 2023, the Company completed a rights issue of et : RIZEZ=ZHFABZ+—H > &xQAN

566,216,052 shares at a price of HK$0.16 each per share with gross
proceeds of approximately HK$90,594,000 of which approximately
HK$56,621,000 was credited to share capital and approximately
HK$33,973,000 was credited to share premium account. Details of the

Rights Issue were set out in the Company's prospectus dated 24 August
2023 and the announcement dated 21 September 2023.

F0.16B T ER5EM566,216,052/8
RS > FTIS AR IE4E 875 4990,594,00078
7t > HH14956,621,0008 05T AR A 49
33,973,000 ot AR R ER - B R
MM BHNAABARAE T =
ENB+HENEREREEHREAC
T FENAZ+—HWAL

EFEEEZERERAT 2023/24F 3R
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40. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

On 1 September 2021, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “2021 Scheme”) under which the Board may at its
discretion offer to any Director (including non-executive Director),
employee, suppliers, customers, any person or entity that provides
research, development or other technological support to the
Group, shareholders of any member of the Group or any entity
in which the Group holds an equity interests and any other
group or classes of persons or entities who have contributed or
may contribute to the development and growth of the Group
("Participants”) to subscribe for shares in the Company in
accordance with the terms of the 2021 Scheme. The principal
purpose of the 2021 Scheme is to provide incentive or rewards for
the Participants’ contributions to the Group.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the 2021 Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company shall not exceed 10% of
the issued share capital of the Company in issue as at the date of
adoption of the 2021 Scheme, unless a refresh approval from the
shareholders of the Company has been obtained. However, the
maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
2021 Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
shall not in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued share capital of
the Company from time to time.

The subscription price of the option shares granted under the 2021
Scheme shall be a price to be determined by the Directors being
not less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet
on the date of grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the
average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant; or (iii) the nominal value
of a share.

The total number of shares issued and may be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to any individual under the 2021 Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company in any
12-month period up to and including the date of grant must not
exceed 1% of the shares in issue as at the date of grant.

The 2021 Scheme does not contain any requirement of a minimum
period and the Board may in its absolute discretion impose a
minimum period requirement for each option granted on a case by
case basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R IEERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

40. B RSt &l

AZEZ—FNA—HB > AR B
BREE (T2 —5513)) »
b EFERTNEREMES (B1E3F
WITES) EE-HER -FR -EAX
EEREAE - BEREMEMEIE
ZRARMALTHER - AEBTAHE
RNEIZKREAAEBFEEAREZF
MEBURAREREZERERER
SEHEMZEMEMARIER >
ATHERE (128E) Z2BERE
IR B - —F ot 8 2 ERBE KR
NBEZRH B —FHBFE
ENTERSB N ERSH2EAEARER
EHERL o

RARE T - —F5 28 RERAFEM
HMtBEREA SR TIRHEZMEBR
BETEMAEET ZRBESE &
BBBERM_S _—F=t8 AR
SEETRAEZI10%  EEERAT
B ER B RTHLE R BRI o 23T AIRR —
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2024&F — &

40. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (CONTINUED)

The 2021 Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years
commencing from the effective date of the 2021 Scheme to 2
September 2031, after which no further options will be granted
but the options which are granted during the life of the 2021
Scheme may continue to be exercisable in accordance with their
terms of issue and the provisions of the 2021 Scheme shall in all
other respects remain in full force and effect in respect thereof.

Options granted under the 2021 Scheme must be accepted within
21 days after the date of grant. Upon acceptance of the option,
the grantee shall pay HK$1 to the Company as consideration for
the grant.

On 28 April 2022, 90,000,000 share options have been granted to
six employees and five consultants of the Group. As at 31 March
2024, these six employees and two consultants remained in the
Group (2023: six employees and five consultants).

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share
options granted under 2021 Scheme during the years ended 31
March 2024 and 2023:

For the year ended 31 March 2024

LR M ERRMEE

THFE=ZB=+—HIFE

40. BB AR EEHE @

TR —FERE S - —F5tE
iﬂﬁﬁiﬁ ﬁ——ﬁhﬂ E¢
TER—BEEN LBErgE—F
Wﬁ%k%”ﬁh_v_—iﬁJf
@%W&ﬁZ%k%TW#H%HW
TEETUITE B S - —F:tE

ZEXERBHM A ESRE T EX
TIRAER ©

*EH%_%:—E‘%%H;&ZH%M%’
HQ*&EB?} ) E(?EAEEF:UZK@_JEZT—I}l/%
T ERERBREZAE

A ZTE__FWMBE-+ANH XK
EERLEERTILEBERT

90,000,000 EERE - BHE_Z Y
FZR=+—H ZELEENW
ZEENBERAER (TE=F: X

LEEBRARLER)

TREBEHE_ZE_NER_ZT_=
FZR=Z+—HULEEERBE_ZT_—
FHBBRHNARBBRENESE
D

BHE_S_ME=RA=+—HLEE

Number of share options

Adjustment

to number
of share
Adjusted  Outstanding  options due Forfeited/  Outstanding
exercise price as at to Rights Granted Exercised Lapsed as at
per share 1 April Issue during during during 31 March
Date of grant  Exercisable period (Note ii) 2023 (Note ii) the year the year the year 2024
LERSR KW-BZZFf  R#kAR RZB_mE
) BOGEE  MA-B  WREHE ) Fhk/ =ZA=+-H
RHAH T8 Gk HRITHE (D) FRRH FRTE ESd HARITE
HKS$
B
Employees 28 April 2022 28 April 2022-27 April 2028 0.7194 30,000,000 3,361,134 - - - 33,361,134
(Note i)
B2 ZECCE “E"FMACHN\RE
mAZ+N\B Z—B_N\FMAZ+tH
(b
Consultants 28 April 2022 28 April 2022-27 April 2028 0.7194 60,000,000 6,722,269 - - (50,041,701) 16,680,568
(Note i)
i ZECCF “R__FEMA-+/\RE
mE=+/\H _§:/\¢Eﬁ:+tﬁ
(b
Total 90,000,000 10,083,403 - - (50,041,701) 50,041,702
a5t
Exercisable at the end of 10,008,340
the year
REXRITHE —
Weighted average HK$0.80 HK$0.7194 HK$0.7194
exercise price
Mg EeE 08070 0.719487T  07194ET

EFEEEZERERAT 2023/24F 3R
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R IEERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

40. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 March 2023

40. BBRRHEETE (@
HE _Z_=F=-"BA=+—HILEFE

Number of share options

BREHE
Outstanding
Outstanding Granted Exercised Forfeited/ as at
Exercise price as at 1 April during the during the  Lapsed during 31 March
Date of grant Exercisable period per share 2022 year year the year 2023
RIB_Z RZB_=f%
- SREH mA—H - £RRYK/ ZA=+-8
EE =k fig:d:3 Fit:4:] HRITRE EREH ERTE ESs i RATHE
HK$
BT
Employees 28 April 2022 28 April 2022-27 April 2028 0.80 - 30,000,000 - - 30,000,000
(Note i)
&8 “EZZFMA “EIZEMAZFNHE
—+/R “E-\F@MAZ+tA
(M)
Consultants 28 April 2022 28 April 2022-27 April 2028 0.80 - 60,000,000 - - 60,000,000
(Note i)
Bl ECCE “EC_EMAZHN\RE
mAZ+NR “R_N\FRAZ+LA
(Mizi)
Total - 90,000,000 - - 90,000,000
st
Exercisable at the end of the -
year
RERFTE
Weighted average exercise
price HK$0.80 HK$0.80
MEFHTRE 0807 0.80E7
Note: () Subject to the Board's absolute discretion to change the vesting MIsE: () +‘ERAEEREMERTZANER
period of the share options granted to the relevant employees in the ENS20% R IFEHBANESEEB
event of termination of employment of the relevant employees, every FHRB BEEZSEREDZNERE
20% of the share options granted to and accepted by the relevant Al EHEREETABSRE &S
employees and consultants shall be vested on each anniversary of BrR2ENIEENEMEEEEE
the date of grant until such share options are fully vested. RN BT ER o
(i) As a result of the Rights Issue which was completed on 21 (i) HBERHERR-ZZ=FHAA-+-—

September 2023, the exercise price of the share options was
adjusted from HK$0.80 to HK$0.7194 under the 2021 Scheme and
the supplementary guidance regarding adjustment of share options
under Rule 17.03(13) of the Listing Rule. The number of shares
of the Company that will fall to be issued upon exercise of the
outstanding share options were also adjusted accordingly.

If the options remain unexercised after a period of 5 years (2023:
6 years) from the date of grant, the options expire. Options are
forfeited if the employee/consultants leave the Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 20248 % — & _UF = H =+—HIFFZ

40. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (CONTINUED) 40. BBRZHESTE @
The binomial option pricing model was used to estimate the fair TIERNAREBEREEE AN G ER
value of the share options. The variables and assumptions used B2 AFE -TEEREQTEMA
in computing the fair value of the share options are based on the 2EHERBHRIDER B FEEMER
independent professional valuer's best estimate. The value of a ZEREM-EREZEEIRER
share option varies with different variables and certain subjective AEERE TEHEBERMES  -BR
assumptions. The estimated fair value of the share options on their EREEZERHBBZEAFEEDT
respective grant dates are as follows: T
Fair value on
Share option type Grant date grant date
- g ] B AH REHBHZATE
Employees 28 April 2022 0.34-0.36
(== 2 2HFEABZ+NH
Fair value on
Vested date vested date
FE B REBRBZATE
Consultants 28 April 2023 0.19
A TEC-FHEABZ+N\H
28 Apr|l 2024 0.03

“EIMFEMBZ+N\H

Share option type

FERG LR

Employees

B&

Share price on grant date RiEHHBZRE HK$0.80
0.8078 7T

Exercise price on grant date RIEHHBZITHEE HK$0.80
0.8078 7T

Volatility Al 49%
Post vesting forfeit rate FEERUWE 14%-21%
Expected life TAEtF 8 6 years
64F

Risk-free rate =R R 2.59%
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

40. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (CONTINUED)

40. IR HEETE

Share option

type
FERGREAREY
Consultants
BER
Vested on 28 April 2023: R T ZFIH A+ N\HEE
Daily average price from RIEZZFMNBAZ+N\BEZIZZ=FNA HK$0.53
28 April 2022 to 27 April 2023 “+tHZSBTHEER 0.53%8 7T
Exercise price on vested date at 28 April 2023 R _ZE_=FWA _+ N\ HEFEBEHPENTERE HK$0.80
0.808 7T
Volatility 8 51%
Post vesting forfeit rate ERBRIBUE 0%
Expected life TEET R 5.5 years
5.5%
Risk-free rate R A = 3.18%
Vested on 28 April 2024: R EyFE e N\ HEEE
Daily average price from RIZEZ=FMHAZ+NBE HK$0.20
28 April 2023 to 27 April 2024 TEIEFEBZ+tHZEHFHER 0.20%8 7T
Exercise price on vested date at RIZEZMFMHAZ+/N\BHEBHNITER HK$0.7194
28 April 2024 (adjusted) (B FHEE) 0.7194%8 7T
Volatility Al 57%
Post vesting forfeit rate IRl S 0%
Expected life TEET AR 4.5 years
455
Risk-free rate R A = 3.55%

Volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of the
Company with the trading history commensurate with the time
frame of expected time to maturity.

The Group recognised share-based payments expense of
approximately HK$3,036,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024
(2023:HK$6,567,000) in relation to the share options granted by
the Company.
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group enrolled all Hong Kong employees in the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group
contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs, capped at HK$1,500 (31
March 2023: HK$1,500) per month, to the MPF Scheme, in which
the contribution is matched by employees.

The Group's subsidiaries operating in the PRC and Singapore
participate in defined contribution retirement schemes and CPF
Scheme organised by the relevant local government authorities
in the PRC and Singapore respectively. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute a specified percentage of its payroll costs
to the retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
schemes is to make the specified contributions under these
schemes.

The total costs charged to consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of approximately HK$8,336,000
(2023: HK$10,424,000) represents contributions payable to these
schemes by the Group in respect of the current accounting period.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

In June 2023, the Group entered into a share transfer agreement
with independent third parties to dispose 75.5% equity interest
in Shenzhen Investorigo at a consideration of approximately
RMB24,000 (approximately HK$26,000). The disposal was
completed on 9 August 2023 and Shenzhen Investorigo has
become an associate of the Company since then.

In January 2024, the Group entered into a share transfer
agreement with an independent third party to dispose 93% equity
interest in Jet Air (Singapore) Private Limited (“Jet Air Singapore”)
at a consideration of SGD1 (approximately HK$6). The disposal was
completed on 16 January 2024 and the Group ceased to hold any
interest in Jet Air Singapore.

41.

42.

LR M ERRMEE

THFE=ZB=+—HIFE

BAREFEE

rEEEALBEEEEESNHATES
FE-RBEEHEA CEENAERE
ENHFA LHEEAUESER
o AEBILZMHEBEE AR A 25%
E4EERESEH1,5008T (ZE

“=fF=H=+—H :1,50087T) {
BETFEEHET BHES ZHT
HHEo

AEBPRPELHMMNBKEEZHMER
8]0 Bl 2 82 i o B s # I SR AR B th 75
T BF P& I 2 15 TE AR IR T 8 &
PRAFEEE -ZEWBLARRR
N A 2 H5E B 2 tE AR RER 5
B PR HEHN - A EEER
REFEFE T EZE-—SERIFLE
B E Z 1

EEGeERKEMEEWE RN
7 KB A #98,336,0008 T (ZE =
£ 110,424,000 7T) IE R EEAR A D
n‘l‘HHF'ﬁﬁ%ﬁnZﬁufi'JZT T)\°

HEHB AT

N_E_—F A ARERRBIE
—HEFRMEZERZE URKEBOA
R %£24,0007T (926,000 70) HEF
W ARKRHKIS5%MRE - ZHER
_7__$J\EHEIEEJZ & E
BRAT—EHE AT

R_Z_NF—-—RB AEERE—-2F
YHE =R KR EBEWZE URE
TR IN R 7T (9678 7T) HEFEER (Frn
®) BRAT (HEDHMIKI) 93%H
RE-ZHERZZE_MF—-—B+IX
H5em > <5 B A 5 15 A 5 iR
BYE R o
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42. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

The net liabilities of the Shenzhen Investorigo and Jet Air Singapore

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R IEERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

2. HEMBAT @
RN T AR R BTN ER

at the date of the disposal were as follows: HNaEFEUT
Shenzhen Jet Air
Investorigo Singapore Total
FYT KKK  FESEHINE # st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
Property, plant and equipment ME-BEMEE = 6 6
Bank and cash balances IRITRIREERR - 374 374
Trade and other receivables & UK BR TR R ELh FE WL R IE 165 67 232
Trade and other payables JE T BR =1 R EL A FE I 7R I8 (251) (609) (860)
Net Liabilities disposed of BEHESEFEE (86) (162) (248)
Net loss on disposal of subsidiaries: — HEH1/E 52 k518 FE8 .
Total consideration was satisfied by: AR EU T AT :
— Cash —RE 26 _ 26
— Investment in an associate —R—REBEAENKEE 9 - 9
Net liabilities disposed of BEHESEZE 86 162 248
Non-controlling interests of Jet Air I MNF 2~ JEEERER
Singapore - (162) (162)
Cumulative exchange differences R EME AT 2 P R
on translation of foreign subsidiaries A& E4MNT B A T
reclassified from equity to profit or ~HEFEH DIEE
loss on loss of control of subsidiaries 8%~ R&tER = 84 (518) (434)
Gain/(Loss) on disposal HEkRE (E5i8) 205 (518) (313)
Net cash outflow arising on disposal HEEEZREMNHFEE
HK$'000
FHET
Cash consideration REABE 26
Less: bank and cash balances disposal of B BHERTRIREEER (374)
(348)
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AR MBERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

43.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 43. % &RERERM T
OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (a) MEEHELE 2EBES
activities
The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities TREJIAEERAFEFENME
arising from financing activities during the year: EEELZABEET .
Amount Total
due liabilities
(from)/ Short from
Lease to a joint Trust term Long-term Bank financing
liabilities ~ venture loans loans loan loans  activities
FE () /
f1—MH Ey=|
BRERT RMEEHH
HEaE ZHE  ERER GHER REER #ROTER aRLE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TR FER FET TR TR FER
At 1 April 2022 RZE-_“£MNA—H 18,785 (2,099) 246,940 27,286 - 88,900 379,812
Changes in cash flows RERELE (16,588) - - (18,669) 343 11,395 (23,519)
Non-cash changes FREEH

~ interest charged —FEtHIE 1,452 - - - - = 1,452

- addition of right-of-use assets -FRREERE 2,376 = = = = = 2,376

- lease modification —TEET (1,369) - - - - - (1,369)

- step acquisition from joint venture  —R&EAEZNBATN D

to subsidiary TR - 2,099 - - - = 2,099

- exchange difference —-ERERE (974) = (18,468) (2,088) = (6,621)  (28,151)
At 31 March 2023 and RZEZ=F£=R=1t—-HR=%

1 April 2023 “=fEmBE—H 3,682 S 228,472 6,529 343 93,674 332,700
Changes in cash flows RERELE (6,409) - - 11,143 (343) 10,895 15,286
Non-cash changes EREEY

~ interest charged —FEtFIE 421 - - - - = a0

- addition of right-of-use assets —FRAEEERE 13,682 - - - - = 13,682

- exchange difference —-ERERE (105) = (12,083) (422) = (5,030)  (17,640)
At 31 March 2024 R-E-ME=R=+-H 11,271 - 216389 17,250 - 99539 344,449
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

43. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

ArEHERERMKE @

(b) Major non-cash transactions (b) EEFEHERS
For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group has ceased BHE_Z_WFE=A=+—H1t
to hold any interest in Tiandi Youdamei and release the FECAEEFTBRFBEXRMAX
consideration payable of RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to W9 1F 7] 7 2 W0 AR BR R AT B
approximately HK$22,847,000) (note 23). AE#20,000,00070 (18 & P&
22,847,0005%7t) (MF5E23) ©
(c) Purchase of non-controlling interests (c) EBEIEERER
During the year, the Group entered into a share transfer FR O AEEBHE—ZL/B/ILE=
agreement with an independent third party to acquire 33% FEIURMEERHZ > UKE
of the issued share capital of Treasure Cart Holdings Limited, 70,000,000%& 0 W B Treasure
which was a subsidiary of the Company with 67% equity Cart Holdings Limited (—f &R
interest held, at a consideration of HK$70,000,000. The effect AFET%ETNREAR) B
of the acquisition on the equity attributable to the owners of BITIRAMIZ3% L B H K
the Company is as follows: NEGBEAELMESNEZEY
i
HK$'000
FHET
Share of net assets in the subsidiary acquired EEEWENBAT ZEEFE (7,218)
Consideration B 70,000
Loss on acquisition recognised directly in equity EIFRERHED 2 WHEEE 62,782
44. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 44. FAERIEE
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial Hﬁ?é%%‘%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ EE

statements, the Group has entered into the following transactions
with related parties:

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of Directors and other members of key

Sh > REETFARIESFI L THIRS ¢

FTEEEASFHM
EEREMTEETEBAERERZIN

management during the year were as follows: FUWF -

2024 2023
bt 1 B 5 —E=

HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Short-term benefits G EAEF 8,006 8,119
Post-employment benefits BEEEEN 357 339
8,363 8,458
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A B ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

44. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

45.

Compensation of key management personnel
(Continued)

The remuneration of Directors and key management is determined
by the remuneration committee having regards to the performance
of individuals and market trends.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY

A4 FAEFIEE ®
FTEEEBASHMN®

EERTIEZEEBRZMEBHNES
E2EBAXRBERTHEBERETE

45. EABEEMB AT F B

Nominal value
Place of Type of legal of issued and fully
incorporation  entity paid share capital/  Proportion of nominal value of issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiaries and operation  registered registered capital capital held by the Company Principal activities
EMMILR EREA BETRARRE VNGl
WEBARGRE S BREY A/ #REE BETRAEE/ EREXLH TEEH
Directly Indirectly
E# fitk
2024 2023 2024 2023
—BomE  TEC-F ZECRE 2R
% % % %
Jet-Air (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong Limited liability HK$142,000,200 - - 100 100 Trading of securities
ROTE (BH) BRAR A company 142,000,200 7 H5HEE
BREMERE
Global Star Corporate Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000 - - 100 100 Acts as administrative
Management Limited 5% company 10,000%7T centre of the Group
REGLERERAT BREMERE ERRERZITHHY
Qianhai Honghu Teri PRC Limited liability HK$110,000,000 - - 100 100 Trading of goods
Technology (Shenzhen) company 110,000,000/ 7 EEfm
Co., Limited* BREMERE
AEBRRIERE (R
BRAR
Rongjinda Finance Lease PRC Limited liability US$30,000,000 - - 100 100 Provision of finance lease
Company Limited* alEi company 30,000,000% 7% services and finance
HEEMERERRAR BREMAR consultancy services
RUERERERERER
AR
China Best Finance Limited ~ Hong Kong Limited liability HK$2 - - 100 100 Provision of money lending
HENBERAT 5% company 2ET services
BREMERE REHERS
Zhongrong International Hong Kong Limited liability HK$102,000,000 - - 100 100 Provision of securities
Securities Company 5% company 102,000,000 7 brokerage and related
Limited BREMAR consultancy services

PRERIFERAR

RUEHFLL R
fR%

EFEEEZERERAT 2023/24F 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R IEERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 45. AT EEM B ATIHE

OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED) (&)
Nominal value
Place of Type of legal of issued and fully
incorporation  entity paid share capital/  Proportion of nominal value of issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiaries and operation  registered registered capital capital held by the Company Principal activities
SRR EEA BETRARRE FAFME
WEBARGRHE EES BREY afe/#REE BETRFEE/ HRESLH TERH
Directly Indirectly
E# GEE:
2024 2023 2024 2023
—BomE  TEC-F ZECRE  CTECZF
% % % %

Zhongrong International Hong Kong Limited liability HK$67,000,000 - - 100 100 Provision of futures
Futures Co., Limited s company 67,000,000 7T brokerage services

FRERBEERAT BREERA RERSLLRS

Beijing Fudajia Enterprise ~ PRC Limited liability HK$10,000,000 - - 100 100 Property investment
Management Co., alEi company 10,000,000 7T RENE
Limited* BREMAR

TRERECLERER
R

Shanghai Xuanmei Property ~ PRC Limited liability RMB5,000,000 - - 100 100 Provision of residential and
Agency Company alEi company A 5,000,0007 commercial property
Limited* BREMAR agency services

LEHERHELLER REATRBENELL
R &%

Shanghai Tuxuan PRC Limited liability RMBS5,000,000 - - 100 100 Provision of building
Construction Design alEi company A 5,000,0007 architecture and interior
Company Limited* BREMAR design services

LEEZEERHER REBTFRERZAR:
R &%

Guohua Jiaye (Beijing) PRC Limited liability HK$50,000,000¢ - - 100 100 Investment holding and
Enterprise Management B company 50,000,000 T provision of project
Co, Ltd.* BREMAR management

EEEE (IR L2ER REZRRRHEEEE
BRAR

Guohua Jiaya (Shenzhen) PRC Limited liability RMB10,000,000 - - 100 100 Construction and project
Construction alEi company A 10,000,0007t* management
Management Co., Ltd BREMAR BEREEEE

EEEE (7)) BRER
BRAR

Baoshihua Geothermal PRC Limited liability RMB1,000,000,000¢ - - 70 70 Heating supply by
Energy alEi company AE1,000,000,0007t geothermal energy

BRTCHEAE BREMERA AR

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2023/24
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A B ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

45. X R B X EME LB

OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED) (&)
Nominal value
Place of Type of legal of issued and fully
incorporation  entity paid share capital/  Proportion of nominal value of issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiaries and operation  registered registered capital capital held by the Company Principal activities
EMMILR EREA BETRARRE VNGl
WEARRHE EEiE BREY afE/EhEE BETRFEE/ HBESLH TERH
Directly Indirectly
E# fitk
2024 2023 2024 2023
b Joud 1 Sy o | —
% % % %

Henan Province Baoshihua ~ PRC Limited liability RMB100,000,000* - - 525 5.5 Heating and cooling supply
Geothermal Energy alEi company AE100,000,0007c¢ by geothermal energy
Development Co., BREAAF HAREMERS
Ltd.* ("Henan Province
Baoshihua")

ARE AR HERE
BRAR (TAmEEAR
1t

Waujixian Baoshihua PRC Limited liability RMB60,000,000* - - 36.4 364 Heating supply by
Geothermal Energy HE company AE#60,000,0007¢* geothermal energy
Development Co., Ltd.* BREMAR AR
("Wujixian Baoshihua”)

EESERTHAERE
BRARE (MREBH%ER
1t

Xian Baoshihua Energy PRC Limited liability RMB50,000,000* - - 100 100 Heating supply by
Technology Group HE company AR 50,000,007 geothermal energy
Co., Ltd.* BREAAR AR
(“Xian Baoshihua")

ARARTERNRER
BRARE
(BZERTE)

Shaanxi Jiangwei PRC Limited liability RMB100,000,000* - - 100 100 Provision of projects

BRELIEL FE company AR 100,000,007t construction contracting

BREAAR RETRERES

Yuncheng Baoshihua PRC Limited liability RMB50,000,000* - - 100 100 Provision of centralised
Regional Energy HE company AE50,000,0007¢* heating and industrial
Technology Co., Ltd.* BREAAR steam
("Yuncheng REENRARTEES
Baoshihua")

ENERTEHARNE
BRAE
(MERERT)

Beijing Shuwu PRC Limited liability RMB20,000,000 - - 100 67 Provision of financial

TREE FE company AE%20,000,0007 information solution

BREERE and big data analysis

# The registered capital is yet to be paid/fully paid as at 31 March 2024.

services
RUEMBERRATER
RUBA TR

# RIE_MF=ZA=+—H > ZEMEX

LES AP S AN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R IEERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

45. ZATEEMB AT FSE
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED) (&)

Except for a limited partnership incorporated in the PRC, all other
subsidiaries are companies incorporated with limited liability in the
respective jurisdictions.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities subsisting at
the end of both periods or at any time during both periods.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the
opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

The following table shows information of subsidiaries that have
non-controlling interests (“NCI") material to the Group. The
summarised financial information represents amount before inter-
company eliminations.

Pr—ERTPEEMA L BREBE
ENPMBHMNBARNERERRM
EEREEMRILZABRAT -

AR B B AR IS TR )
Ry ] 3 452 Y T A B SR AT R AR A
ZEFES o

ERFIIEZAEBNBRABDRES
EZMBATR - EE A IRAHEAMMN
BABZFBRERBER TR

TRINTHAERMS BEARBIIFE
fetEm (TFFEREDR)) NNE AT
B -MBENRAEERRARTME
REHRTAYEER -

Henan Province

Name Baoshihua
%iE AREERTE
Principal place of business/country of incorporation PRC
FEEEMI FMALER FR
% of ownership interests/voting rights held by NCI 47.5%

R ERNEE RS REE BN

2024 2023

—E-ME B =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FTET
Non-current assets ERBEE 91,583 99,338
Current assets MENEE 21,659 23,302
Current liabilities mEaE (33,929) (39,275)
Non-current liabilities JERBEE - 5
Net assets EEFE 79,313 83,365
Accumulated NCI RetIFERER 37,674 39,598
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45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

LR M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

45. X R B X EME LB

OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED) (#)

2024 2023
—E-MmE S

HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Revenue W= 12,591 12,348
Loss for the year FRNEIE (75) (126)
Total comprehensive expense 2E HARZE (75) (126)
Loss allocated to NCI DEEIFERER 2 BB (35) (59)
Net cash used in operating activities KEEFPTARE R (157) (863)
Net cash used in investing activities KEEFPTARERE — S
Net cash generated from financing activities RBREEENFISIREFEE = =
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEBEE 2/ P48 (157) (863)

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. The principal
activities of these subsidiaries are summarised as follows:

REREHR xRATBEHMEEER
WARERZHBERE - ZFEWEAF
ZEBEHRBWMT ¢

Number of subsidiaries

WEASEE

Principal activities Principal place of business 2024 2023
FTEEH FTEEEME o111 3 TECCF
Investment holding BVI 24 26
REER BEELHE

Hong Kong 5 4

BHE

The PRC 13 11

FE
Inactive The PRC 14 14
RIETER FE

Samoa 1 1

B

BVI 2 -

BEELHE

Hong Kong 5 6

BHE

64 62
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LR M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

46. THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
OF THE COMPANY

46. AT Z A FBIR MR

2024 2023
—E-MmE S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RBRBZKE 11 1
Current assets REEE
Other receivables HpE USR8 379 277
Amounts due from subsidiaries (Note (i)) FE WL B /8 A Bl I8 (B EE()) 820,457 878,343
Bank balances and cash RITERKRIRE 7,113 1,113
827,949 879,733
Current liability Vi =N
Other payables Hn e I 3,616 3,907
Net current assets MENEEFE 824,333 875,826
NET ASSETS EEZFE 824,344 875,837
Capital and reserves AR e
Share capital %N 209,150 152,529
Reserves (Note (ii)) R (MEEE) 615,194 723,308
TOTAL EQUITY B m 824,344 875,837
Notes: FEE -

(i) The amounts due from/to subsidiaries are non-trade nature, unsecured
and repayable on demand of which the balances of approximately
HK$419,462,000 (2023: approximately HK$435,462,000) carry interest
rates of 6% (2023: 6%) and the remaining balances of approximately
HK$400,995,000 (2023: approximately HK$442,881,000) are non-interest
bearing.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 20248 F — & _9F = H =+ —HIFFZE

46. THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

Reserves

M5

(ii)

AR MBERRMEE

46. m AT ZMBERAER @

L (®

#E

Share  Contributed Share option Accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses Total
5 B BARE  BRREGRE Rt st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 April 2022 RIZE-__&NA—H 1,051,208 455,053 - (487,673) 1,018,588
Loss for the year FREE - - - (301,847) (301,847)
Total comprehensive expense FAZEREH
for the year - - - (301,847) (301,847)
Recognition of equity-settled ERURGEEURMDAERIN
share-base payment I3 = = 6,567 = 6,567
At 31 March 2023 and at RZE-=F=A=+—AHk
1 April 2023 —E-=5MA-A 1,051,208 455,053 6567 (789,520) 723,308
Loss for the year FNEE - - - (142,745) (142,745)
Total comprehensive expense FAZEBEZAE
for the year - - - (142,745) (142,745)
Issue of rights shares TR 33,973 - - - 33,973
Transaction costs attributable to FIMEBREGRZMAR
issue of new ordinary shares (2,378) - - - (2,378)
Recognition of equity-settled ERURGEEURMDAERE
share-base payment I3 = = 3,036 = 3,036
Forfeiture of equity-settled share- R G S B LR A BT
based payments I3 - = (1,587) 1,587 =
At 31 March 2024 RIZZME=B=+—H 1,082,803 455,053 8,016 (930,678) 615,194

The contributed surplus of the Company represents (i) the excess of
the fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the
reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange in 1996 over the nominal value of the
Company'’s shares issued in exchange thereof and (i) the credit arising from
the capital reduction by cancelling the par value of the paid-up capital of
the Company on 2 September 2020.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed
surplus of the Company is available for distribution. However, the Company
cannot declare or pay a dividend or make a distribution out of contributed
surplus if:

(a) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as
they become due; or

(b)  the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share
premium accounts.

KRB ZHABRBIEETR2BRHO N
—NANREEB A ER LT REBEE
MEFFIRBEM B AR Z RN AT EBHIES
TRMBT 2R RAB RN EEZ Z= 'R
RZZZZEFNB_BEBEHEEIRETH
RRAEENRAHK BT ELENER-

BREEBRE-NAN—FQ8ZE EE:) -
TRABZHMABBRAHD K EEARE T
BETIHIERTEFBABBREIRKMR
BREEDIK:

(@) ERBENHFOIRNERENEE
BRI =K1

(b) HERBDEEZITEFRB/BEIOKGE

BRESE BETRAKRRGGE
SRz 48700
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% — =& _JJFE=H =+—HIFFZ

47. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES/LITIGATIONS

(1) In January 2020, the Group acquired 100% equity interest
in Jiangsu Meili Kongjian from Ningbo Sixing Information
Technology Co., Ltd.* (B} B171E SERHEARA B (“Ningbo
Sixing”) at cash consideration of RMB41,000,000 of which
the remaining RMB31,000,000 was recorded as consideration
payable (the “Consideration Payable”). In March 2022, the
Group disposed of 100% equity interest in Jiangsu Meili
Kongjian to Beijing Taolichunfeng Property Development Co.,
Ltd.* JERE=FEREMERRZEBRAE) ("Taolichunfeng”)
by entering into a disposal agreement (the “Disposal”) and
agreed with Ningbo Sixing in a supplemental agreement that
the Consideration Payable shall be fully set-off against an
underlying interest in properties with a construction area of
4,200 square meters (the "Offsetting Arrangement”). Further
details of the Disposal and the Offsetting Arrangement are set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 29 March 2022.
In April 2022, at the request of Ningbo Sixing, the Group
provided a guarantee for Taolichunfeng's responsibilities
and obligations after completion of the Disposal, including
implementation of the Offsetting Arrangement. In this regard,
the Group has also obtained a counter-guarantee from
Taolichunfeng. In December 2022, Ningbo Sixing denied the
Offsetting Arrangement and brought the civil proceedings
(the “Civil Proceedings 1"”) against Taolichunfeng, Jiangsu
Meili Kongjian and the Group to jointly liable to repay
RMB35,440,000, including the Consideration Payable,
in cash. In July 2023, the court issued the judgement
which turned down the Civil Proceedings 1. After that,
Ningbo Sixing brought another civil proceedings (the "“Civil
Proceedings 2") in July 2023 and October 2023 respectively
in order to cancel the Offsetting Arrangement and request
Jiangsu Meili Kongjian, Taolichunfeng and the Group to
jointly liable to pay the damages of RMB1,000,000. As at the
date of this report, the Group has submitted the statement
of defense to the court and the relevant civil trial has not
finished. Based on the PRC legal adviser's opinion, the Group
has reasonable grounds in this case. Accordingly, the Directors
are of the view that the liability under the Civil Proceedings 2

is not probable.
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47. ARG E HFER

(1

RIEZEF—F AEEEHE
HEBTEENEBRAR (T=
BRI WBIGE=ZRBTMH
100%RE RERNBAARE
41,000,00070 ° EFAEFRRA R
31,000,000t 8 B EAE (THE
FHRE)) KB _F=8"
AEBITIL—PHERZEBI
FEhEEREMEMEERAT
(Tk=FR)) HETHERET
F100%MH# (THEEIE)) »
B ETER—DEREHE L
EEMREREEN BN EE
HE 54,200 73 K Y E BRI R
(HEEZH) - BB EEER
EHEZHNE—PHBENER
BHEAZSZ_—_E=H_+Ah
HO At - N _&€MmMA
FEE R BITE R AEBHME
ERNRTEREESEENEDT
REH (BEHNTEEZH) B
HIER UL AEFIREE
ERESTRER- R-ZT_-_Z
E+ZH BEFBTEIRRHEE
BouwHhEER IHEET
BMEAERREEERND (TR
HFR—)) CEBRZ = A RIEE
BET BAURSEEARE
35,440,0007C (BIEELRE) °
RIEBE_=ZFtH  ERELH
FoBBIREFHFR— LB BH
BEoR _E_=tAE_
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47. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES/LITIGATIONS
(CONTINUED)

2)

(€)

A wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Huaihua Qinneng
Technology Development Co., Ltd* (R{CENERI R AR
/AE)) (“Huaihua Qinneng”) was under dispute with Beijing
Aoke Ruifeng New Energy Co., Ltd.* (JbFERIFEHEE
BRIEHERAT), (“Beijing Aoke”) regarding the value
of assets of approximately RMB18,850,000 which were
transferred from Beijing Aoke to the Group. Such assets,
mainly consisting of plant and machinery, were utilised in the
Group’s centralised heating business operated by Yuncheng
Baoshihua. Yuncheng Baoshihua is wholly-owned by Huaihua
Qinneng. Beijing Aoke won the case in the arbitration
proceedings for claiming back, inter alia, the value of the
transferred assets and applied for the court's enforcement.
The Intermediate People’s Court of Yuncheng* GEf ™ 4R A
EE7ABT) ordered Huaihua Qinneng to enforce the arbitration
award and to, inter alia, freeze Huaihua Qinneng’s equity
interest in Yuncheng Baoshihua. The Group has accounted for
the value of the transferred assets in its consolidated financial
statements and currently is negotiating the settlement plan
with Beijing Aoke. According to the PRC legal adviser’s
opinion, the Directors are of the view that the court order
will not have a material impact on the operation of Yuncheng
Baoshihua as well as the Group's financial position.

Several suppliers of geothermal energy business brought
lawsuits to the court against Henan Province Baoshihua
and Wujixian Baoshihua (both being non-wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Company) and Xian Baoshihua (a wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Company) with total contracts sum
of approximately RMB26,519,000. As there were contract
disputes with such suppliers, Henan Province Baoshihua,
Woujixian Baoshihua and Xian Baoshihua did not pay the
suppliers even though the payment has been due. After
receiving the judgement from the courts, Henan Province
Baoshihua and Wujixian Baoshihua have settled approximately
RMB9,901,000 in total and the remaining outstanding
contracts sum of approximately RMB16,618,000 have been
accrued in trade payables arising from geothermal energy
business as at 31 March 2024. Due to the abovementioned
lawsuits, the assets of Henan Province Baoshihua and
Waujixian Baoshihua totaling approximately RMB245,000 were
freezed as at 31 March 2024. The Directors are of the view
that these lawsuits and the frozen assets do not have material
impact on the Group’s financial position and operation.
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47. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES/LITIGATIONS
(CONTINUED)

)

In addition to the court order for repair and rectification
costs as stated in Note 13, Shaanxi Jiangwei has also
been involved in a number of lawsuits with total contracts
sum of approximately RMB28,768,000. As there were
contract disputes with suppliers under building construction
contracting business, Shaanxi Jiangwei did not pay the
suppliers even though the payment has been due. After
receiving the judgement from the courts, Shaanxi Jiangwei
has paid the suppliers approximately RMB5,859,000 in
total and the remaining outstanding contracts sum of
approximately RMB22,909,000 have been accrued in trade
payables arising from building construction contracting
business as at 31 March 2024. Due to the abovementioned
lawsuits, the assets of Shaanxi Jinagwei amounted to
approximately RMB462,000 were freezed as at 31 March
2024. The Directors are of the view that these lawsuits and
the frozen assets do not have material impact on the Group's
financial position and operation.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

I FMHEE

RESULTS e
Year ended 31 March Fifteen months Year ended
BHE-RA=+—HLEE ended 31 31 December
2024 2023 2022 March 2021 2019
S S
ZEI-F ZZ-NE
ZAZ+-8 +ZA=+-H
—E_mE B —EICE E+EEA EFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHER FEx FiEx FEx FET
Revenue Wi 214,970 504,665 858,457 1,182,493 362,331
Loss before tax PrivAIES 1B (128,411) (316,076) (1,088) (20,681) (103,482)
Income tax expense iR (3.372) (16,054) (10,035) (15,728) (2,614)
Loss for the year/period E/BREE (131,783) (332,130) (11,123) (36,409) (106,096)
(Loss) profit for the year/period LU TFIEILEE /HIR
attributable to: (E518) mA
Owners of the Company UNCIEZ =N (131,062) (333,793) (6,349) (42,578) (106,067)
Non-controlling interests R ELR (721) 1,663 (4,774) 6,169 (29)
Loss for the year/period E/BREE (131,783) (332,130) (11,123) (36,409) (106,096)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEKER
As at 31 March As at
K=B=+—H 31 December
2024 2023 2022 2021 2019
RIE—-NE
—E-mE “EC=E TRICE Z¥Z-% +ZB=1-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FEx FiEx T FET
Total assets BEBE 1,722,937 1,894,159 2,340,888 2,072,872 1,192,703
Total liabilities =REREEE (964,865) (1,003,764) (1,080,380) (923,155) (75,162)
758,072 890,395 1,260,508 1,149,717 1,117,541
Equity attributable to owners AREER AEM
of the Company i3 719,064 841,327 1,209,425 1,100,143 1,117,628
Non-controlling interests R ER 39,008 49,068 51,083 49,574 (87)
758,072 890,395 1,260,508 1,149,717 1,117,541
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Schedule of Investment Properties
REMER

As at 31 March 20248 —ZE —FE=H=+—H

Percentage held

Address Use Category of the Lease by the Group
ik B HEZAER rEEFERRL

1 Room 01, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
IEREABERAREISHIETE (EES FREAFR AT

2 Room 02, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
It REABERAREI15R1E02E (EES FREAFR AT

3 Room 03, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
It REABEER S REE191/E03=E [EES FREAFR AT

4 Room 05, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
It REABEER S REE191/E05= [EES FREAFR AT

5 Room 06, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
It REABEER A REE151/E06= [EES FREAFR AT

6 Room 07, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
It REABERAREI5R1E07TE [EES FREAFR AT

7 Room 08, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
It REABEER S REE191/EB08=E [EES FREAFR AT

8 Room 09, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
It REABEER S REE191/E09=E [EES FREAFR AT

9 Room 10, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
RSB ERAREISFIEI10E [EES FREAFR AT

10 Room 11, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
RSB ERAREIFIEBIE [EES FREAFR AT
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